The role of corticotropin-releasing hormone in REM sleep regulation:

A possible mechanism through the cholinergic system



Dissertation an der Fakultät für Biologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von Maria Letizia Curzi

München, 30. Juli 2013

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Rainer Landgraf
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Christian Leibold

Tag der Einreichung: 30. Juli 2013 Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 29. Januar 2014 "Your real duty is to save your dreams" -Amedeo Modigliani-(1884-1920)

Ai miei genitori

Table of Contents

1 Abstract	1
2 Introduction	3
2.1 What is sleep and why do we need it?	3
2.2 Regulation of sleep and wakefulness	4
2.2.1 Classification of vigilance states	4
2.2.2 The two process model of sleep regulation	7
2.2.3 Neuronal mechanisms of sleep and wakefulness	
2.2.4 Humoral sleep-wake regulation	14
2.3 The cholinergic system in the central nervous system	15
2.3.1 Acetylcholine (ACh)	
2.3.2 Cholinergic receptors	
2.3.3 Cholinergic projections	
2.3.4 Involvement of cholinergic centers in sleep-wake regulation	
2.4 The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis	21
2.5 The corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH)	25
2.5.1 General aspects and distribution	
2.5.2 The CRH receptors	
2.5.3 Sleep-wake regulatory effects of CRH	
2.5.4 Stress-related effects of CRH	
2.6 Animal models of stress-related disorders	32
2.6.1 Stress and REM sleep	
2.6.2 The conditional CRH overexpressing mouse model	
3 Aim of the study	35
4 Materials and Methods	36
4.1 Animals	

4.2 Surgeries (study I-III)	57
4.3 EEG/EMG recording and sleep data analysis (study I)	9
4.4 Microinjections (study I and III)4	0
4.5 Sleep deprivation (SD) (study II and IV)4	2
4.6 Immunohistochemistry (study III and IV)4	3
4.7 In vivo brain microdialysis (study II)4	5
4.7.1 The technique4	5
4.7.2 Experimental procedures4	7
4.7.3 Quantification of ACh4	9
4.8 Video monitoring of behavior (study II)5	51
4.9 Verification of probe and cannula locations (study I and II)	52
4.10 Statistical analysis	52
5 Results5	;4
5.1 REM sleep in CRH-COE-Cam mice (study I)	64
5.1.1 Spontaneous sleep-wake patterns in CRH-COE Cam homozygous and control	
littermate mice	;4
5.1.2 The effect of atropine on REM sleep	5
5.2 Determination of extracellular ACh concentrations by quantitative microdialysis (study	
II)6	0
5.2.1 Histological verification of targeted sites	50
5.2.2 ACh release in the CeA of CRH-COE Cam mice	51
5.2.2 Correlation of ACh levels with spontaneous locomotor activity	6
5.3 Efferent CRH activation from the amygdala to the brainstem (study III and IV)	67
5.3.1 The effect of CRH microinjection into the CeA on c-Fos expression	58
5.3.2 C-Fos expression in CRH-COE Cam mice elicited by SD7	'1
6 Discussion8	0
6.1 Characteristic sleep phenotype in forebrain-specific CRH overexpressing mice8	0

6.1.1 Upregulated REM sleep80
6.1.2 Effects of muscarinic antagonist on upregulated REM sleep82
6.2 Impacts of forebrain CRH overexpression on ACh release in the amygdala84
6.3 Amygdaloid CRH and pontine cholinergic activation
6.4 Effects of forebrain CRH overexpression on the cholinergic brainstem in response to
SD87
7 General conclusions and outlook89
8 List of Abbreviations91
9 List of Figures94
10 Acknowledgements97
11 Curriculum Vitae99
12 References
13 Assertion / Erklärung131

1 Abstract

The neuropeptide corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) coordinates neuroendocrine and behavioral responses to stress. Its prolonged hypersecretion produces several signs and symptoms of depression, and is associated with a severe impairment of sleep, in particular reduced sleep intensity, disinhibition of rapid eye movement sleep (REMS), and early morning awakenings. It was recently demonstrated that REMS is upregulated in a conditional mouse model that overexpresses CRH in the forebrain including limbic structures. The results suggest that overexpression of CRH in the forebrain including limbic structures contributes to enhanced REMS, which may apply similarly to the case of depressed patients. However, how limbic CRH affects REMS is still not clear. In general, during REMS, dynamic changes in neurotransmitter activity occur. For example, monoaminergic systems are low, while cholinergic activity becomes high. REMS upregulation seen in depressed patients might be the product of complex interactions between CRH and a neurotransmitter system known to play a role in REMS regulation.

In this thesis the role of CRH in the regulation of REMS was further explored. Polysomnographic recordings combined with microinjections, quantitative microdialysis and immunohistochemistry were whether used to examine overexpressed CRH in the forebrain contributes to REMS enhancement by altering the cholinergic system known to play a role in REMS generation. Since CRH overexpression is also present in the limbic system, the present study mainly focused on the amygdala. This limbic structure is strongly implicated in emotional responses closely related to REMS, although only few studies so far have described its interaction with REMS.

The results show that injection of a muscarinic antagonist into the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) decreases upregulated REMS of homozygous forebrain-specific CRH (CRH-COE Cam) overexpressing mice. Furthermore, homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice possess higher extracellular levels of acetylcholine (ACh) in the CeA than their control littermates, whereas spontaneous locomotor activity is comparable in both genotypes. This suggests that higher ACh is not due to an increase in locomotor activity but is reflected by REMS enhancement. These results indicate that CRH

overexpression appears capable of stimulating the cholinergic activity in the amygdala which in turn may lead to upregulated REMS. As seen in depressed patients, this animal model may possess hyper-cholinergic sensitivity that may contribute to REMS disinhibition.

Immunohistochemical studies were carried out to confirm this hypothesis: Activation of CRH receptors by microinjection of CRH into the CeA induced an increase of c-Fos expression in cholinergic structures in the brainstem in normal C57BL/6J mice, suggesting that amygdaloid CRH is able to influence the neuronal activity in REMS regulating structures such as the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDT) and the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus (SLD). Further, cholinergic neurons in the LDT become more active in homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice than controls in response to sleep deprivation, when REMS rebound occurs, indicating that in this animal model CRH intensifies the mesopontine cholinergic system, which may at least in part result in upregulated REMS.

This thesis emphasizes that REMS upregulation seen in depressed patients might be the product of complex interactions between CRH and the cholinergic system. Further investigations will need to complete a detailed picture of the underlying mechanism by which CRH influences REMS.

2 Introduction

2.1 What is sleep and why do we need it?

Sleep is a complex behavior characterized by significantly reduced sensory responsiveness, the adoption of a specific posture, and the occupation of a sheltered site. In the physiological sense, sleep is a state characterized by rapid reversibility to the wakeful condition, characteristic changes in the electroencephalogram (EEG), and a compensatory sleep rebound following deprivation of the state. The physiological definition is valid for birds and mammals, but in other animals whose central nervous system (CNS) is not well developed, the behavioral definition is more often used (Tobler, 1995, Zeppelin et al., 2005, Siegel, 2008). An important property of sleep is its spontaneous occurrence with endogenous periodicity that is independent of other corporal needs and environmental signs, including variations in ambient temperature. This distinguishes sleep from hibernation and torpor, both associated with variations in temperature and accessibility of food and water (Zeppelin et al., 2005).

More than 100 species have been studied in order to describe this particular behavior. Among all the studied species, humans, cats, rats, and, more recently, many mouse strains have been the most frequent subjects of sleep research (Zeppelin et al., 2005). Despite intense investigations, it is very surprising that almost 85 years after the EEG discovery by Hans Berger (Berger, 1929) and 75 years after the first sleep research application by Frédéric Bremer (Bremer, 1935), the key function of sleep still remains unclear.

Sleep is frequently viewed as an extremely vulnerable state that endangers the propagation of the species. The fact that sleeping situations are potentially dangerous has led to the assumption that sleep has been conserved in evolution because of its fundamental vital function (Siegel, 2009). As a matter of fact, animals cannot survive without sleep (Rechtschaffen, 1998). Indeed, Rechtschaffen and colleagues demonstrated in a series of experiments that sleep deprivation (SD) produces a serious syndrome including death when rats were sleep deprived more than 11 days (Everson et al., 1989, Rechtschaffen et al., 1989). The significance of

this syndrome caused by interfering with the function of sleep is not entirely clear, but the physiological changes caused by chronic SD suggested that sleep may be necessary for effective thermoregulation (Rechtschaffen et al., 1989). Besides the homeothermal aspect of sleep (Parmeggiani, 2003, Krauchi and Deboer, 2010) other functions have been suggested: energy conservation (Walker and Berger, 1980, Berger and Phillips, 1995), memory consolidation (Stickgold, 2005, Diekelmann and Born, 2010), neuronal plasticity (Tononi and Cirelli, 2006), tissue turnover and immune restoration (Krueger and Obal, 2003).

Taken together, this great variety of theories that attempt to explain the function of sleep indicates that sleep is vitally requisite for us.

2.2 Regulation of sleep and wakefulness

2.2.1 Classification of vigilance states

Vigilance states in rodents are defined similarly as in humans. Thus, based on EEG and electromyogram (EMG) recordings, three distinct vigilance states can be identified in mammals and birds: wakefulness, non-rapid eye movement sleep (NREMS) or slow wave sleep, and paradoxical or rapid eye movement sleep (REMS). In humans, NREMS can be further divided into light (S1-S2) and deep (S3-S4) stages. During the night, NREMS and REMS stages appear cyclically.

Human sleep begins with S1, continues through S2, S3 and S4, and is concluded with REMS. This cycle is repeated every 90 to 110 minutes, four to five times a night (Rechtschaffen, 1968, Carskadon, 2011).

In rodents, the length of a sleep-cycle is only ~10 to 12 minutes. They spend ~50 to 65% of their time asleep per day, while their sleeping phase primarily occurs the light period of the day (80% of the day and 20% of the night are spent asleep). The sleeping phase is not consolidated like in humans, and the periods of NREMS and REMS are interrupted by activity bouts, a phenomenon recognized as polyphasic sleep (Tobler, 1995) (Figure 1).





Humans have a monophasic sleep pattern. Typically one main sleeping phase occurs with four to six regular cycles of shallow to deep NREMS followed by REMS (y axis indicates vigilance states). Rodents on the other hand display polyphasic sleep. Their sleep cycles are shorter (white areas: wake; grey bars: NREMS; black bars: REMS), occur more frequently, and are distributed throughout 24h, even though the greater amount of sleep takes place in the light (inactive) period. The x axes indicate time in hours (h), the white and the black horizontal bars represent the light and dark period, respectively. Note that the human hypnogram shows only the sleeping dark phase, while the mouse hypnogram exhibits both the inactive light and the active dark period. Human hypnogram adapted from Kamel, 2006; mouse hypnogram, own data, unpublished.

Wakefulness is determined by low-amplitude, fast activity in the EEG and the presence of muscle tone in the EMG. Active exploratory behaviors and attentive wakefulness are dominated by high theta activity (above 7 Hz), nevertheless, the beta (15-30 Hz) and gamma (30-60 Hz) ranges are also present in the waking EEG (Steriade, 2006). In transition to the drowsy state, when the sleep pressure is increasing, the slower EEG frequencies become more prevalent: delta (0.5-4 Hz) and low theta (4-7 Hz) waves occur.

NREMS is defined by high voltage, low frequency synchronized cortical activity in the EEG, and decreased muscle tonus. Normally, three main EEG components are associated with NREMS: slow oscillations (0.5-1 Hz), delta waves (1-5 Hz), and sleep spindles (12-15 Hz). The amount of slow oscillations and delta waves is referred to as slow wave activity (SWA), and also indicates sleep intensity. In human sleep, spindles are present in stage 2 of NREMS (Dijk, 2009), and in rodents they occur shortly before the transition from NREMS to REMS (Vyazovskiy et al., 2004).

REMS was first described nearly 60 years ago (Aserinsky and Kleitman, 1953, Dement, 1958, Jouvet and Michel, 1959). This sleep state is defined by the appearance of fast, theta activity dominant (6-9 Hz), desynchronized, low voltage rhythm in the cortical EEG, rapid eye movements, limb twitching, and complete loss of muscle tone. Since the REMS EEG resembles that of the waking state, REMS has been alternatively named paradoxical sleep. To distinguish these two sleep states, EMG recordings are required (Jouvet and Michel, 1959) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Vigilance state-specific polygraphic recording of rodent sleep

EEG and EMG traces recorded from a mouse during states of wakefulness (A), NREMS (B), and REMS (C) Each representative sample consists of a 10 seconds (sec) trance. Adapted from Datta, 2007.

2.2.2 The two process model of sleep regulation

Sleep regulation depends on three different processes: The (1) homeostatic process; (2) circadian, and (3) ultradian process occurring during sleep timing. The timing and structure of sleep are established by the interaction of the homeostatic and the circadian process, as described in the two-process model of sleep regulation (Borbély, 1982, Borbély and Achermann, 1999) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: The two process model

Sleep is regulated by an interaction of homeostatic sleep pressure (Process S; upper curve) and the circadian rhythm (Process C; lower curve), leading to alternating periods of wakefulness (white areas) and sleep (black bars). During wake, Process S increases in an exponential way. Sleep is initiated when Process S reaches plateau and Process C declines whereas when sleep is initiated Process S decreases exponentially. Adapted from Borbély and Achermann, 2000.

In this model the homeostatic process (Process S) increases during waking when the sleep demand becomes higher and decreases during sleep. The circadian process (Process C) does not depend directly on previous sleep-wake amount, but affects the timing of sleep according to the intrinsic circadian rhythm of about 24 hours (Takahashi et al., 2008). In humans the circadian rhythm is slightly longer, whereas that of rodents is slightly shorter than 24 hours. Brain lesion studies have shown that the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN), located in the anterior hypothalamus, is an important brain area that regulates the circadian rhythm (Moore and Eichler, 1972, Edgar et al., 1993).

Process C and Process S work together to control the timing and intensity of sleep. During the active period the circadian signal induces wakefulness, resulting in the elevation of homeostatic sleep pressure. When the homeostatic sleep propensity reaches a critical level and simultaneously the circadian signal reaches its nadir, sleep will be induced.

2.2.3 Neuronal mechanisms of sleep and wakefulness

At the beginning of the twentieth century, von Economo provided the most important insight on neuronal structures involved in the control of sleep and wake. While investigating the pandemic flu of 1917-1920, he observed patients suffering from excessive sleepiness or extreme insomnia following encephalitis lethargica (Von Economo, 1926). Examination of their brains allowed him to conclude that the anterior hypothalamus contains sleep-inducing centers whereas the posterior hypothalamus contains the wake promoting areas. However, current knowledge of brain circuitry and neurotransmitters that shape the sleep-wake cycle has mostly been generated by neurochemical studies in cats and more recently in rats and mice, the latter being more accessible for electrophysiological/genetic approaches. Fortunately, results in these animals can often be applied to humans since the basic neuronal system implicated in sleep-wake regulation seems to be well conserved throughout evolution (Brown et al., 2008).

Wake regulation

Moruzzi and Magoun were the first to describe the ascending reticular activating system, a brainstem netlike core of neurons that is capable of inducing low-voltage fast EEG activity in the cortex typical for wakefulness (Moruzzi and Magoun, 1949). Studies in the 1970s and 1980s revealed that the wake inducing neurons were not part of the undifferentiated reticular formation but consisted of monoaminergic and cholinergic neurons of specific cell groups (Jones, 2003). The ascending arousal system has two main pathways that project to the cerebral cortex (Starzl et al., 1951, Jones, 2003). The first pathway is relayed in the thalamus and the major input comes from the cholinergic pedunculopontine and laterodorsal tegmental nuclei (PPT and LDT, respectively) (Satoh and Fibiger, 1986, Hallanger et al., 1987). The firing rate of PPT/LDT neurons is high during wake and REMS and the lowest during NREMS, indicating their contribution to cortical activation during wake and REMS (el Mansari et al., 1989, Steriade, 1993). The second pathway extends through the hypothalamus,

bypasses the thalamus and is conveyed to the cerebral cortex by the basal forebrain (Saper, 1985, Saper et al., 2001, Jones, 2003). It includes the serotonergic dorsal and median raphe nuclei (DR/MRN), the noradrenergic locus coeruleus (LC), dopaminergic neurons from the ventral periaqueductal gray (vPAG), and the histaminergic neurons from the tuberomammillary nucleus (TMN) (Dahlstrom and Fuxe, 1964, Panula et al., 1989, Kocsis et al., 2006, Lu et al., 2006a). In general, monoaminergic neurons fire most actively during wake, fire less active during NREMS, and stop firing during REMS (Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981, Fornal et al., 1985, Steininger et al., 1999). Other important subparts in the wake regulatory systems are a group of orexinergic neurons found in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) (de Lecea et al., 1998, Peyron et al., 1998), which fires only during wake (Lee et al., 2005), and a cluster of cholinergic and GABAergic neurons in the basal forebrain (Gritti et al., 1997).

REM sleep regulation

The circuitry responsible for the generation of REMS is very different and intricate from that generating wake or NREMS. Furthermore after more than 50 years following the discovery of this unique state, the exact identification of REMS regulatory brain structures and their respective neurotransmitters is still under debate. One of the most influential studies which could enable the allocation of important REMS promoting centers to the lower brainstem, was a transection study conducted on cats in 1962 (Jouvet, 1962). Afterwards, pharmacological experiments suggested that the cholinergic and the monoaminergic systems interact in the control of REMS generation (Karczmar et al., 1970).

The early studies by Jouvet and others guided the development of McCarley and Hobson's "reciprocal interaction" model in 1975 (McCarley and Hobson, 1975) (Figure 4), which has since been the most widely accepted explanation for REMS regulation (Pace-Schott and Hobson, 2002). Their model described an interplay among the monoaminergic (LC and DR) and cholinergic LDT and pedunculopontine PPT, and medial pontine reticular formation) neurons at the synaptic level responsible for the rhythmic cycling of NREMS and REMS (McCarley and Hobson, 1975, Pace-Schott and Hobson, 2002) The essence of this model is represented by a group of cholinergic REM-on neurons in the LDT and PPT of the brainstem. Activated cholinergic neurons are inhibited by REM-off monoaminergic neurons located in the

serotonergic DR and noradrenergic LC during other vigilance states, either through direct projections or excitation of inhibitory GABAergic interneurons (Jones and Yang, 1985, Vertes and Kocsis, 1994, Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003). As REM-off neurons reduce their firing during NREMS, REM-on neurons are disinhibited and REMS is generated (Brown, 2008). The REMS state is stabilized reciprocally through excitatory interactions between cholinergic neurons in the LDT/PPT and glutamatergic effector neurons in the reticular formation that are responsible for generating REMS-specific features such as muscle atonia, rapid eye movements and cortical activation (Mitani et al., 1988, Semba, 1993, Brown, 2008). Further, there is also evidence that REM-on neurons from LDT/PPT might send excitatory projections to LC, and DR neurons so that monoaminergic REM-off neurons gradually become more active when the REM state extends (McCarley and Hobson, 1975, Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981, Sakai et al., 1983, Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003). A more sophisticated version incorporates an intrinsic pacemaker function of neurons in the LC which might be responsible for monoaminergic REM-off cell activation. Furthermore, GABAergic neurons hypothesized control are to both the monoaminergic REM-off and the glutamatergic REM-on neurons (Datta and Maclean, 2007). In turn, GABAergic neurons may be under the control of LDT/PPT neurons (McCarley and Massaquoi, 1986, McCarley, 2004).



Figure 4: Schematic representation of the reciprocal interaction model of REMS regulation REM-on neurons in the laterodorsal (*LDT*) and pedunculopontine (*PPT*) nuclei are inhibited by REMoff aminergic neurons in the serotonergic dorsal raphe (*DR*) and the noradrenergic locus coeruleus (*LC*) during NREMS and wake. REMS is stabilized by reciprocally excitatory interactions between the cholinergic and glutamatergic effector neurons in the reticular formation. REMS is ended by renewed activity in aminergic neurons, produced by excitatory projections from the cholinergic neurons. GABAergic neurons control both the monoaminergic REM-off and the glutamatergic REM-on neurons. Furthermore, GABAergic neurons may be in turn under the control of LDT/PPT neurons (dotted arrows). Adapted from Brown, 2008.

In principal, neuropharmacological and electrophysiological studies have strongly supported the reciprocal interaction model. Nevertheless, more recent incongruities between this cholinergic-monoaminergic model and new experimental data encouraged Lu and colleagues to perform a series of experiments that delineate an alternative brainstem regulation model for REMS (i.e. the flip flop switch) (Lu et al., 2006b, Fuller et al., 2007) (Figure 5). Their work has revealed an important role for non-cholinergic and non-monoaminergic REM-on and REM-off GABAergic cell populations in areas within the brainstem, whereas the cholinergic and monoaminergic cell groups are described as REMS modulator and not generators. Specifically, three REM-on groups with specific projections and neurotransmitters

11

have been postulated (Lu et al., 2006b). The first REM-on group is located in the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus (SLD) (Sakai et al., 2001, Boissard et al., 2002) and sends glutamatergic projections to the spinal cord and GABAergic projections to REM-off neurons in the vPAG and the lateral pontine tegmentum (LPT) (Lu et al., 2006b). The second and third REM-on groups are contained in the precoeruleus (PC) and parabrachial nucleus (PB), respectively, with glutamatergic projections to the basal forebrain and medial septum (Lu et al., 2006b). In this alternative REM switching circuitry model, GABAergic REM-on neurons in the SLD inhibit GABAergic REM-off neurons in the vPAG/LPT and LPT, whereas GABAergic REM-off neurons in turn send inhibitory signals to all three REM-on groups (Lu et al., 2006b, Fuller et al., 2007).



Figure 5: Schematic representation of the flip-flop switch model for REMS regulation

REM-off neurons are located in the ventral periaqueductal grey (*vPAG*) and the lateral pontine tegmentum (*LPT*). REM-on neurons can be found in the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus (*SLD*) as well as the precoeruleus (*PC*) and parabrachial (*PB*) nucleus. According to the model, GABAergic REM-off neurons send inhibitory signals to all three REM-on groups. On the other hand GABAergic REMS-on SLD neurons in turn inactivate the REM-off neurons. Cholinergic neurons in the laterodorsal tegmental (*LDT*) and in the pedunculopontine (*PPT*) nuclei together with the serotonergic dorsal raphe (*DR*) and the noradrenergic locus coeruleus (*LC*), play a modulatory role by inhibiting or activating REM-off cells, respectively. Adapted from Lu et al., 2006.

A further significant current research extends the study of REMS regulation mechanisms rostrally from the brainstem to the forebrain structures such as the

amygdala in the limbic system. Recent findings demonstrated that the amygdala has reciprocal connections with brainstem regions involved in REMS initiation (Pace-Schott, 2002). Studies in cats showed a promotion of REMS in response to a cholinergic or electric stimulation of the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) (Smith and Miskiman, 1975, Calvo et al., 1996) and a spontaneous increase in the discharge rate of CeA neurons during REMS (Frysinger et al., 1988). Furthermore, inactivating the CeA with muscimol or tetrodotoxin (TTX) in rats was able to produce a significant decrease in REMS (Martin and Ghez, 1999, Sanford et al., 2002). An association between amygdala activation and REMS was also proposed by fMRI studies demonstrating that the amygdala is activated during this state in humans (Maquet et al., 1996). These findings prove that the amygdala might play a role in REMS regulation via modifying brainstem activity, thus in turn influencing REMS (Pace-Schott, 2002).

Interestingly, another aspect of REMS is a commonality that might share a neurobiological mechanism with depressive phenomena, hypothesized by McCarley and supported by clinical data (McCarley, 1982). First, the brainstem aminergic system is able to suppress both REMS and depressive symptoms whereas the cholinergic system promotes both REMS and depression (Janowsky et al., 1980, Risch et al., 1980, Silberman et al., 1980). Furthermore as in REMS regulation, the control of depressive phenomena involves a balance between the monoaminergic and cholinergic systems, rather than absolute activity levels. As proposed by McCarley and Hobson in the reciprocal interaction model, REMS occurs when cholinergic nuclei (LC and RN) (McCarley and Hobson, 1975). Therefore, weakened monoaminergic inhibition in depression results in a faster discharge from inhibition of the REMS-promoting cholinergic neurons, initiating a cycle of REMS (decreased REMS latency) with stronger REM activity, i.e., increased REM density (McCarley, 1982).

NREM sleep regulation

Unlike the intricate regulation of REMS, NREMS is initiated in a different but relatively simple pathway by the activation of two groups of inhibitory GABAergic neurons located in the ventrolateral preoptic area (VLPO) and the median preoptic area (MnPO) of the preoptic anterior hypothalamus (POAH) (Sherin et al., 1996, Suntsova

et al., 2002, Gong et al., 2004, Sakai, 2011). Both the sleep-inducing VLPO and MnPO send inhibitory GABAergic projections to the monoaminergic wake promoting brain areas including the orexinergic LH. Thus, by inhibiting the wake regulatory systems, the VLPO and MnPO can promote NREMS. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the presence of GABAergic interneurons and axons in the brainstem areas might inhibit wake-promoting neurons (Maloney et al., 1999, 2000).

2.2.4 Humoral sleep-wake regulation

The complexity of sleep and wake regulation is further increased by the actions of neuromodulators that compose humoral mechanisms. Modulators such as specific inflammatory factors, hormones, neuropeptides, and nucleosides are able to influence neuronal activities involved in sleep-wake regulation and thus affect sleepwake changes. The hypothesis that sleep is in part regulated by humoral factors was first proposed by Aristotle (Krueger et al., 1998) whereas the modern experimental pursuit began with Ishimori (Ishimori, 1909) and Piéron (Piéron, 1913). Both demonstrated the presence of a sleep promoting substance, named "hypnotoxin" in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of sleep-deprived dogs. Afterwards several research groups pursued similar approaches to identify those substances (Pappenheimer et al., 1975, Inoué, 1989). Nowadays it is known that many neuromodulators can affect sleep, although persuasive evidence for the involvement in physiological sleep regulation is limited to only small number of these modulators. The list of sleeppromoting substances includes cytokines, e.g. interleukin-1 (Krueger et al., 1984) and tumor necrosis factor (Fang et al., 1997), prostaglandin D₂ (Hayaishi, 1988), adenosine (Porkka-Heiskanen, 1997), and hormones like prolactin (Roky et al., 1995), vasoactive intestinal peptide (Bourgin et al., 1997), galanin (Murck et al., 2004), ghrelin (Weikel et al., 2003), neuropeptide Y (Antonijevic et al., 2000) and growth hormone-releasing hormone (Steiger et al., 1992). Contrarily, other hormones such as corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) (Holsboer et al., 1988), vasopressin (Arnauld et al., 1989), and somatostatin (Ziegenbein et al., 2004) seem to impair sleep. Future studies are needed to clarify how these substances interact with various neural systems and their neurotransmitters, where they act to affect sleep, and what cell types are involved.

2.3 The cholinergic system in the central nervous system

2.3.1 Acetylcholine

Acetylcholine (ACh) is an essential neurotransmitter which plays a crucial role in synaptic transmission in both the peripheral and central nervous system (CNS) (Webster, 2001, Halbach, 2002). ACh was discovered as the first neutransmitter. In 1914 Dale could show that esters of choline produced physiological effects (Dale, 1914). Later in 1921 Loewi demonstrated that stimulation of the vagus liberated the release of a chemical substance (Loewi, 1921). Five years later the chemical substance was confirmed to be choline ester and accordingly identified as ACh (Loewi and Navratil, 1926).

The process of synthesis, storage, and release of ACh requires different specific enzymes (Figure 6): ACh is synthesized in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) in the cytosol of nerve terminals, using mitochondrial acetyl-coenzyme A supplied by glucose metabolism and choline derived from phosphatidylcholine and dietary sources (Tucek, 1966, Halbach, 2002). Following synthesis, ACh is taken up and subsequently stored in synaptic vesicles via the vesicular ACh transporter (VAChT) (Weihe et al., 1996, Arvidsson et al., 1997, Amenta and Tayebati, 2008). If an axon potential reaches the cholinergic axon terminal, the synaptic vesicles attach to the presynaptic membrane and release ACh into the synaptic cleft via exocytosis. From the synaptic cleft, ACh diffuses to the postsynaptic site and interacts with respective receptors (nicotinic or muscarinic).



Figure 6: Bionsynthesis and degradation of acetylcholine.

Acetylcholine is synthesized by the enzyme choline acetyltransferase from the compounds choline and acetyl-coenzyme A. The enzyme acetylcholinesterase converts acetylcholine into the inactive metabolites choline and acetate. Adapted from Nirogi et al., 2009.

Upon release, ACh is hydrolyzed by acetylcholinesterase (AChE) into choline and acetate. Liberated choline is transported back to the presynaptic terminal by a sodium-dependent, high affinity active transport system, and reutilized in ACh synthesis (Suszkiw and Pilar, 1976, Ducis and Whittaker, 1985). The remaining choline can be catabolised or incorporated into phospholipids, which can serve again as a source of choline (Amenta and Tayebati, 2008, Nirogi et al., 2010).

2.3.2 Cholinergic receptors

Cholinergic receptors, also known as ACh receptors (AChRs), consist of two groups: the muscarinic ACh receptors (mAChRs) and nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChRs). They can be classified according to the binding activity by natural alkaloids, i.e., nicotine and muscarine, to mimic the effects of ACh as a neurotransmitter. This classification introduced originally in 1914 by Dale is still valid (Dale, 1914), even

though several subtypes of nicotinic and muscarinic receptors have been described in the meantime.

The muscarinic receptors are monomers consisting of 440-540 amino acids folded into seven transmembrane-spanning domains, the N-terminus on the extracellular side and the C-terminus on the intracellular side (Halbach, 2002). The muscarinic receptors are coupled to G proteins which modulate a large group of effector responses including adenylate cyclase attenuation, guanylate cyclase stimulation, Ca^{2+} channel activity, K⁺ channel activity and phosphatidyl inositol turnover (Kerlavage et al., 1987). By the use of selective radioactively labeled agonist and antagonist substances, five subtypes of muscarinic receptors have been identified, named M_1 - M_5 (Peralta et al., 1988). Muscarinic receptor subtypes M_1 , M_3 and M_5 are coupled to the G_a proteins, which activate several ion channels and phospholipases (A2, C and D), ultimately leading to the activation of different second messenger systems. Muscarinic receptor subtypes M_2 and M_4 are coupled to G_i proteins. Activation of these subtypes reduces the levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) through the inhibition of adenylate cyclase (Felder, 1995, Halbach, 2002). Although the muscarinic receptor subtypes are distributed throughout the entire brain, their proportions vary in different areas. For example, RNA in situ hybridization studies revealed that messenger RNA (mRNA) of M₁ is formed in the cerebral cortex, limbic area and in the striatum. By contrast, mRNA of M₂ is more abundant in the basal forebrain, midbrain, medulla, pons region and cerebellum. mRNA of M₃ is, similarly to M_1 , abundant in the cortex and hippocampus but not in the striatum, while M₄ expression is highest in the striatum but low in the cortex and hippocampus. Only small amounts of the M₅ subtype have been discovered, and its distribution in the CNS is not fully understood (Levey et al., 1991, Hersch et al., 1994, Wess, 1996, Webster, 2001, Halbach, 2002). Muscarinic receptors are activated by muscarine and are blocked by atropine and scopolamine. Further, amongst pharmacological agonists are carbachol, pilocarpine, arecholine and oxoremorine, while pirenzepine and telenzepine, exert antagonistic effects (Halbach, 2002, Tripathi, 2004).

The nicotinic receptors are part of the ligand-gated ion channel superfamily and, in contrast to the muscarinic receptors, no second messengers are involved in the signal transduction. The receptor is composed of four distinct protein subunits (α , β , δ and γ) which form the ion channel (Halbach, 2002). In the CNS the nicotinic receptor

subunits can be composed of a combination of different heterodimers: α (2–7) and β (2-4). Homomeric assembled receptors are also found: α 7, α 8 and α 9 (Karlin, 2002, Picciotto et al., 2012). To form a functional receptor, numerous combinations of subunits are possible, but so far the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ heteromer and the $\alpha 7$ homomer showed the highest affinity for ACh (Zoli et al., 1995, Webster, 2001, Tripathi, 2004, Ferreira et al., 2008). In general, nicotinergic signaling is not nearly as prominent in the CNS as muscarinergic signaling. For example, some areas such as the limbic system seem to utilize only muscarinergic receptors. Nevertheless, they are present in the cerebral cortex, the hippocampus, the hypothalamus, the thalamus, the superior colliculus, and in some cholinergic nuclei of the brain stem and forebrain (Halbach, 2002). Nicotinic receptors can be activated by nicotine and inhibited by curare. Additional pharmacological agonists carbachol, butyrylcholine are and tetramethylammonium, hexamethonium, dihvdri- β -erythroidine, whereas mecamylamine and bungarotoxin are antagonists (Halbach, 2002, Tripathi, 2004).

2.3.3 Cholinergic projections

The two major cholinergic groups of projecting neurons, found in the basal forebrain and in the brainstem, have been identified by the use of immunohistochemical staining for ChAT. This specific enzyme is located in neurons that synthetize ACh for synaptic transmission, and therefore considered "cholinergic" (Mesulam et al., 1983, Woolf, 1991, Butcher, 1995). The first report describing cholinergic neurons and their projections was published by Lewis and Shute in 1967 (Lewis and Shute, 1967, Lewis et al., 1967, Shute and Lewis, 1967). Sixteen years later, Mesulam and coworkers established a nomenclature to distinguish different groups of cholinergic projecting neurons which is still widely used today (Mesulam et al., 1983).

Based upon Mesulam's nomenclature, the cholinergic system is divided into six major groups of projecting neurons (Ch1-Ch6; Figure 7).



Figure 7: Schematic representation of cholinergic neurons and their projections.

Abbreviations: *Ch*, cholinergic group of neurons; *DR*, dorsal raphe; *EC*, entorhinal cortex; *hdb*, horizontal diagonal band nucleus; *LC*; locus coeruleus; *ldt*, laterodorsal tegmental nucleus; *LH*, lateral hypothalamus; *ms*, medial septal nucleus; *nb*, nucleus basalis; ppt, pedunculopontine nucleus; *si*, substantia innominata; *SN*, substantia nigra; *vdb*, vertical diagonal band nucleus. Adapted from Woolf, 2011.

The Ch1-Ch4 groups of cholinergic cells are located in the basal forebrain and innervate the entire cerebral cortex. The medial septum (MS) and the vertical limb of the diagonal band of Broca (VDB) (Ch1 and Ch2, respectively) are located in the most rostral part of the basal forebrain and send their projections mainly to the hippocampus, including CA1-CA4 and the dentate gyrus (Mesulam et al., 1983, Woolf and Butcher, 2011). Group Ch3 includes cholinergic neurons located in the horizontal limb of the diagonal band (HDB) and provides the major source of cholinergic projections to the olfactory bulb (Zaborszky et al., 1986). The last cholinergic group in the basal forebrain is referred to as Ch4, and it comprises neurons located in the magnocellular preoptic area, the nucleus basalis (NB) and the substantia innominata (SI). These neurons project to the amygdala and to the cerebral cortex (Mesulam et al., 1983, Woolf et al., 1984, Woolf, 1991).

The Ch5-Ch6 groups of cholinergic projecting neurons are located in the brainstem. Members of groups Ch5 and Ch6 are situated in the PPT and in the LDT, respectively. These nuclei have ascending projections to the hypothalamus, thalamus, basal forebrain and medial prefrontal cortex as well as descending projections to the pons, the nucleus vestibularis, the LC and the DR (Satoh and Fibiger, 1986, Steckler et al., 1994).

2.3.4 Involvement of cholinergic centers in sleep-wake regulation

In the context of control of sleep and waking the cholinergic system is well recognized to play a primary role in generating the brain-activated states of wake and REMS (Jones, 2005, Brown, 2008, Lydic, 2008, Watson et al., 2010). Specifically cholinergic projections from neurons located in the brainstem (LDT/PPT) and the basal forebrain are known to promote the cortically activated states of wake and REMS (Lydic, 2008).

Cholinergic LDT/PPT neurons send their major projection to the thalamus, which in turn stimulate the cerebral cortex (Mesulam et al., 1983, Steriade et al., 1990, McCormick, 1992, Jones, 1995). ACh release in these areas has been shown to be maximal during wakefulness and REMS (Jasper and Tessier, 1971, Williams et al., 1994, Leonard and Lydic, 1997). Similarly, single unit recording studies indicate that the activity of cholinergic neurons in the LDT/PPT is at their highest rates during wake and REMS (el Mansari et al., 1989, Steriade et al., 1990). Moreover c-Fos expression, which reflects neural activity, occurs in cholinergic LDT/PPT neurons following REMS rebound after SD (Maloney et al., 1999). Another important LDT/PPT projection acts on the brainstem reticular formation (Greene et al., 1989, Jones, 2005) through muscarinic receptors. Specifically, the M2 and M3 subtypes came out to be the most important ones in the reticular formation (Buckley et al., 1988, Baghdoyan, 1997). Furthermore, pharmacological and genetic studies revealed that these are the major subtypes responsible for REMS regulation (Datta et al., 1993, Sakai and Onoe, 1997, Baghdoyan and Lydic, 1999, Marks and Birabil, 2000, Goutagny et al., 2005). Several studies have performed injections of cholinergic agonists to the reticular formation, demonstrating that cholinergic input into the reticular formation generates REMS (Mitler and Dement, 1974, Sitaram et al., 1976, Hobson et al., 1983, Baghdoyan et al., 1984, Vanni-Mercier et al., 1989, Yamamoto et al., 1990). When LDT/PPT is stimulated electrically, ACh release

increases in the reticular formation (Lydic and Baghdoyan, 1993) and REMS is enhanced (Thakkar et al., 1996). Moreover the release of ACh in the reticular formation is higher during REMS than the other behavioral states (Kodama et al., 1990, Leonard and Lydic, 1997). Based on these studies it is evident that cholinergic projections from the LDT/PPT to the reticular formation induce REMS (Watson et al., 2010).

The basal forebrain cholinergic neurons project throughout the entire cerebral cortex and to the hippocampus (Mesulam et al., 1983). ACh release from the hippocampus has been shown to be maximal during both wake and REMS (Marrosu et al., 1995). Furthermore, ACh seems to act in the cortex mostly through muscarinic receptors (McCormick, 1992, Jones, 2004). A microdialysis study showed that ACh release in the basal forebrain is high during REMS, low during quiet wake, and lowest during NREMS (Vazquez and Baghdoyan, 2001). Similarly, cortical ACh release is enhanced during REMS and wake as compared to NREMS (Marrosu et al., 1995, Materi et al., 2000). Taken together, these studies support that cholinergic projections from the basal forebrain can induce cortical activation during wake and REMS (Watson et al., 2010).

2.4 The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis

One of the most important requirements for a living organism is its capacity to maintain a dynamic equilibrium, or homeostasis. The concept of homeostasis was first introduced by Cannon in 1929. He emphasized the importance of all physiological processes in order to maintain such equilibrium operated by the organism (Cannon, 1929). In the classical idea of stress, this equilibrium is constantly challenged by specific physical and psychological adverse stimuli, termed "stressors" (Selye, 1936, Chrousos and Gold, 1992, de Kloet et al., 2005). Thus, stress can be defined as an actual disruption or an anticipated threatened homeostasis (Charmandari et al., 2005, Chrousos, 2009, Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). The responses to stress intend to adjust physiological integrity by involving two major, highly conserved systems: the autonomic nervous system (ANS) and the HPA axis. The ANS activation represents the classical "fight or flight" response and provides an

immediate and short-term response, whereas the HPA axis ensures a long-lasting and amplified response. Activation of these two systems provide complementary actions in the body, including energy mobilization and increased blood pressure, heart rate and cardiovascular tone (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009).

The HPA axis is an elaborate ensemble of interactions between the hypothalamus, the pituitary and the adrenal glands (Figure 8). Hypophysiotrophic neurons in the medial parvocellular subdivisions of the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus synthesize corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and arginin vasopressin (AVP) (Landgraf, 2006). CRH is then transported axonally to the median eminence and released into the hypophyseal portal blood (Antoni, 1986, Arborelius et al., 1999). When CRH reaches the anterior pituitary, it binds to CRH receptor type 1 on the corticotrophs and stimulates the expression of the precursor polypeptide proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and subsequently the release of the POMC-derived peptide, adrenocorticotropin (ACTH), into the blood circulation (Arborelius et al., 1999, Engelmann et al., 2004). Moreover, AVP is a strong synergistic factor with CRH in potentiating ACTH release; however, AVP possesses little ACTH-releasing activity alone. Thus, CRH is normally considered as the major ACTH stimulator (Chang and Opp, 2001, Herman et al., 2002, Tsigos and Chrousos, 2002). ACTH then triggers the synthesis and the secretion of glucocorticoids: corticosterone in rodents and cortisol in primates (de Kloet et al., 1998) from the adrenal cortex, which operate as the last effectors of the HPA axis (Arborelius et al., 1999).



Figure 8: HPA axis.

Activation of the HPA axis leads to CRH and AVP production in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. These hormones are released into the blood circulation, leading to secretion of ACTH from the anterior pituitary. ACTH stimulates the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids from the adrenal cortex into the blood. Regulatory control over the HPA axis is mediated via a negative feedback by glucocorticoids acting on GR and MR receptors at the level of the pituitary as well as from the anterior hypothalamus and the hippocampus. *ACTH*: adrenocorticoidropin; *AVP*: arginine vasopressin; *CRH*: corticotropin-releasing hormone; *GR*: glucocorticoid receptor; *MR*: mineralocorticoid receptor. Adapted from Schloesser, 2012.

In nonstressful situations, CRH is released in a circadian, pulsatile fashion from the parvocellular cells of the PVN (Engler et al., 1989, Tsigos and Chrousos, 2002, Buckley and Schatzberg, 2005). In diurnal species, the amplitude of the CRH pulses increases early in the morning and becomes low towards the evening before the resting period starts (Horrocks et al., 1990). On the contrary, rats (nocturnal animals) show an opposite pattern: CRH levels rise throughout the nocturnal active period, drop in the morning and decrease during the daytime resting period (Watts et al., 2004). During stressful events, the amplitude of the CRH pulsation in the hypophyseal portal blood markedly increases, leading to an increase of ACTH and glucocorticoid secretory episodes (Tsigos and Chrousos, 2002).

The effects of glococorticoids are mediated via two types of receptors: the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) (Reul and de Kloet, 1985, de Kloet et al., 1998, de Kloet et al., 2008). The distribution of MR receptors is mainly restricted to the limbic structures while GR are found throughout the brain (de Kloet, 1991, Arborelius et al., 1999). Glucocorticoids operate in a negative feedback to turn off neuroendocrine responses at two levels in the hypothalamus and the pituitary gland. This suppresses the synthesis and release of CRH and AVP, as well as the POMC-derived peptides in the pituitary (Gulyas et al., 1995, Chang and Opp, 2001, Papadimitriou and Priftis, 2009).

The HPA system is controlled by a various number of stress-sensitive brain regions located in the brainstem and forebrain limbic areas, which are able to send inhibitory or excitatory projections to neurons of the PVN. (Herman et al., 2003, Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). The PVN receives a substantial stress-excitatory input from the nucleus of the solitary tract (Swanson and Kuypers, 1980, Cunningham and Sawchenko, 1988) as well as the DR, the TMN (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009), and the anteroventral division of the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (Gray et al., 1993, Choi, 2007). Additional excitatory drive originates from the medial and basolateral amygdala (Canteras et al., 1995, Cullinan et al., 1996, Dayas et al., 2001). Activation of the PVN is inhibited by many hypothalamic circuits such as the medial preoptic area, the dorsomedial hypothalamus and local neurons in the peri-PVN (Herman et al., 2003, Cullinan et al., 2003). Further inhibitory input originates in forebrain limbic areas such as the hippocampus (Jacobson and Sapolsky, 1991, Herman et al., 2003), the medial prefrontal cortex (Diorio et al., 1993, Figueiredo et al., 2003, Gerrits, 2003),

the lateral septum (Risold and Swanson, 1996) and the posterior regions of the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (Cullinan et al., 1993). In general, many neurotransmitters are implicated in the regulation of CRH release. Glutamate, ACh, serotonin, noradrenalin and histamine stimulate the activation of the HPA axis, whereas GABA inhibits it (Decavel and Van Den Pol, 1990, Cole and Sawchenko, 2002, Majzoub, 2006).

2.5 The corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH)

2.5.1 General aspects and distribution

CRH is regarded as the major activator of the HPA axis and is also known as corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) or corticoliberin. Besides controlling the HPA axis during baseline and under stress, CRH also acts as neurotransmitter in the brain, where it modulates for example anxiety-related behavior, the sleep-wake cycle, learning and memory as well as locomotor activity. It was first described by Guillemin and Rosenberg in 1955. They proved the presence of a hypothalamic factor, which was able to stimulate the secretion of ACTH from anterior pituitary cells in vitro (Guillemin, 1955). The chemical identification of CRH remained indefinable until 1981, when Vale and colleagues succeeded to isolate and characterize a 41 amino acid hypothalamic ovine CRH (Vale et al., 1981). The sequence of CRH has been identified in many other species including humans, rats, pigs, goats and cows (Dunn and Berridge, 1990). In all species, the primary protein structure of CRH is very much conserved in humans, rats and mice, differing from ovine CRH only by seven amino acids (De Souza, 2002, Halbach, 2002). In addition to original CRH, two nonmammalian CRH-related analogues have been identified in teleost fishes and frogs, named urotensin and sauvagine, respectively (Montecucchi and Henschen, 1981, Lederis et al., 1982). Furthermore, there exist three mammalian CRH peptide analogues called Urocortin I, II and III, which have been demonstrated to share a high sequence homology with CRH (Vaughan et al., 1995, Donaldson et al., 1996).

Through immunohistochemical analysis, radioimmunoassay and mRNA expression studies, CRH was found to be widely distributed within the CNS (Swanson et al., 1983, Sakanaka et al., 1987, Sawchenko, 1990) (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Distribution of CRH-expressing cells in the central nervous system.

Saggital section of a rodent brain, and structures where CRH (red dots) can be detected. The PVN represents the major source of CRH. Moreover, CRH is expressed in numerous cortical areas, the olfactory bulb, the supraoptic nucleus, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, the hippocamus, and the central nucleus of the amygdala. CRH can also be identified in brain areas that are involved in sleep-wake regulation such as the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus, the locus coeruleus and the parabrachial nucleus. The most important abbreviations for the present study are indicated as follows: *LDT*: laterodorsal tegmentum nucleus; *LC*: locus coeruleus; *PB*: parabrachial nucleus; *CeA*: central nucleus of the amygdala. Adapted from Warnock 2006.

It is clearly demonstrated that the major source of CRH is the PVN of the hypothalamus; within the hypothalamic area, CRH is also expressed in the medial preoptic area, dorsomedial nucleus, arcuate nucleus, posterior hypothalamus, and the mammillary nuclei (Sawchenko et al., 1983, Sakanaka et al., 1987, Sawchenko, 1990, De Souza, 2002). Besides the hypothalamus, CRH-containing neurons are present in the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA), the hippocampal formation, the thalamic nuclei, the lateral septum, the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (BNST), the nucleus accumbens, the olfactory bulb and the cerebellum. CRH expressing neurons

also locate in the brainstem, particularly in the RN, the LC, the LDT, the PPT, the substantia nigra, the periaqueductal grey and the nucleus of the solitary tract. Furthermore, scattered CRH-containing interneurons and neurons are found in the second and third layers of the cortex and in the neocortex (specifically the prefrontal, insular and cingulated areas), respectively (Merchenthaler, 1984, Sakanaka et al., 1987, Sawchenko et al., 1990, Sawchenko, 1990, Holsboer, 1999, De Souza, 2002).

Two main CRH pathways can be distinguished in the brain; the one within the HPA axis (hypothalamic pathways) and the other in non-HPA axis areas (extrahypothalamic pathways) (Holmes et al., 2003). Hypothalamic CRH pathways originate in the PVN and project to the anterior pituitary (as described in the section of the HPA axis). The extra hypothalamic pathways comprise axons from the CeA to the parvocellular regions of the PVN. Furthermore, the non-HPA axis circuits include descending fibers from the PVN, the BNST and the CeA to the brainstem areas, such as the LC (Van Bockstaele et al., 1998, Valentino and Van Bockstaele, 2008), the RN (Price et al., 1998) and the parabrachial nucleus (PBN) (Sawchenko, 1990). Additionally, CRH axons also interconnect the CeA with the BNST and the PVN. Other extra hypothalamic pathways consist of ascending fibers from the brainstem to a variety of anterior brain areas such as the lateral septum, the medial prefrontal cortex, the thalamus and the hypothalamus (Merchenthaler, 1984, Sakanaka et al., 1987, Holsboer, 1999, De Souza, 2002). To date, not all of the CRH projections have been clearly examined, for example the brainstem possesses many adjacent CRH cell groups but it is uncertain if all of these receive inputs from the same projection originating from the CeA. As mentioned already, CRH has been hypothesized to act as both a neurohormone and a neurotransmitter within the CNS (Pavcovich and Valentino, 1997). In fact, a prerequisite for being considered a neurotransmitter is the localization within presynaptic terminals, as demonstrated for CRH by immunohistochemical studies (Cain et al., 1991) and a wide distribution of CRH expressing neurons and binding sites in the brain (Swanson et al., 1983, Sakanaka et al., 1987, De Souza, 1995, De Souza, 2002). Specific neuronal groups have been reported to coexpress CRH with classical neurotransmitters and to innervate various brain areas. For instance, CRH has been identified within cholinergic neurons in the LDT (Crawley et al., 1985) and PPT (Austin et al., 1995), and in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons within the LC (Valentino et al., 2001). Furthermore, GABAergic neurons of the hippocampus have been reported to coexpress CRH (Yan et al.,

1998). Additionally CRH is known to colocalize and corelease with other neuropeptides such as angiotensin II, AVP, cholecystokin and neurotensin (Sawchenko, 1990, Cain et al., 1991).

2.5.2 The CRH receptors

A decade after the characterization of CRH, expression cloning technique identified and characterized the first CRH receptor from a human Cushing's corticotropic adenoma (Chen et al., 1993). To date, two different CRH receptor subtypes have been described in humans and other mammals: the CRH receptor type 1 (CRHR1) and the CRH receptor type 2 (CRHR2) (Chang et al., 1993, Vita et al., 1993, Chalmers et al., 1995, Kishimoto et al., 1995, Lovenberg et al., 1995b, Liaw et al., 1996). Different genes encode the two CRH receptor families, nevertheless they share 70% sequence homology with each other (Lovenberg et al., 1995b, Dautzenberg and Hauger, 2002, Grammatopoulos and Chrousos, 2002). Both subtypes contain seven transmembrane domains and appertain to the superfamily G protein coupled receptor, which includes other neuropeptides receptors such as the growth-hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) receptor Souza, 2002. (De Grammatopoulos and Chrousos, 2002). The CRHR1 exists in different isoforms (i.e. CRHR1 α , -R1 β , -R1c, -R1d, R1e, -R1f, -R1g and -R1h) however, only the 415-amino acid protein CRHR1 α seems to be functional (Grammatopoulos et al., 1999, Dautzenberg et al., 2001, Pisarchik and Slominski, 2001). The CRHR2 is currently known to exist in three different isoforms (CRHR2 α , CRHR2 β , and CRHR2 γ). These subtypes are showing differences at their N-terminus; however their pharmacological characteristics are similar (Ross et al., 1994, Lovenberg et al., 1995b, Kostich et al., 1998, Dautzenberg et al., 2001, De Souza, 2002). Recently, a possible third CRHR was characterized in catfish; however, this subtype still hasn't been found in other species yet (Arai et al., 2001, Majzoub, 2006).

Many studies have analyzed the distribution of CRHRs within the brain in different species of animals and have demonstrated a heterogeneous expression of the two subtypes. *In situ* hybridization, immunohistochemistry and RNAse protection assays showed an almost exclusive expression of CRHR1 in cortical areas, the amygdala (BLA and CeA), the cerebellum, the basal forebrain, the superior colliculus, the red

nucleus, the trigeminal nuclei, in the anterior lobe of the pituitary and the LC in rodents (Chalmers et al., 1995, Lacroix and Rivest, 1996, Ambrosio et al., 1997, Sanchez et al., 1999, Chen et al., 2000). Additionally, CRHR1 is also expressed in the brainstem cholinergic nuclei (LDT and PPT) (De Souza, 1987, Holsboer, 1999), which seem to be implicated in REMS modulation. On the other hand, CRHR2a, the major isoform located at neuronal membranes, is more strongly distributed in the PVN, the lateral septum, the ventromedial hypothalamus, the cortical and medial nuclei of the amygdala, and the RN. It has been further reported a mixed CRHR1a and CRHR2 α population within the hippocampus, the BNST, the periaqueductal grey (PAG) and the olfactory bulb (Chalmers et al., 1995, Lacroix and Rivest, 1996, Ambrosio et al., 1997, Sanchez et al., 1999, Van Pett et al., 2000). The CRHR2^β, this splice variant is expressed predominantly in non-neuronal structures, i.e. the choroid plexus and arterioles, while in the periphery is detectable in the heart and skeletal muscle (Chalmers et al., 1995, Lovenberg et al., 1995a) The isoform CRHR2y is expressed in the lateral septum, the hippocampus, the frontal cortex, the amygdala and in midbrain areas; however this form has been reported only in humans so far (Kostich et al., 1998).

Using a double-immunocytochemical staining, it was shown that definite groups of neurons co-express CRHR1 with ACh. Specifically, all cholinergic basal forebrain nuclei except the NB were found to express CRHR1 (Sauvage and Steckler, 2001). A strong colocalization was also found in the brainstem such as the LDT and PPT. These results showed that the cholinergic system provides direct anatomical substrates for CRH action through the CRHR1 (Sauvage and Steckler, 2001, Warnock et al., 2006). Furthermore detection of CRHR1 immunoreactivity was found in dopaminargic and noradrenergic neurons within the LC, the ventral tegmental area and the substantia nigra (Sauvage and Steckler, 2001).

2.5.3 Sleep-wake regulatory effects of CRH

Accumulating evidences from human and animal studies support that CRH is involved in spontaneous and stressor-induced sleep-wake regulation. For example, in healthy humans, single intravenous (i.v.) injections and repetitive i.v. injections of CRH produced a decrease in SWS (Tsuchiyama et al., 1995) and REMS (Holsboer

et al., 1988). Contrary to this, cortisol application was shown to increase SWS and decrease REMS in humans. Hence, CRH and acute cortisol administration exert quite opposite sleep effects. It appears likely that the observed results were due to a negative feedback inhibition of central CRH (Born et al., 1991, Friess et al., 1994, Bohlhalter et al., 1997, Friess et al., 2004). Furthermore, since ACTH and cortisol application suppressed REMS (Steiger and Holsboer, 1997), REMS reduction observed after CRH application seems to be a result from increased cortisol levels after HPA axis activation. On the other hand, decreased SWS or increased wakefulness were due to a central action of CRH. Additional examples showing the participation of CRH in sleep-wake regulation are supported by animal studies. Intracerebroventricular (i.c.v) injection of CRH to rats, mice and rabbits resulted in enhanced wakefulness and decreased NREMS (Ehlers et al., 1986, Opp et al., 1989, Sanford et al., 2008, Romanowski et al., 2010). These results from both clinical and preclinical sides suggest that the activation of the HPA axis through CRH contributes to wake responses. However, it remained unclear whether central administration of CRH acted on sleep directly or indirectly through all the stress hormones. Transgenic mice centrally overexpressing CRH allowed unravelling the role of CRH in sleepwake regulation. These animals displayed increased wakefulness and REMS and vaguely decreased NREMS under baseline conditions compared to controls (Kimura et al., 2010). Literature is limited regarding the implication of the different CRH receptors in sleep-wake regulation. However, several studies in rats and mice were focussed on CRHR1 (Chang and Opp, 1998, Lancel et al., 2002, Kimura et al., 2010, Romanowski et al., 2010), while the functional role of CRHR2 still needs to be elucidated (Jakubcakova et al., 2011).

2.5.4 Stress-related effects of CRH

As already mentioned before, CRH is the major stress hormone. In fact, the most important role of CRH is to coordinate neuroendocrine responses to stress by activating the HPA axis, resulting in glococorticoids release from the adrenal cortex and subsequent physiological effects (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). It has been reviewed extensively that central CRH is also capable of mediating specific autonomic and behavioral responses to stress independently from HPA axis activation. For example, central administration of CRH in laboratory animals induced
alterations in the ANS such as increased heart rate, blood pressure and blood sugar. Additionally, i.c.v. administered CRH provoked behavioral effects, e.g., suppression of exploratory behavior in a new environment, increased conflict behavior, generation of grooming behavior, and decreased reproductive behavior and food intake (Dunn and Berridge, 1990, Owens and Nemeroff, 1991, Koob et al., 1993, Arborelius et al., 1999, Holsboer, 1999, Bale and Vale, 2004, Guillemin, 2005). Currently, it is hypothesized that central CRH-mediated HPA hyperactivity is associated with major depression (Nemeroff, 1998, Arborelius et al., 1999, Holsboer, 1999, Reul and Holsboer, 2002). A compelling number of clinical reports in depressed patients documented elevated CSF CRH concentration, elevated CRH concentration in the PVN, decreased CRH receptor binding sites in the prefrontal cortex of suicide victims, supporting the hypothesis and suggesting that high levels of CRH could derive from both hypothalamic and extrahypothalamic neurons (Nemeroff et al., 1984, Nemeroff et al., 1988, Raadsheer et al., 1994). Similar changes seen in patients (i.e. longstanding CRH hyperactivity) have also been found in animals that have been subjected to early-life stress (Plotsky and Meaney, 1993, Coplan et al., 1996, Ladd et al., 1996). Since centrally administered CRH has been shown to stimulate anxiogenic reactions, which can be blocked by either a CRH antisense oligodeoxynucleotide or a receptor antagonist, it seems likely that central CRH is also involved in anxiety disorders (Dunn and Berridge, 1990, Skutella et al., 1994, van Gaalen et al., 2002). Along this line, conventional transgenic mice that overexpress CRH exhibit increased anxiety-like behavior (Stenzel-Poore et al., 1994, van Gaalen et al., 2002). Overall, these findings evidence the role of central CRH in stress-related disorders such as depression and anxiety. Strongly supported by mouse genetic studies, CRHR1 was identified as the mediator of defensive and anxiogenic behavior (Smith et al., 1998, Timpl et al., 1998), whereas the role of CRHR2α would mediate anxiolytic effects (Bale et al., 2000, Kishimoto et al., 2000).

2.6 Animal models of stress-related disorders

2.6.1 Stress and REM sleep

Stress-related disorders such as depression and anxiety can be initiated by an overactivity of the HPA axis (de Kloet et al., 2005). These disorders are characterized by an enhanced stress hormone secretion (Arborelius et al., 1999, Holsboer, 1999) as well as alterations in the sleep-wake cycle (Steiger and Kimura, 2010). Polysomnographic sleep recordings have revealed that, besides disturbances of sleep continuity, stress-related disorders are associated with upregulated REMS and a reduction of SWS (Benca et al., 1992, Thase et al., 1997).

In order to clarify the fundamental biological mechanisms that lead to depression, a great number of animal models for depression have been developed over the last 50 years (Willner, 1991, McArthur and Borsini, 2006). These animals are interesting models for defining the interrelationships among depression and sleep disturbances. Of particular interest are selectively bred helplessness mice (El Yacoubi et al., 2003). They show sleep patterns that are similar to those observed in depressed patients, notably a lighter and fragmented sleep, with an increased pressure of REMS; compared to nonhelpless mice they further displayed higher basal corticosterone (El Yacoubi et al., 2003). Further interesting animal models which have been studied by Dugovic and colleagues are the Wistar-Kyoto (Gomez et al., 1996, Dugovic et al., 2000, Solberg et al., 2001) and the prenatally stressed rats (Dugovic et al., 1999). Similarly to the helpless mouse line and to other animal models for depression, they both display increased spontaneous REMS including hyper responsiveness of the HPA axis to stress (Dugovic et al., 1999, Dugovic et al., 2000).

Different studies focused on the influence of stress exposure on sleep changes and found similar variations in the sleep-wake cycle as reported in above mentioned animal models of depression (Rampin et al., 1991, Cespuglio et al., 1995, Meerlo et al., 2001). Rampin and colleagues were the first to describe that a stressful stimulus, such as immobilization stress (IS) is able to alter sleep in rats (Rampin et al., 1991). In fact one hour of IS, performed at the beginning of the dark period, was enough to induce an increase in REMS (Rampin et al., 1991). These results were confirmed by Gonzalez and colleagues who could also prove an involvement of CRH (Gonzalez

and Valatx, 1997). Indeed, they showed that the contribution of endogenous CRH in REMS enhancement depends on the environmental conditions (Gonzalez and Valatx, 1997).

2.6.2 The conditional CRH overexpressing mouse model

Taken into account that stress-related disorders such as depression are accompanied with elevated CRH levels in humans CSF (Nemeroff et al., 1984), the investigation would be worthwhile in animal models that show high CRH activity. Several lines of CRH-overexpressing mice have been created so far (Stenzel-Poore et al., 1994, Kolber et al., 2010). Nevertheless, in all cases the unrestricted CRH overexpression resulted in increased corticosterone levels (Groenink et al., 2002) accompanied by symptoms of Cushing-like syndrome (Stenzel-Poore et al., 1992), therefore limiting their usefulness for studies of sleep physiology. This problem was circumvented by designing conditional mutants overexpressing CRH under the CNSspecific Nestin and forebrain-specific Camk2a promotors (CRH-COE-Nes and CRH-COE-Cam, respectively) (Lu et al., 2008). Both lines do not show explicit behavioural or endocrine abnormalities, under resting conditions, but react with increased active stress-coping behavior and corticosterone release under stress conditions (Lu et al., 2008, Kimura et al., 2010). Furthermore, upregulated REMS has been demonstrated in both lines, suggesting that overexpressed CRH in the forebrain contributes to enhanced REMS.

In the present study, CRH-COE-Cam mice were used in order to unravel the role of forebrain CRH on REMS regulation. Briefly, homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells was used to knock into the ubiquitously active ROSA26 (R26) locus a single copy of the murine CRH cDNA headed by a loxP-flanked (floxed) transcriptional stop sequence (Lu et al., 2008). To achieve forebrain-specific overexpression of CRH, homozygous mice carrying the altered R26 allele (R26 flopCrh/flopCrh), which is Cre-recombinase sensitive, were bred with the Camk2 α -Cre transgenic line (Lu et al., 2008). In this conditional mouse line, Cre expression is controlled by the Camk2 α promotor (Cam) (Minichiello et al., 1999), which drives Cre mediated CRH overexpression to principal neurons of the anterior forebrain including limbic structures from around postnatal day 15 (Minichiello et al., 1999). Resulting

heterozygous R26 ^{+/flopCrh} and R26 ^{+/flopCrh} Cam-cre F1 were intercrossed to obtain the F2 generation of the desired genotypes: R26 ^{flopCrh/flopCrh} (CRH-COE^{con}-Cam; controls) and R26 ^{flopCrh/flopCrh} Camk2a-cre (CRH-COE^{hom}-Cam; homozygous) (Lu et al., 2008).

3 Aim of the study

Although it was previously suggested that CRH overexpression in the forebrain including limbic structures contributes to enhanced REMS, the mechanism of how CRH drives REMS increase and contributes to stress-related sleep disorders is not yet fully uncovered. Therefore, this thesis aimed to explore the role of CRH in the regulation of REMS by examining the involvement of an altered neurotransmitter system.

This work addressed the following questions:

- Study I Can characteristically upregulated REMS in CRH-COE Cam mice be decreased with a muscarinic antagonist, and is this action mediated through the amygdala?
- Study II Do CRH-COE Cam mice have a higher cholinergic activity in the amygdala, and does CRH modulate ACh release via stimulation of the CRHR1?
- Study III Is the amygdala able to activate pontine REMS regulating structures after CRH stimulation?
- Study IV Does overexpressed CRH in the forebrain affect cholinergic neuronal activity in pontine REMS regulating structures in response to SD?

4 Materials and Methods

4.1 Animals

In the present study, adult (8-12 weeks old) male homozygous forebrain-specific CRH-overexpressing (CRH-COE Cam) and control littermates as well as C57BL/6J mice (Harlan Winkelmann GmbH, Borchen, Germany) were used. CRH-COE-Cam mice were provided by the research group "Molecular Neurogenetics" of the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany. All animals were maintained under standard laboratory conditions (temperature $24^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$; humidity $50\% \pm 10\%$) on a 12h/12h light dark cycle (lights on at 09:00 h, lights off at 21:00 h). Standard rodent pellets and water were provided *ad libitum*. All animal experiments conducted in this thesis were approved by the local commission for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the State Government of Upper Bavaria. Accordingly to different settings for each experiment, animals were housed as follows.

Study I: Sleep recording and atropine microinjection

CRH-COE-Cam mice (controls n=14; homozygous n=14) were single housed in Plexiglas cages (length x width x height = $25 \times 25 \times 35$ cm) and placed in a sound-attenuated recording chamber.

Study II: Microdialysis for ACh measurement

CRH-COE-Cam mice (controls n=12; homozygous n=12) were placed in the microdialysis experimental room which had similar environmental conditions as the recording chamber and single housed in Plexiglas cages (length x width x height = 25 x 25 x 35 cm). The cages were divided into two compartments using a Plexiglas separation wall. Mice were housed in the large section of the cage (length x width = 25×15 cm).

Study III: CRH microinjection and ChAT/c-Fos Immunohistochemistry

C57BL/6J mice (n=15) were single housed in Plexiglas cages (length x width x height = $25 \times 25 \times 35 \text{ cm}$) and placed in a sound-attenuated chamber. The open top side of the cages allowed free access to the animals for the microinjection procedure.

Study IV: SD and ChAT/c-Fos Immunohistochemistry

CRH-COE-Cam mice (controls n=10; homozygous n=10) were single housed in transparent polycarbonate cages (type 2 – macrolone, 25.5 cm x 19.5 cm x 13.8 cm) and kept at the animal facility of the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry in Munich, Germany.

4.2 Surgeries (study I-III)

Animals were anaesthetised using a custom-made inhalation narcosis device with an oxygen/sevoflurane mixture (Sevorane; Abbott, Wiesbaden, Germany), positioned into a stereotaxic apparatus (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, USA) in order to maintain a stable head position, and placed on a heating pad to avoid a decrease of body temperature during the surgery. Before starting the surgery, mice received subcutaneously atropine sulfate (0.05mg/kg, Atropine; Braun Melsungen AG, Melsungen, Germany) to prevent bradycardia and meloxicam (0.5mg/kg, Metacam; Braun Melsungen AG, Melsungen, Germany) for postoperative pain reduction.

For the sleep study, after an incision was made on the scalp, connectivity tissues were carefully removed, and then tiny holes to implant EEG electrodes were drilled in the cranial bone using a dental drill (KaVo-5 Type EWL4970; Kaltenbach und Voigt Elektronisches Werk GmbH, Leutkirch, Germany). EEG electrodes made of 3 gold wires with ball-shaped ends (one in the frontal and two in the parietal field; Figure 10) were placed through the skull epidurally. Subsequently, two additional gold wires with ball-shaped ends were inserted in the neck muscle for EMG recordings. All electrodes were soldered to a 5-pin miniature-connector (BCP socket connector; Compona, Switzerland) and affixed with 2 anchoring screws to the skull with a dental acrylic resin (Paladur; Heraeus Kulzer, Hanau, Germany). Two cannulae made of microdialysis peek tubing (13 mm long, outsider diameter: 0.4 mm, inner diameter: 0.12 mm; Microbiotech, Stockholm, Sweden) were stereotaxically inserted into the bilateral CeA for atropine injections according to the mouse brain atlas by Franklin and Paxinos (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997), fixed to the skull with the resin and closed with a removable dummy cap. To further increase footing, all implants were fixed together with the resin.



Figure 10: Dorsal scheme of the mouse skull and the five-pin connector.

On the left hand side are the locations of the holes for the EEG electrodes, the injection cannulae and the screws. On the right hand side a schematic draw of the 5-pin connector. Skull adapted from www.informatics.jax.org.

For the microdialysis study, mice were implanted with a guide cannula and two anchoring screws (Figure 11A). The custom-made sterile, stainless steel guide cannula (length: 13 mm; outsider diameter: 0.7 mm; insider diameter: 0.4 mm) was inserted slowly above the right CeA, (coordinates with bregma as reference: lateral - 3.2 mm, posterior -1.2 mm, ventral -4.8 mm) and closed with a removable silicon plug. Additionally, a small peg was attached to the skull in order to connect a liquid swivel system during the microdialysis experiment. Both the guide cannula and the peg were first fixed to the skull using ethyl cyanocrylate glue, followed by the dental resin for a better fixation and stabilization.



Figure 11: Dorsal scheme of mice skulls and locations of the holes in the microdialysis (A) and CRH injection study (B).

Skull adapted from www.informatics.jax.org

For the CRH injection study, C57BL/6J mice were implanted with a cannula made of microdialysis peek tubing (13 mm long, outsider diameter: 0.4 mm, inner diameter: 0.12 mm, Microbiotech, Stockholm, Sweden) flanked by two anchoring screws (Figure 11B). The cannula was inserted slowly into the right CeA, (coordinates with bregma as reference: lateral -3.1 mm, posterior -1.2 mm, ventral -5.3 mm) and closed with a removable dummy cap. Cannula and screws were affixed to the skull with the resin.

4.3 EEG/EMG recording and sleep data analysis (study I)

After 10 days of recovery from surgery, a 5-pole recording cable was plugged into the micro-socket and connected to an electric swivel (Type SW-921.18; Precisor Messtechnik, Munich, Germany) which was counterbalanced by a mechanical

device; thus, the animals could move almost freely and were easily adapted prior to the beginning of recording. The EEG and EMG recording signals were pre- and main amplified (1000 fold and 10 fold, respectively), filtered (EEG 0.5-29 Hz, 48 dB per octave; non-filtered EMG underwent root mean square rectification), transformed via an analogue-to-digital converter card at a sampling rate of 64 Hz (National Instrument, Austin, TX) and stored on a computer. Polysomnographic data were then analyzed offline by a LabVIEW-based acquisition system (EGEra Vigilanz; SEA, Cologne, Germany), in which a Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) algorithm served for spectral analysis of the EEG power across particular EEG frequency bands that are, delta (0.5-5 Hz), theta (6-9 Hz), sigma (10-15 Hz) and beta (16-29 Hz). The spectral analysis enabled semiautomatic classification of sleep-wake vigilance states by applying the FFT algorithm, adapted from a report by Louis et al. (Louis et al., 2004). Vigilance states were defined in 4-second epochs and classified as wake, NREMS or REMS. The defined semi-automatically scored data were further confirmed visually and corrected if necessary. In case of high amplitude, low frequency (delta bands) EEG, epochs were rescored as NREMS; whereas if the EMG signal was low or absent (muscle atonia) and EEG theta activity was dominant, they were rescored as REMS. All other cases were rescored as wake. EEG/EMG recordings were made for 23 hours per experimental day, allowing maintenance of the recording device and animal care during the remaining hour.

4.4 Microinjections (study I and III)

All microinjections for the atropine and CRH study were performed with the same apparatus and procedure. The microinjection apparatus consisted of a 50 cm long fluorethylenepolymer (FEP) microdialysis tubing (dead volume: 1.2μ L/10 cm length; outsider diameter: 0.4 mm; Microbiotech, Stockholm, Sweden), 2 FEP tubing adapters (no dead volume in the connections; Microbiotech, Stockholm, Sweden), a syringe needle (22 gauge, length: 51 mm, outsider diameter: 0.7 mm; Hamilton Company, Bonaduz, GR, Switzerland), a 10 μ l Hamilton syringe (801 RN; Hamilton Company, Bonaduz, GR, Switzerland) and a plunger connected to a custom made control element (Figure 12). The control element consisted of a precision dial

allowing the delivery of the solution in steps of 0.17 μ l/turn. An extra peek injection cannula, the tubing and the syringe were filled with distilled water, and a small air bubble drawn up into its distal end. This, separated the infused solution (drug dissolved in vehicle solution or vehicle solution only) from the water, and also acted as a suitable index of successful injection. During injection the animals were gently restraint, and the FEP tubing connected adapter was secured to the peek injection cannula. Solutions in a volume of 0.5 μ l were slowly infused over 3 minutes, and the adapter was allowed to stay connected to the injection cannula 5 minutes after the microinjection was finished. Injections were always performed 10 days after surgery on maximum four mice at a time in order to complete the procedure within 1 hour.



Figure 12: Microinjections apparatus

Experimental procedures for testing atropine (study I)

To test the hypothesis that cholinergic inhibition in the amygdala decreases REMS in CRH-COE-Cam mice, 14 mice (controls n=7; homozygous n=7) were bilaterally injected with a muscarinic antagonist (atropine) into the CeA and changes in REMS were analyzed. Each experimental animal was injected with a 10 μ g dose of atropine (Braun Melsungen AG, Melsungen, Germany) whereas a different group of 14 mice (controls n = 7; homozygous n = 7) were used as a control and were injected with a saline solution (NaCl 0.9%; Berlin-Chemie AG, Berlin, Germany; Figure 13). All injections were completed before 15:00 (6 hours after the light onset).



Figure 13: Schematic representation of the atropine injection schedule.

After 1 day of baseline EEG/EMG recording, all animals were bilaterally injected either with atropine or saline at zeitgeber time (ZT) 30. Recordings continued for 2 days (ZT 30 – ZT 72). Horizontal open bar, light period; horizontal filled bar, dark period.

Experimental procedures for testing CRH (study II)

In order to study the effects of limbic CRH on neuronal activity in REMS regulating brainstem structures, C57BL/6J mice were injected unilaterally with CRH (human/rat CRF, Bachem AG, Melsungen, Germany) into the CeA. A group of animal received a dose of 1 μ g of CRH whereas a different group received a dose of 10 μ g. All injections were completed before 13:00 (4 hours after the light onset). As control treatment, saline was injected at the same time to another group of mice. Sixty minutes after each treatment, animals were perfused.

4.5 Sleep deprivation (SD) (study II and IV)

To study the effects of SD on ACh release and on neuronal activity in REMS regulating structures, the animals were sleep-deprived for 6 hours from the beginning of the light period. SD was performed by gentle handling, which is a less stressful procedure than other SD approaches such as the rotating disk over water or "the flower pot" technique (Rechtschaffen et al., 1999). Whenever the animals appeared to be sleepy, examiners introduced novel objects into the home cage like cotton

swabs or tissue paper. Any direct contact with the animals was avoided. This method stimulates active wakefulness and results in increased sleep pressure (Jouvet et al., 1964, Borbély et al., 1984). The increased sleep pressure increases sleep propensity and leads to a rebound sleep during recovery. In study IV, CRH-COE-Cam mice were divided into 2 groups with 9 animals each (controls n=5, homozygous n=4). One group was sleep-deprived for 6 hours (starting at 9:00 and finishing at 15:00) and the other one was used as a non-sleep-deprived control. All animals were then anesthetized for perfusion at approximately 15:00. The experimental protocol for study II will be described in the following microdialysis section.

4.6 Immunohistochemistry (study III and IV)

After the CRH microinjections or SD experiments, immuhistochemistry was carried out for the detection of the c-Fos protein (as a marker for neuronal activation) together with ChAT labeling (as a marker for cholinergic neurons) within the brainstem region to examine whether CRH or SD activates of cholinergic neurons.

Animals were deeply anesthetized with an overdose of sodium pentobarbital (6,4 mg/kg, intraperitoneal), and perfused through the ascending aorta with 5 ml of saline followed by 5 ml of fixative containing 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Every perfusion was completed within 10 minutes from the injection of the anaesthetic. Brains were removed and stored at 4°C overnight in the fixative solution, after which they were submerged in a 30% sucrose solution at 4°C for three days for cryoprotection. After the brains were completely absorbed in the sucrose solution, they were rapidly frozen in methylbutane cooled with dry ice and stored at -80°C. Coronal sections were made through the entire brain at 30 μ m thickness on a cryostat (Leica, Germany). Free-floating sections containing the amygdala, and brainstem structures were collected in cryoprotectant solution and stored at -20°C.

Study III: fluorescent labeling

To increase cell permeability the sections were incubated with 0.2 % Triton-X for 15 minutes, and then treated with a blocking solution (5% goat serum in PBS for 1 hour);

in between the sections were washed in PBS. The sections were incubated overnight with a rabbit anti c-fos (1:5000; Calbiochem, PC38) and a chicken anti ChAT (1:200; Chemicon, AB15468) primary antibody. The next day, after being washed in PBS, sections were incubated with the fluorophore tagged secondary antibodies: anti rabbit IgG (Alexa Fluor 568; 1:5000) and anti chicken IgG (Alexa Fluor 488; 1:200). Sections were then washed in PBS and incubated for 10 minutes with the fluorescent stain DAPI which was used for visualization of the nucleus since it labels DNA. After staining, the sections were mounted on microscope slides (Super Frost Plus; VWR International, Leuven, Belgium), dried, and coverslipped with prolong gold mounting medium (antifade reagent; Invitrogen, Germany).

The histochemical analysis was carried out under fluorescent microscopy. Dark-field photomicrographs were captured at a 20x magnification with Zeiss AxioCam MRm and AxioCam MRc5 digital cameras adapted to a Zeiss axioplan 2 imaging microscope and a stereomicroscope (Leica). Images were acquired simultaneously in three acquisition channels with the Axio Vision 4.5 and afterwards photomicrographs were integrated into plates using image-editing software. C-Fos positive cells were determined by a red punctuate nucleus whereas the cholinergic neurons were determined by a green cytoplasm. Single labeled c-Fos and double-labeled c-Fos/ChAT cells in different brainstem regions were counted manually from the digitalized pictures in three sections per animal. The cell counts of these three sections were averaged and compared between the CRH injection and saline group. Digitalized sections of the amygdala were used to verify the location of the cannula within this area.

Study IV: DAB/Nova Red labeling

After being washed in PBS, brain sections were first blocked in a normal goat serum for one hour, and then incubated overnight in rabbit anti-c-Fos antibody (1:5000; Calbiochem, PC38). On the next day, the sections were washed and incubated with the secondary antibody (biotinylated goat anti rabbit IgG, 1:300; Vector, BA1000) for one hour, followed by one hour in Avidin-Biotin Complex (ABC; Vector Elite Kit, Vector laboratories). In order to visualize c-Fos positive cells, sections were washed and placed for 40 seconds in a solution of 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB; 0.06%) with a mixture of nickel-ammonium sulphate (0.01%) and hydrogen peroxide (0.02%; DAB kit, Vector Laboratories). The sections were then washed and incubated overnight

with a chicken-anti-ChAT (1:250; Chemicon, AB15468) primary antibody. The following day, the sections were rinsed, incubated in Avidin-Biotin Vector blocking kit (15 minutes in Avidin and 15 minutes in Biotin), and followed by one hour incubation with the secondary antibody (biotinylated goat anti chicken IgG, 1:300; Vector, BA9010). The sections were then washed, followed with one hour incubation with Avidin-Biotin Complex (already described). For the visualization of cholinergic neurons Nova Red (Vector, SK4800) was applied for 1 minute and 15 seconds. After staining, the sections were mounted onto microscope slides (Super Frost Plus; VWR International, Leuven, Belgium), dried, and coverslipped with Eukitt quick-hardening mounting medium (Fluka; Sigma-Aldrich).

Cholinergic cells that were also c-Fos positive (c-Fos/ChAT) were counted unilaterally at 120 µm intervals through the full rostrocaudal extend of the LDT using a light microscope (Leitz) at a 20x magnification; a 4x magnification was used to determine the outline of the structure. C-Fos/ChAT double-labeled cells were determined by the black punctuate nucleus (c-Fos positive) surrounded by brown/orange (ChAT-positive) cytoplasm.

Sections that were used for c-Fos counting were analyzed under a Zeiss microscope equipped with a CCD camera attached to a computer. C-Fos cells were more numerous than dual immunostained cells and were counted unilaterally in three sections (interval 120 μ m). Photomicrographs of each selected section were captured at a 10 x and 5x magnification; the outline of the structure was delineated at a 4x magnification and c-Fos cells were counted using a computer-based image analysis system (Imagepro Plus, version 6.3).

4.7 In vivo brain microdialysis (study II)

4.7.1 The technique

We performed *in vivo* brain microdialysis to monitor the release of ACh in the extracellular space of the amygdala of CRH-COE-Cam mice. This technique is widely used in neuroscience to measure free, unbound neurotransmitter concentration in the

extrasynaptic space of freely moving animals (Ungerstedt and Pycock, 1974, Young, 1993, Westerink, 1995, Mas et al., 1996, Bradberry, 2000). A microdialysis system consists of three components: the microdialysis pump, the microdialysis probe and a refrigerated fraction collector (Figure 14).



Figure 14: Schematic diagram illustrating the microdialysis setup

The technique requires brain insertion of a dialysis probe, which is designed to function mimicking a capillary blood vessel and consists of a semi permeable hollow membrane at its tip. The dialysis membrane is the key element of microdialysis. When it is perfused with a physiologically isotonic fluid, molecules are exchanged by diffusion in both directions along their concentration gradient, and generally, depending on filter size, the membrane excludes the transport of larger molecules which may interfere with the substances of interest (Hocht et al., 2007). Using the microdialysis pump set at a constant low flow rate, a perfusate solution goes into the probe through the inlet tubing, passes through the outlet tubing and is collected as a dialysate in a refrigerated fraction collector (Nirogi et al., 2010). Perfusion fluid, such as Ringer solution, is a solution that mimics the ionic constituents of the extracellular

fluid, and therefore circumvents the excessive migration of molecules into or out of the probe (Chefer et al., 2009). In general, the concentration of a neurotransmitter with one's particular interest in the dialysate is a fraction of its real concentration in the probe. In fact, the ratio between the concentration in the dialysate and the concentration in the probe is referred to as relative recovery. The relative recovery depends mostly on a flow rate and molecular weight (Plock and Kloft, 2005, Chefer et al., 2009, Nirogi et al., 2010). The *in vitro* recovery of ACh (with a flow rate of 2 μ l/minute) is found to be 23 % (data not shown); however the data presented here are not corrected for recovery.

4.7.2 Experimental procedures

Following 14 recovery days after surgery, homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice were lightly anaesthetized with sevoflurane, stereotaxically fixed and after removal of the silicon dummy tip, a 13 mm long concentric microdialysis probe (AZ-8-03; Eicom corp., Kyoto, Japan; membrane: artificial cellulose, length 1 mm, molecular weight cutoff 50,000 Da, outer diameter 0.22 mm) was slowly inserted through the guide cannula. In order to keep the probe in a stable location, it was fixed to the guide cannula with a drop of ethyl cyanocrylate glue followed by dental resin. Prior to this procedure, the probe was examined in order to prevent leakage. FEP tubing with a dead volume of 1.2 µL/10 cm length (Microbiotech, Stockholm, Sweden) was employed for all connections. The microdialysis probe was perfused with Ringer's solution (in mM: Na⁺ 147; K⁺ 4; Ca²⁺ 2.2; Cl⁻ 155.5; pH 7; Delta Select, Germany) at a flow rate of 2 µL/minute via a microinfusion pump. After the probe implantation, the animals, connected to a double channel swivels (Microbiotech) through the peg on their head and a counterbalancing system (Instech Laboratories, Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA) were allowed to move freely in the experimental cages without tangling the dialysis tubing. Moreover, the dual channel swivels connected the inlet and outlet tubing from the animals with a refrigerated auto sampler (820 microsampler, Univentor, Malta). Sample collection was always performed with four mice simultaneously on day 2 (first experimental day; baseline collection) and on day 4 (second experimental day: with SD) after the implantation of the microdialysis probe (Figure 15). To avoid rapid hydrolysis of ACh by AChE and to improve basal recovery of ACh, neostigmine bromide (2.5 µM; Research Biochemicals International, Natick,

MA, USA), an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, was added to the perfusion fluid 12 hours before the start of the first experimental day and 3 hours before the start of the second experimental day.



Figure 15: Schematic representation of the schedule for the microdialysis experiment

First experimental day: baseline

Two days after the implantation of the microdialysis probe, 1-hour dialysates samples were automatically collected for 24 hours (09:00-09:00) to monitor the diurnal changes in extracellular levels of ACh. During the baseline day, the animals (n=24) were allowed to sleep and wake undisturbed; therefore great attention was taken to avoid unexpected noise in the microdialysis room. The spontaneous locomotor activity of the mice in their cage was monitored and recorded on a video tape. The video recording equipment in our laboratory did not allow registering the behavior during the full 24 hours of the light/dark cycle. Therefore it was decided to monitor the locomotor activity only during two short periods; between 09:00 and 13:00 during the light period, and between 21:00 and 01:00 during the dark period.

Second experimental day: SD

Four days after inserting the probe, dialysates were automatically collected again every hour for 24 h (09:00-09:00). During the first 6 hours of the sampling time, the animals (n=12) were subjected to SD. At the end of SD, the animals were left undisturbed in their cage and spontaneous locomotor activity was monitored between 15:00 and 21:00 during the light period, and between 21:00 and 23:00 during the dark period.

During sampling, dialysates were collected in plastic vials which were cooled in refrigerated auto sampler and were then stored at -80 °C for further ACh quantification by high performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection (see below).

4.7.3 Quantification of ACh

The concentration of ACh was determined from the microdialysis samples using high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) combined with electrochemical detection (EC). The HPLC setup consisted of an isocratic pump (Sunflow 100, Sunchrom, Friedrichsdorf, Germany), a mobile phase degasser (Sunchrom, Friedrichsdorf, Germany), a thermostat (Mistral column, Spark Holland Instruments, Emmen, The Netherlands), an ACh/Ch analytical column (UniJet microbore, Antec Leyden, Zoeterwoude, The Netherlands), an ACh/Ch post column immobilized enzyme reactor (IMER; UniJet microbore, Antec Leyden, Zoeterwoude, The Netherlands) and an electrochemical detector (Antec Leyden, Zoeterwoude, The Netherlands). The mobile phase containing 5 mM sodium phosphate (NaH₂PO₄), 12 mM potassium chloride (KCI) and 0, 5 mM EDTA (pH 8, 5) was filtered through a membrane (pore size: 0,22 µm; Durapore membrane filters, Millipore, Cork, Ireland). The eluent was delivered at a rate of 130 µl/minute, while the temperature in the column was maintained at 35°C. A volume of 10 µl of each sample was injected manually into the injector valve, which was directly connected to the stationary phase (a 530 mm long stainless steel tube with a 1/16 inch outside diameter and 1 mm inside diameter). After sample separation by ion-pairing mechanism in the analytical column (stationary phase), ACh and Ch were converted sequentially to betaine and hydrogen peroxide by the immobilized enzyme reactor (IMER, a 50 mm long stainless steel tube with a 1/16 inch outside diameter and 1 mm inside diameter, containing 2 covalently bounded enzymes: AChE and cholinoxidase [ChO]). The resultant hydrogen peroxide was oxidized on a platinum electrode, with the detector potential set at 550 mV with respect to an Ag/AgCl reference electrode (Figure 16).



Figure 16: Enzymatic conversion of acetylcholine and choline and electrochemical detection of hydrogen peroxide.

For the ACh analysis, it was necessary to generate a calibration curve by injecting a set of 5 standards of known concentrations (in the range of femtomole) and computing response factors were based upon the linear regression of a plot of peak height vs. concentration (Figure 17). Every plot showed a good linearity with correlation coefficients of 0.998 (data not shown). The chromatograms were analyzed with the Clarity software (Data Apex, Prague, The Czech Republic), and ACh identification and peak quantification were achieved by comparison with the 5 reference standards.



Figure 17: Example of calibration curve for acetylcholine (A) and separation of acetylcholine and choline (B)

(A) The linearity of the plot was obtained in the amount range of 1.25-50 fmol. The plot is showing a good linear detector response with correlation coefficients of 0.998 (data not shown). (B) Overlay of chromatograms of a dialysate and a reference standard 3.

4.8 Video monitoring of behavior (study II)

While measuring ACh release during the microdialysis study, the spontaneous locomotor activity of the animals in their cage was monitored with standard miniature infrared surveillance video cameras and recorded on a video tape for later scoring on a personal computer. The observer determined the spontaneous locomotor activity from the video tape by scoring as either "active" or "inactive" every 1 minute. Activity was defined as grooming, nest building, locomotion, climbing on the food rack, or activity along the separation wall while inactivity was defined as sleeping (lying with eyes closed), lying or sitting. The activity counts were then summed over 60 minutes intervals.

4.9 Verification of probe and cannula locations (study I and II)

After the experiments, animals received a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbital (0.1 ml, 160 mg/100 ml, intraperitoneal). The brains were removed, rapidly frozen in methylbutane cooled with dry ice, and stored at -80°C. Coronal sections were made at 20 µm thickness with a cryostat, stained with cresyl violet and visually inspected under a light microscope. Injection sites in CeA were verified by comparing sections to those in the stereotaxic atlas (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997).

4.10 Statistical analysis

All values are shown as a mean ± SEM. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (Version 6.01, GraphPad, San Diego, CA).

In study I the time spent in each vigilance state or only REMS was calculated in 1 or 2 hours averages. Differences in sleep-wake patterns during baseline were compared among the two different genotypes and analyzed by two-way ANOVA with factors 'time' and 'genotype'. The effects of the muscarinic antagonist atropine on REMS were compared between vehicle and atropine treated mice and evaluated by two-way ANOVA with factors 'treatment' and 'time'.

In study II two-way ANOVA with factors 'genotype' and 'time' was used to determine whether overall significant differences existed between absolute extracellular levels of ACh of the different genotypes during the baseline day, SD and recovery period. To compare 'genotype' and 'light-dark' effects on 12 hours averaged amounts of ACh release during SD, recovery, light and dark periods, two-way ANOVA was used. In order to reveal significant differences in ACh release between the two experimental days in both genotypes, two-way ANOVA was performed. Furthermore a paired t test was used to determine the differences in 6 hours averaged amounts of ACh between baseline and recovery for each line. Finally the correlation analysis between normalized ACh levels and spontaneous locomotor activity in both genotypes was performed by the Pearson Product Moment Correlation.

In study III one-way ANOVA with factor 'treatment' was performed on the number of c-Fos labeled neurons for each structure and each experimental condition (saline, 1 ng CRH, 10 ng CRH).

In study VI an unpaired t test was used to determine the differences in c-Fos or c-Fos/ChAT labeled cell numbers for each genotype across conditions (baseline and SD).

If the F values reached statistical significance, the Bonferroni's multiple comparison test was further applied for *post-hoc* analysis. P values <0.05 were considered significant.

5 Results

5.1 REM sleep in CRH-COE-Cam mice (study I)

5.1.1 Spontaneous sleep-wake patterns in CRH-COE Cam homozygous and control littermate mice

Polysomnographic analysis of sleep-wake behavior in CRH-COE Cam mice during baseline recordings confirmed what has been previously demonstrated by our research group, namely characteristically upregulated REMS in homozygous mice (Kimura et al., 2010). As shown in Figure 18, both genotypes showed a clear circadian-dependent variation in distribution of each vigilance state, presenting a typical nocturnal sleep-wake cycle. Homozygous mice compared with their control littermates showed constantly elevated REMS levels, however significant differences were only found during the light period (P<0.05). In contrast, time course changes in NREMS and wakefulness were not significantly different between the two genotypes neither in the light period nor in the dark period.



Figure 18: Sleep-wake distribution in homozygous (hom; n=15) and control littermate (con; n=15) CRH-COE-Cam mice under baseline conditions.

Data points represent 2 hour means ± SEM of time spent in REMS, NREMS and wake. The shaded areas indicate the dark period. Two-way ANOVA showed significant effects of 'genotype' for REMS across 24 hours (P<0.0001). Bonferroni's test applied for *post-hoc* analysis, showed that the significant differences between genotypes we present during the light phase; *P<0.05. No statistical significance according to 'genotype' was found in respect to NREMS and wake.

5.1.2 The effect of atropine on REM sleep

Available evidences suggest that there is a major projection from the amygdala to REMS regulating brainstem areas (Amaral et al., 1992, Valentino et al., 1994, Gray and Bingaman, 1996, Quattrochi et al., 1998) and cholinergic activation of CeA may be important in REMS regulation (Calvo et al., 1996, Wiersma et al., 1998, Sanford et al., 2006). To determine whether enhanced REMS by limbic CRH overexpression is

mediated through the cholinergic system, atropine was microinjected into the CeA and the effects of locally applied atropine on sleep, especially on REMS were analyzed.

In homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice, significant interaction effects of treatment and time were found during the 6 hours light period (P<0.0001) but not in the dark period. In control mice, no statistical significant differences were found, neither during the light phase nor in the dark phase. In both genotypes, compared to the baseline recording, the injection itself even with saline induced a decrease in REMS during the first hour because the animals were still awake from the gentle restraint. Afterwards, REMS levels of saline treated animals returned to and remained at baseline levels (Figure 19A and B). Atropine application in homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice, however, caused a significant decrease of REMS by postinjection hour 2 and 3 in comparison to saline and thus baseline (P<0.05). REMS levels remained decreased during most of the light period in homozygous mice (Figure 19A). In control animals, REMS declined only for two hours after atropine treatment, then returned rapidly to the baseline similar to the level after saline (Figure 19B).







Data points represent 1 hour means \pm SEM of time spent in REMS during 12 hours after injection. Animals received either saline or atropine treatment 6 hours after the light onset (clock time 15:00). The shaded areas indicate the dark period. (**A**) Two-way ANOVA showed significant interaction effects of 'treatment' and 'time' (P<0.0001) across 6 hours during the light phase. By comparing saline and baseline versus atropine treatment, significant differences assessed by Bonferroni's test for *post-hoc* analysis were found, *P<0.05. During the subsequent 6 hours of dark period no statistical effects were found. (**B**) In control mice two-way ANOVA did not detect any statistical differences between treatments, neither during the first 6 hours nor in the second 6 hours recording periods. Figure 20 shows the results from the histological validation of microinjection sites. Only CRH-COE-Cam mice that had the cannula positioned in the CeA were included in the following analysis. A series of three coronal diagrams indicates the atropine microinjection sites for each of the animals used for the analysis. Cannulae placements spanned along the rostro-caudal extend (1.22 to 1.70 posterior to bregma), though the locations were within the CeA. A representative coronal section is shown in Figure 20B.



Figure 20: Histological confirmation of the microinjection sites.

(A) Coronal diagrams were modified from a mouse brain atlas (Franklin and Paxinos 1997) illustrating the placements of atropine-injected cannulae in 14 CRH-COE-Cam mice. Red squares and blue circles represent injection sites in homozygous and control animals, respectively. (B) A representative cresyl violet-stained coronal section.

5.2 Determination of extracellular ACh concentrations by quantitative microdialysis (study II)

5.2.1 Histological verification of targeted sites

Figure 21 shows the results from the histological analysis of microdialysis sites. Only CRH-COE-Cam mice that had the probe located within the CeA were included in the subsequent analysis. Probe locations spanned from 1.06 to 1.46 mm posterior to bregma. A series of three coronal diagrams indicates the location of microdialysis sites for each of the animals used for the ACh quantification (Figure 21A). A representative coronal section is shown in Figure 21B, with an arrow pointing to the tip of the microdialysis membrane.



Figure 21: Histological confirmation of microdialysis sites.

(A) Coronal diagrams were modified from a mouse brain atlas (Franklin and Paxos 1997) to show the locations of microdialysis sites from 24 CRH-COE-Cam mice. Red and blue vertical lines represent microdialysis probe membranes in homozygous and control animals, respectively. Numbers below each coronal diagram indicate 1.06 mm to 1.46 posterior to bregma. Vertical lines are drawn to scale.
(B) A representative cresyl violet-stained coronal section with a black arrow pointing at the tip of the microdialysis membrane.

5.2.2 ACh release in the CeA of CRH-COE Cam mice

To assess whether limbic ACh is differently released in homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice compared with control littermates, extracellular ACh levels were measured in the CeA during two experimental days.

On the first experimental day, extracellular levels of ACh in the CeA were analysed under baseline conditions in homozygous (hom) and control (con) CRH-COE-Cam mice. Figure 22A shows the time course of changes in ACh release across 24 hours.



Figure 22: Basal ACh release from the CeA in homozygous (hom; n=12) and control littermate (con; n=12) CRH-COE-Cam mice.

(A) Time course changes in ACh levels measured for 24 hours. Data points represent 1 hour mean \pm SEM and the shaded area indicates the dark period. Two-way ANOVA, revealed significant effects of 'time' (P<0.0001) and 'genotype' (P=0.0005) on ACh release and their interaction across 24 hours (P=0.002). Bonferroni's test, applied for *post-hoc* analysis, showed that the significant difference in ACh release between the genotypes was greater during the dark period; *P<0.05, **P<0.01. (B) and (C) Mean ACh release during the 12 hours light and dark period. Values are the 12 hour means \pm SEM. L and D indicate the light and dark period, respectively. *P<0.05, **P<0.001, assessed by two-way ANOVA followed Bonferroni's test.

In both genotypes, extracellular concentrations of ACh showed a clear diurnal rhythm with higher levels during the dark when compared to the light period of the 24 hours light-dark cycle (P<0.0001, Figure 22A and B). As shown in Figure 22A, ACh levels during the light period were constantly low with a slight increase towards the

beginning of the dark period. At dark onset, ACh levels increased rapidly during the first hours and remained at a constant high level until they further increased towards the end of the dark period. Extracellular levels of ACh in the pooled 12 hours sample from the light period significantly differed from the pooled ACh levels 12 hours sample obtained from the dark period (Figure 22B). Clearly, the ACh levels in the CeA were increased during the dark period in control and homozygous mice (P<0.0001). Even though the circadian rhythm was similarly represented in both groups of animals, significant differences were detected between lines (P=0.0005). In fact, homozygous mice showed constantly elevated ACh levels in comparison to controls with larger differences in the dark when compared to the light period (Figure 22A). As shown in Figure 22C homozygous mice exhibited a greater overall 12 hour means of ACh release compared to controls during the light period (P<0.05), a finding observed more prominently in the dark period (P<0.001).

On the second experimental day, the effects of SD on amygdala ACh release were analyzed in homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice. SD immediately increased extracellular ACh levels within the first hour, which was sustained over the entire 6 hour procedure in both groups (Figure 23A). Significant differences were found in ACh release between SD and baseline in controls (P<0.05), which were even greater in homozygous mice (P<0.01). When SD ended, ACh release dropped immediately and in the subsequent 6 hours of recovery returned gradually to baseline levels. During the recovery period, only homozygous mice showed significantly higher ACh release when compared to baseline conditions (P<0.05). Paired t test revealed that 6 hours mean ACh release during the recovery period (15:00-21:00) was significantly greater than during baseline condition in homozygous mice (P<0.05) but not in controls (P=0.5383; Figure 23B). During the subsequent dark period, the SD effect was not detected and extracellular concentration of Ach returned to baseline levels in both control and homozygous mice (Figure 23A).



Figure 23: Comparison of amygdala ACh release between baseline and SD day in homozygous (hom; n=6) and control littermate (con; n=6) CRH-COE-Cam mice.

(A) Time course of changes in ACh levels measured for 24 hours. Data points represent 1 hour mean \pm SEM and the shaded area indicates the dark period. Two-way ANOVA revealed significant differences in ACh release between day 1 and day 2 in control (P<0.05) and homozygous (P<0.01) mice during 6 hours of SD. Bonferroni's test showed that the significant difference in ACh release between day 1 and 2 was greater in homozygous than controls; *P<0.05, **P<0.01. During recovery and the subsequent dark period, two-way ANOVA did not detect significant differences in controls, however homozygous mice did show significantly differences during recovery (P<0.05) but not in the dark period. (B) Mean ACh release during the 6 hours of recovery period. Values are the 6 hour means \pm SEM. *P<0.01, assessed by paired t test.

If compared with controls, homozygous CRH-COE-Cam mice showed constantly elevated ACh levels in comparison to controls during 6 hours of SD, recovery and the subsequent dark period (P<0.05). Furthermore, the significant difference between genotypes elicited by SD during the recovery period was larger than that during the baseline day (Figure 24A). In contrast to the baseline day, a further analysis on the SD experimental day revealed that the elevated ACh levels in homozygous mice

were greater during the light than the dark period. Moreover the mean values of the extracellular levels of ACh during SD (P<0.01) and recovery (P<0.05) in homozygous mice were significantly higher than in controls (Figure 24B).



Figure 24: ACh release from the CeA on a SD day in homozygous (hom; n=6) and control littermate (con; n=6) CRH-COE-Cam mice.

(A) Time course changes in ACh levels measured on 24 hours. Data points represents 1 hour mean \pm SEM, and the shaded area indicates the dark period. Two-way ANOVA revealed significant effects of 'genotype' on ACh release during SD, recovery and the subsequent dark period (P<0.05). Bonferroni's test, was applied for *post-hoc* analysis, *P<0.05, **P<0.01. (B) Mean ACh release during the SD and recovery period. Values are the 6 hour means \pm SEM. *P<0.05, *P<0.01, assessed by two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's test.

5.2.2 Correlation of ACh levels with spontaneous locomotor activity

In addition to ACh release measurements, spontaneous locomotor activity was monitored in the same subjects since locomotor activation appears to be associated with an increase in ACh levels (Pepeu and Giovannini, 2004)

To investigate whether ACh release in the amygdala correlates with locomotor activity as previously shown for the release from the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and striatum (Day et al., 1991, Mizuno et al., 1991), ACh levels during the 8 hours post-SD (15:00-23:00) were compared with locomotor activity counts. ACh levels determined from a 60-minutes microdialysis sample were matched with locomotor activity counts at their corresponding 60-minutes time bin for homozygous and control animals. To adjust interindividual differences in absolute ACh levels in dialysates, the 8 hours data were normalized (2 hours pool of 6 animals divided by the 8 hours mean of each animal). Figure 25 shows the positive correlation between extracellular ACh levels and spontaneous locomotor activity in homozygous (r=0.36) and control (r=0.33) mice. A simple regression line is drawn across the plot for each genotype (hom and con, n=48; Pearson product moment correlation P<0.0001).



Figure 25: Graphical correlation between ACh levels and spontaneous locomotor activity in homozygous (n=6) and control littermate (n=6) CRH-COE-Cam mice.

Comparison between ACh levels during the 8 hours post-SD period with locomotor activity counts. ACh levels in CeA from a 60 minutes sample were matched with the activity counts in their corresponding 60 minutes bin. A simple regression line is drawn across the plot for each genotype (hom and con, n = 48; Pearson product moment correlation P<0.0001).
After confirming a positive correlation between ACh levels and spontaneous locomotor activity in both genotypes, tests were carried out to investigate whether homozygous mice display increased behavioural activity affecting the ACh release in the amygdala. As shown in Table 1 during both light and dark period homozygous and control mice showed a similar magnitude in behavioral activity. Furthermore, 6 hours of SD did not evoke any genotype effects on locomotor activity. Therefore, the elevated ACh measured in CRH-COE-Cam homozygous was not derived from the differences in locomotor activity.

Parameter	CON	НОМ
Mean behavioral activity during the light period (counts/h)	14.6 ± 1.5 n=6	16.3 ± 2.3 n=6
Mean behavioral activity during the dark period (counts/h)	45.9 ± 3,8 n=6	46.2 ± 5 n=6
Mean behavioral activity after 6 h of SD (counts/h)	20.6 ± 0,9 n=6	19.7 ± 2 n=6

Table 1: Spontaneous locomotor activity during the light and dark period and after SD in homozygous (n=6) and controls littermates (n=6) CRH-COE-Cam mice.

Behavioral activity (light: 09:00-13:00; dark: 21:00-01:00; after SD: 15:00-23:00) was scored from video imaging in 1 minute intervals. Maximal numbers of counts are 60 counts/h. Data represent mean ± SEM.

5.3 Efferent CRH activation from the amygdala to the brainstem (study III and IV)

Previously neuroanatomical studies have described that CRH neurons from the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) have direct connections with REMS regulating brainstem areas (e.g. laterodorsal tegmental nucleus, parabrachial nucleus) (Amaral et al., 1992, Valentino et al., 1994, Gray and Bingaman, 1996, Quattrochi et al., 1998, Morrison et al., 2000). To further investigate the relationship between CRH and ACh upon REMS regulation, study III and IV examined how CRH in the limbic system influences neuronal activity in the brainstem where cholinergic neurons relevant for REMS regulation locate densely (Figure 26).



Figure 26: Location of important REM sleep regulating structures.

(A) A vertical line on the sagittal diagram of the mouse brain (Franklin and Paxos 1997) delineates the site of the REMS regulating structures within the brainstem. (B) A coronal diagram was modified from a mouse brain (Franklin and Paxos 1997) to show the locations of the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDT), the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus (SLD), the locus coeruleus (LC) and the parabrachial nucleus (PBN).

5.3.1 The effect of CRH microinjection into the CeA on c-Fos expression

In this study performed in C57BL/6J mice (n=15), c-Fos expression, used as an indirect marker of neuronal activity, was examined in two cholinergic brainstem REMS regulating structures 1 hour following unilateral CRH injection (1 ng or 10 ng) into the CeA. Furthermore, c-Fos immunostaining was combined with immunostaining for ACh transferase (ChAT) in order to identify colocalization with cholinergic neurons in two specific structures, which are the LDT and the SLD.

As shown in figure 27 and 28, c-Fos immunoreactivity observed in saline injected animals was low in the LDT and SLD areas; nevertheless when animals were injected with CRH at either dose the number of c-Fos positive cells significantly increased in a dose dependent manner. Specifically, there were significant differences in the number of c-Fos cells induced by the lower dose of CRH (1 ng; P<0.05) or the higher dose of CRH (10 ng; P<0.001) compared to saline in both LDT and SLD areas. A significant increase in the number of c-Fos positive cells was also found in 10 ng injected animals compared to 1 ng injected animals (P<0.01) in both areas.



Figure 27: Effects of CRH microinjection into the CeA on c-Fos expression in C57BL/6J mice (n=15).

Height ± SEM of columns indicates number of c-Fos cells 1 hour after the injection in the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDT) and in the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus (SLD). *P<0.05, **P<0.01, assessed by one-way ANOVA with the factor 'treatment' followed by Bonferroni's test.





Dark-field photomicrographs showing c-Fos and ChAT positive neurons in LDT and SLD after saline or CRH (1 ng and 10 ng) microinjection into the amygdala. Microinjections at either dose increased the number of c-Fos positive cells but none of them were identified as cholinergic. 20x magnification.

Even though CRH increased the number of c-Fos positive cells in the LDT and SLD, none of them were identified as cholinergic (Figure 27 and 28). As described in the Materials and Methods section, c-Fos positive cells were determined by a red

punctuate nucleus whereas the cholinergic neurons were determined by a green fluorescent cytoplasm (Figure 29). In case of double-labeled cells, the red punctuate nucleus should be surrounded by green fluorescent cytoplasm. However colocalization of c-Fos/ChAT positive neurons was not detected in any of the 15 mice tested in this study.





5.3.2 C-Fos expression in CRH-COE Cam mice elicited by SD

The present study performed in CRH-COE Cam mice aimed to prove a different neuronal activation in cholinergic and non-cholinergic brainstem structures in response to 6 hours of SD across genotypes (controls con=5; homozygous hom=4). Differently from the previous study, c-Fos and ChAT cells were labeled with DAB and Nova Red, respectively (see Materials and Methods), with the intention to enhance the intensity of the staining. C-Fos expression was examined in the PBN, the LDT, the LC and in the amygdala as well. Furthermore, doubled-labeled c-Fos/Chat positive neurons were counted in the LDT.

During baseline condition c-Fos expression was in general low, and no differences were found across genotypes in respect to the number of c-Fos cells in all brainstem structures analyzed (LDT, PBN, LC; Figure 30). However, in response to SD both genotypes showed an increase in c-Fos positive neurons (Figures 30, 31, 32 and 33), in comparison to baseline. Specifically, in homozygous mice the number of c-Fos

cells was significantly increased in LDT, PBN (P<0.01) and LC (P<0.05) compared to baseline, while in controls the number of c-Fos labeled cells was also significantly increased in the same structures (LDT and LC, P<0.01; PBN, P<0.05).

Homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice with SD, however, showed significantly more c-Fos cells expression within the LDT and PBN (P<0.01) in comparison to their control littermates, whereas in the noradrenergic LC the c-Fos expression was similarly seen in both genotypes (Figure 30).

Within the cholinergic LDT, the number of c-Fos/ChAT positive neurons were undetectable in both genotypes during baseline condition but numerous in response to SD both genotypes showed a significant increase in comparison to baseline (P<0.001; Figure 34A). As illustrated in Figure 34, doubled-labeled cells were significantly increased after SD in homozygous mice as compared to their control littermates (P<0.01).

Additionally, c-Fos expression within the amygdala was analyzed (Figure 35). Similarly to the brainstem structures, in response to SD both genotypes showed an increase in single c-Fos positive neurons in comparison to baseline (P<0.01; Figure 35 and 36). However, homozygous mice showed higher c-Fos expression after SD when compared to their control littermates (P<0.05). No differences were found with respect to the number of c-Fos positive cells during baseline condition across genotypes.





Number of c-Fos positive neurons counted in three sections in control (con; n=5) and homozygous (hom; n=4) mice during baseline (bas) and SD condition. Height \pm SEM of columns indicates number of c-Fos cells. *P<0.05, **P<0.01 assessed by unpaired t-test.



LATERODORSAL TEGMENTAL NUCLEUS (LDT)

Figure 31: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the LDT.

In non-SD (**A** and **B**) control and homozygous mice only few immunoreactive cells were detected, whereas abundant c-Fos positive cells were seen in both SD animals (**B** and **C**). 10x magnification.



PARABRACHIAL NUCLEUS (PBN)

Figure 32: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the PBN.

In non-SD (**A** and **B**) control and homozygous mice only few immunoreactive cells were detected, whereas abundant c-Fos positive cells were seen in both SD animals (**B** and **C**). 5x magnification.



LOCUS COERULEUS (LC)

Figure 33: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the LC.

In non-SD (**A** and **B**) control and homozygous mice few immunoreactive cells were seen, whereas abundant c-Fos positive cells are seen in both SD animals (**B** and **C**). 10x magnification.



Figure 34: c-Fos/ChAT positive neurons in the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDT) in CRH-COE Cam mice.

SD con

SD hom

bas con

bas hom

(A) and (B) are photomicrographs of a representative homozygous mouse after SD, showing c-Fos (black punctuate nucleus) and ChAT (brown/orange cytoplasmic staining) double staining at LDT level. (B) is a higher magnification of the rectangular box in (A). Note the dense cluster of double-labeled neurons in the LDT of a homozygous mouse after SD. The black and the blue arrows indicate the single stained c-Fos and ChAT, respectively. The red arrows indicate the double-labeled neurons (c-Fos/ChAT). 20x magnification in A and 40x magnification in B. (C) Number of double-labeled c-Fos/ChAT positive neurons counted in 6 sections in control (con; n=5) and homozygous (hom; n=4) mice during baseline (bas) and SD condition. Height \pm SEM of columns indicates number of c-Fos/Chat cells *P<0.01, **P<0.001 assessed by unpaired t-test.



Figure 35: c-Fos positive neurons within the central nucleus (CeA) and the basolateral (BLA) amygdala in CRH-COE Cam mice.

Number of c-Fos positive neurons counted in three sections in control (con; n=5) and homozygous (hom; n=4) mice during baseline (bas) and SD condition. Height \pm SEM of columns indicates number of c-Fos cells. *P<0.05, **P<0.001 assessed by unpaired t-test.

AMYGDALA (BLA and CeA)



Figure 36: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the central nucleus (CeA) and the basolateral (BLA) amygdala.

In non-SD (**A** and **B**) control and homozygous mice only few immunoreactive cells were detected, whereas abundant c-Fos positive cells were seen in both SD animals (**B** and **C**). 5x magnification.

6 Discussion

Previous data characterizing the significant contribution to enhanced REM sleep (REMS) of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) specific to the limbic region (Kimura et al., 2010) were confirmed in the present study. To further explore the role of CRH in REMS regulation and to contribute to a better understanding of the underlying mechanism, three different approaches were conducted to examine the possible involvement of an altered cholinergic activity in sleep alteration occurring in CRH-COE Cam mice.

The main findings of the present study are that upregulated REMS in homozygous forebrain-specific CRH overexpressing mice can be decreased by injecting a muscarinic antagonist into the amygdala. Furthermore, these homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice possess higher extracellular levels of ACh in comparison to their control littermates, whereas spontaneous locomotor activity is similar in both genotypes, thus suggesting that higher ACh release is reflected in REMS enhancement. Finally cholinergic neurons within the brainstem REMS regulating structures become more active in homozygous CRH-COE-Cam mice in response to SD.

The results may indicate that CRH overexpression in the limbic system can lead to higher cholinergic activity and that it contributes to intensifying the mesopontine cholinergic system, which may at least in part result in upregulated REMS.

6.1 Characteristic sleep phenotype in forebrain-specific CRH overexpressing mice

6.1.1 Upregulated REM sleep

Homozygous mice overexpressing CRH within the forebrain (CRH-COE Cam) have a characteristic upregulated REMS compared with controls (Kimura et al., 2010), which could be confirmed in the present study. The corroborated REMS enhancement can

be taken as an endophenotype of increased CRH levels in the forebrain, including limbic structures, which coincides with altered REMS seen in patients with depressive symptoms. Specifically, these patients show an early occurrence of the first REMS period that is represented by a shorter latency and a higher density of eye movement (Figure 37A) (McCarley, 1982, Gottesmann and Gottesman, 2007). Parallels between increased REMS and appearance of depressive phenomena can be generated by common neurobiological control systems which were hypothesized by McCarley and supported by clinical data (Figure 37B) (McCarley, 1982). As in REMS regulation, the control of depressive phenomena involves a balance between the monoaminergic and cholinergic systems. Since the cholinergic system promotes both REMS and depression (Janowsky et al., 1980, Risch et al., 1980, Silberman et al., 1980, Brown, 2008, Lydic, 2008, Watson et al., 2010), the present study hypothesized that CRH overexpression in the forebrain including the limbic structure such as the amygdala affects REMS via an interaction with the cholinergic system.

A EEG MEASURES



Figure 37: EEG measures and neuronal activity in the first cycle of normal and depressed subjects.

(A) Depressed patients show a first REMS period that has shorter latency and a higher density of eye movement. (B) REMS occurs when cholinergic activity becomes dominant with the gradual inhibition of the monoaminergic nuclei. The hypothesized weakened monoaminergic inhibition in depression produces a faster discharge from inhibition of the REMS-promoting cholinergic neurons and a resulting faster onset of REMS with stronger REM activity. Adapted from McCarley, 1982.

6.1.2 Effects of muscarinic antagonist on upregulated REM sleep

Blocking the muscarinic receptors by atropine injection into the amygdala decreased REMS in CRH-COE Cam mice. A similar result was obtained in a previous study performed on mice overexpressing CRH in the entire nervous system (CRH-COE Nes). In that study REMS was reduced by atropine injected intraperitoneally in both control and homozygous mice, but its effects lasted longer with a bigger magnitude in homozygous mice (own data, unpublished). This effect suggested that CRH in the brain may intensify cholinergic activity that results in elevated REMS and raised the question whether enhanced CRH expression in the amygdala of homozygous CRH-

COE Cam mice might similarly stimulate the cholinergic activity and would affect REMS. It is well known that the amygdala is implicated in emotional responses (Gray and Bingaman, 1996) that are closely related to REMS fluctuation. Several lines of evidence involve the amygdala, especially the central nucleus (CeA), in the regulation of REMS. For example inactivating the CeA with muscimol or TTX is able to produce a significant decrease in REMS in rats (Martin and Ghez, 1999, Sanford et al., 2002), whereas electric stimulation or cholinergic activation of the CeA promotes REMS in cats (Smith and Miskiman, 1975, Calvo et al., 1996). An association between amygdala activation and REMS is also proposed by an increase in the discharge rate of CeA neurons in cats during REMS (Frysinger et al., 1988), and by fMRI studies demonstrating that activity in the amygdala and appearance of REMS are correlated in humans (Maquet et al., 1996).

The reduction of REMS found after local microinjection into the CeA of atropine strongly suggests that CeA plays an important role in REMS regulation and support the findings of Calvo and colleagues showing increases in REMS after microinjections of the cholinergic agonist carbachol into CeA in cats (Calvo et al., 1996). A substrate for these effects could be provided by the brainstem REMS regulating areas (e.g. PPT, LDT, LC, PBN and SLD) since efferents from the amygdala are known to project to these areas (Krettek and Price, 1978, Moga and Gray, 1985, Rye et al., 1987, Semba and Fibiger, 1992).

The cholinergic input into the CeA arises from either the basal forebrain or the upper brainstem (Ottersen, 1981, Woolf and Butcher, 1982, Hecker and Mesulam, 1994); alternatively, intrinsic amygdaloid cholinergic neurons might also provide the CeA with cholinergic afferent projections (Nitecka and Frotscher, 1989) which in turn send fibers to the pontine nuclei. Moreover, muscarinic receptors are also concentrated in the CeA indicating that cholinergic/cholinoceptive neurons in the CeA might project to pontine nuclei and may participate in the modulation of REMS (Cortes and Palacios, 1986, Calvo et al., 1996). As shown in the present data, blocking the muscarinic receptor sites by atropine induces a reduction in REMS. Even though atropine has a high affinity for all 5 subtypes of muscarinic receptors (Rang, 2003), the amygdala contains only 3 subtypes, i.e., the inhibitory M_2 and excitatory M_1 and M_3 receptors (Cortes and Palacios, 1986, Mash and Potter, 1986, Spencer et al., 1986, Smith et al., 1991). Muscarinic receptors might modulate the excitatory output from the amygdala to brainstem REMS regulating areas, however the exact interaction between the inhibitory (M_2) and excitatory (M_1 or M_3) muscarinic receptor types in the amygdala is not known.

In homozygous mice, atropine injection reduced REMS up to 6 hours, whereas in control animals REMS declined only for 2 hours during postinjection time. This may indicate that the number of muscarinic receptors blocked by atropine is greater in homozygous than control mice, suggesting that CRH overexpression in the forebrain may intensify the cholinergic system which in turn leads to a decrease in number of functional muscarinic cholinergic receptors in the amygdala.

6.2 Impacts of forebrain CRH overexpression on ACh release in the amygdala

Present microdialysis findings also support the hypothesis that cholinergic activity is higher in forebrain-specific CRH overexpressing mice than controls. Specifically, homozygous CRH-COE Cam mice showed constantly elevated ACh levels in the amygdala compared to controls. ACh release measured in the amygdala might correspond to the release from the terminals of neurons projecting from structures in the forebrain which are providing the main source of cholinergic input to the amygdala (Woolf and Butcher, 2011). In particular, the greatest number of cholinergic projecting neurons is found in the SI, nevertheless scattered cholinergic neurons projecting to the amygdala are also found in the diagonal band of Broca, medial septum and the NB (Mesulam et al., 1983, Woolf et al., 1984). With the exception of the NB, all of the cholinergic forebrain nuclei that are projecting to the amygdala are found to have cholinergic neurons coexpressing the CRHR1 (Sauvage and Steckler, 2001). This suggests that CRH is able to modulate ACh release in the CeA via stimulation of the CRHR1. In fact i.c.v. injections of CRH are reported to increase ACh release through CRHR1 receptor activation, although this was shown in the hippocampus. No directly confirming data are available regarding those effects in the amygdala (Day et al., 1998a, Day et al., 1998b).

To further clarify the effects of CRH on ACh release and to examine if CRH interacts with the cholinergic system through CRHR1, the present study examined the effects of a CRHR1 antagonist (DMP696) on ACh extracellular levels in the CeA in CRH-COE Cam mice (data not shown). Unexpectedly, three days of treatment with CRHR1 antagonist dissolved into drinking water did not show any effects on ACh release in homozygous mice and in controls. This result was in contrast to other findings showing that selective CRHR1 antagonists partly suppress the CRH-induced release of ACh in the hippocampus (Gully et al., 2002, Desvignes et al., 2003). Our result that DMP696 failed to affect ACh release could be explained by a different manner how CRH modulates ACh release levels in the amygdala. Besides acting directly on the cholinergic system via the CRHR1, CRH has also been reported to decrease high-affinity choline uptake, resulting in increased ACh release (Lai and Carino, 1990). On the other hand, the antagonist dose used in the present study might not have been sufficient to block the CRH signalling.

Present findings further demonstrated that both genotypes have a positive correlation with the levels of ACh in the CeA and spontaneous locomotor activity. As reported by Buzáki and colleagues, spontaneous movements are known to activate the cholinergic forebrain area in rodents; compared to the immobile condition neurons in this area are found to increase their firing frequency during spontaneous activity compared to the immobile condition (Buzsaki et al., 1988). Furthermore, behavioural arousal has been shown to induce increases in ACh release in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus and striatum (Day et al., 1991, Mizuno et al., 1991, Pepeu and Giovannini, 2004). Despite the considerable increase of ACh release in homozygous mice compared to their control littermates, both genotypes showed similar spontaneous locomotor activity. Therefore, enhanced ACh release in homozygous mice did not result from an increase in locomotor activity. Higher amount of ACh in homozygous mice might reflect their sleep phenotype of enhanced REMS but not locomotor activity. These results further emphasize that CRH overexpression in the amygdala may contribute to the enhanced affinity with the cholinergic system, resulting in a long-term enhancement of REMS.

6.3 Amygdaloid CRH and pontine cholinergic activation

The brainstem contains several key structures responsible for the initiation and maintenance of REMS (Jouvet, 1962), and is one of the targets of amygdaloid projections (Semba and Fibiger, 1992). Activation of CRH receptors (CRHR) by microinjection of CRH into CeA induced an increase of c-Fos expression in cholinergic structures such as the LDT and the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus (SLD) in normal C57BL/6J mice. This finding is in line with another study reporting an increase in single labeled c-Fos cells within the cholinergic brainstem after CRH infusion into the CeA of rats (Wiersma et al., 1998), supporting the hypothesis that limbic CRH projecting to brainstem REMS regulating structures is able to influence them. The CeA is known to project via the amygdalofugal pathway to several brainstem areas including the LDT area (Semba and Fibiger, 1992), the latter is known to coexpress CRH (Sauvage and Steckler, 2001). In addition, a major CRH pathway from the CeA projects to the cholinergic area within the brainstem (Amaral et al., 1992, Valentino et al., 1994). CRH is capable of activating these areas in the brainstem which results in muscle atonia that is one of the features accompanying REMS (Lai and Siegel, 1992).

The amygdala contains an abundance of CRH and its receptors (Merchenthaler, 1984, De Souza et al., 1985). Specifically, CRHR1 is the only subtype expressed in the CeA (Steckler and Holsboer, 1999), therefore the activation of brainstem structures in response to CRH injection could be mediated via this CRHR subtype.

Unexpectedly, none of the activated cells in the LDT and SLD were identified as cholinergic in response to CRH injection. Considering the high increase of c-Fos expression within the cholinergic cell area in comparison to saline injection, the lack of cholinergic neurons coexpressing c-Fos is somewhat unexpected. Both structures contain many cholinergic neurons (Sakai, 2012) which can coexpress c-Fos even in control conditions (Maloney et al., 1999). Therefore, this lack of cholinergic/c-Fos coexpressing neurons might have been caused by a low intensity of fluorescence labeling. In addition, the c-Fos staining method can also fail to reveal activated neurons (Kovacs, 1998). Another explanation could be that the neurons within the LDT and SLD are composed of other than cholinergic cells. In fact, there is evidence that a great part of the SLD neurons is glutamatergic and is able to trigger REMS

when activated (Clement et al., 2011, Luppi et al., 2011, Luppi et al., 2012). Moreover cholinergic LDT neurons are also known to be codistributed with the GABAergic neurons (Ford et al., 1995).

6.4 Effects of forebrain CRH overexpression on the cholinergic brainstem in response to SD

After confirming a significant influence of amygdaloid CRH on REMS regulating brainstem area in normal C57BL/6J mice, further findings in CRH-COE Cam mice proved that CRH overexpression in the forebrain is able to intensify the cholinergic activity within the brainstem in response of SD. Consistent with several studies examining c-Fos expression after physiological sleep and SD (Cirelli et al., 1995, Ledoux et al., 1996, Basheer et al., 1997), all brain structures of both genotypes examined in the present study showed low c-Fos expression reflecting a very low neuronal activation during baseline, whereas we observed an increase when the animals were kept awake for 6 hours. These results suggest that neurons in these areas are activated by forced wakefulness and might reflect a sleep need.

The low c-Fos staining after variable periods of sleep that included REMS episodes suggests that physiological REMS is not associated with c-Fos expression (Cirelli and Tononi, 2000). Nevertheless, a number of different non-pharmacological methods have been used to increase the duration of REMS periods in order to identify neuronal populations that are "activated" (Cirelli, 1999, Maloney et al., 1999, 2000, Verret et al., 2005). Specifically, these methods use REMS deprivation techniques in order to induce a long REMS rebound period. However, most previously applied selective REM SD methods such as the inverted "flower pot technique" or the "disk-over-water apparatus" are in fact stressful procedures that can induce a distinct activation of the HPA axis (Kovalzon and Tsibulsky, 1984, Coenen and van Luijtelaar, 1985, Suchecki et al., 1998). In order to avoid an additional stressor that could interfere with the neuronal activity of the examined structures, the present study used the gentle handling total SD method as a tool for building REMS need.

Interestingly homozygous mice showed significantly more c-Fos expression in the amygdala in response to SD when compared to control littermates. Since CRH overexpressing mice posses a higher REMS drive (Kimura et al., 2010), the increased neuronal activity seen in the amygdala in homozygous mice might reflect a REMS need and could contribute to initiate REMS after SD by its influence on brainstem structures. Similarly, SD increased c-Fos expression more in homozygous mice in the cholinergic LDT and PBN in comparison to controls, whereas c-Fos expression in the noradrenergic LC was comparable in both genotypes. The greater c-Fos induction after SD seen in homozygous mice suggests that the degree of activated cells in the REMS-related areas could provide an index of REMS need. On the contrary, as confirmed by the reciprocal interaction model (McCarley and Hobson, 1975), the noradrenergic LC in homozygous mice does not seem to play a major role in the regulation of REMS propensity and therefore no differences in genotype effects are observed after SD. Importantly, the higher number of c-Fos positive cells within the LDT in homozygous mice was found to be cholinergic, suggesting that the higher cholinergic activation could be responsible for the increased REMS drive found in the homozygous genotype.

In this model, CRH in the forebrain intensifies the cholinergic system within the brainstem, which may at least in part result in upregulated REMS after SD. This pathway, as limbic CRH activates cholinergic brainstem cells, may also apply to a mechanism of how stress increases REMS during recovery from SD.

7 General conclusions and outlook

The present study explored the role of CRH in REMS enhancement and provided a better understanding of the underlying mechanism. The confirmed REMS phenotype found in CRH-COE Cam mice suggested that overexpressed CRH in a specific structure of the limbic system could contribute to enhanced REMS by affecting a specific neurotransmitter activity known to play a role in REMS generation. In fact, CRH overexpression appears capable of stimulating the limbic cholinergic activity which in turn may lead to upregulated REMS. As seen in depressed patients, this animal model may possess hyper-cholinergic sensitivity that may contribute to REMS disinhibition. Furthermore, forebrain overexpressed CRH is also able to influence the neuronal activation in the brainstem where cholinergic and non-cholinergic neurons relevant for REMS regulation locate densely. Interestingly, in this animal model, CRH intensifies the mesopontine cholinergic system, whereas the monoaminergic system seems not to be affected, indicating the importance of ACh in mediating the effects of CRH on REMS-on cells. Increased activation of the cholinergic system by limbic CRH may thus be involved in REMS upregulation.

This thesis emphasizes that REMS upregulation seen in depressed patients might be the product of complex interactions between CRH and the cholinergic system. Further investigations are still necessary to complete the picture of the mechanism by which CRH influence REMS regulating structures.

According to the result, ACh release in the amygdala of CRH-COE Cam mice is increased, suggesting a higher cholinergic activity in the forebrain. A repetition of the microdialysis experiment targeting other cholinergic brain areas could confirm that CRH overexpression is able to induce ACh release. Since cholinergic neurons in the SI provide the major projections to the amygdala, immunohistochemistry for choline acetyltransferase could evidence a difference in the number of these neurons which contribute to the differential ACh release in homozygous amygdala.

The role of CRHR1 in mediating the interactions between CRH and ACh in CRH-COE Cam mice should be further explored. For instance, an i.p. pretreatment with the CRHR1 antagonist could reduce the CRH-mediated ACh release in the amygdala and prove that this effect is CRHR1 mediated. Furthermore, a doubleimmunohistochemical procedure could detect differences between genotypes in the number of cholinergic neurons co-expressing CRHR1 in the cholinergic basal forebrain.

It was shown that the cholinergic system is affected by CRH overexpression; however further interactions of CRH and its receptors with other different neurotransmitter systems could exist in the CRH-COE Cam mouse model. Similarly to depression, a weakened monoamigergic system might also result in REMS disinhibition.

8 List of Abbreviations

ACh	Acetylcholine
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
AChRs	Acetylcholine receptors
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
ANS	Autonomic nervous system
AVP	Arginin vasopressin
BNST	Bed nucleus of the stria terminalis
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CeA	Central nucleus of the amygdala
Ch	Choline
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
ChO	Choline oxidase
CNS	Central nervous system
Con	Control
CRF	Corticotropin-releasing factor
CRH	Corticotropin-releasing hormone
CRHR1	Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type 1
CRHR2	Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type 2
CRHRs	Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DR	Dorsal raphe
EEG	Electroencelography
EMG	Electromyography
GHRH	Growth-hormone-releasing hormone
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
HDB	Horizontal limb of the diagonal band of Broca

Hom	Homozygous
HPA axis	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis
HPLC	High pressure liquid chromatography
i.c.v.	Intracerebroventricular
i.v.	Intravenous
IS	Immobilization stress
LC	Locus coeruleus
LDT	Laterodorsal tegmental nucleus
LH	Lateral hypothalamus
LPT	Lateral pontine tegumentum
MnPO	Median preoptic area
MR	Mineralocorticoid receptor
MRN	Median raphe nucleus
mRNA	Messenger RNA
AChRs	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors
AChRs NB	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis
AChRs NB NREMS	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep
AChRs NB NREMS PAG	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC PPT	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC PPT PVN	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus Paraventricular nucleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC PPT PVN REM	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus Paraventricular nucleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC PPT PVN REM REMS	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus Paraventricular nucleus Paraventricular nucleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC PPT PVN REM REMS RN	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus Paraventricular nucleus Rapid-eye movement Rapid-eye movement sleep Raphe nucleus
AChRs NB NREMS PAG PBN PC POMC PPT PVN REM REMS RN	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors Nucleus basalis Non-rapid eye movement sleep Periaqueductal grey Parabrachial nucleus Precoeruleus Pro-opiomelanocortin Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus Paraventricular nucleus Rapid-eye movement Rapid-eye movement sleep Raphe nucleus

TMN	Tuberomammillary nucleus
ТТХ	Tetrodotoxin
VAChT	Vescicular acetylcholine transporter
VDB	Vertical limb of the diagonal band of broca
VLPO	Ventrolateral preoptic area
VPAG	Ventral periaqueductal gray

9 List of Figures

Figure 1: Representative hypnograms from a human and a mouse	.5
Figure 2: Vigilance state-specific polygraphic recording of rodent sleep	.6
Figure 3: The two process model	.7
Figure 4: Schematic representation of the reciprocal interaction model of REMS	
regulation	11
Figure 5: Schematic representation of the flip-flop switch model for REMS regulatio	n
	12
Figure 6: Bionsynthesis and degradation of acetylcholine	16
Figure 7: Schematic representation of cholinergic neurons and their projections	19
Figure 8: HPA axis.	23
Figure 9: Distribution of CRH-expressing cells in the central nervous system	26
Figure 10: Dorsal scheme of the mouse skull and the five-pin connector	38
Figure 11: Dorsal scheme of mice skulls and locations of the holes in the	
microdialysis and CRH injection study	39
Figure 12: Microinjections apparatus	41
Figure 13: Schematic representation of the atropine injection schedule.	42
Figure 14: Schematic diagram illustrating the microdialysis setup	46
Figure 15: Schematic representation of the schedule for the microdialysis experime	nt
	48
Figure 16: Enzymatic conversion of acetylcholine and choline and electrochemical	
detection of hydrogen peroxide	50
Figure 17: Example of calibration curve for acetylcholine and separation of	
acetylcholine and choline	51

Figure 18: Sleep-wake distribution in homozygous and control littermate CRH-COE	Ξ-
Cam mice under baseline conditions.	55
Figure 19: Effects of atropine microinjection into the CeA on REMS in homozygous	
and control littermate CRH-COE-Cam mice.	57
Figure 20: Histological confirmation of the microinjection sites.	59
Figure 21: Histological confirmation of microdialysis sites	60
Figure 22: Basal ACh release from the CeA in homozygous and control littermate	
CRH-COE-Cam mice	62
Figure 23: Comparison of amygdala ACh release between baseline and SD day in	
homozygous and control littermate CRH-COE-Cam mice	64
Figure 24: ACh release from the CeA on a SD day in homozygous (hom; n=6) and	
control littermate (con; n=6) CRH-COE-Cam mice	65
Figure 25: Graphical correlation between ACh levels and spontaneous locomotor	
activity in homozygous and control littermate CRH-COE-Cam mice	66
Figure 26: Location of important REM sleep regulating structures	68
Figure 27: Effects of CRH microinjection into the CeA on c-Fos expression in	
C57BL/6J mice	69
Figure 28: Example of c-Fos and ChAT positive neurons C57BL/6J mice	70
Figure 29: Example of C-Fos and ChAT positive neurons	71
Figure 30: c-Fos positive neurons in the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDT),	
parabrachial nucleus and in the locus coeruleus (LC) in CRH-COE Carr	ı
mice	73
Figure 31: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in	
homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the LDT	74
Figure 32: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in	
homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the PBN	75

Figure 33: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in
homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the LC76
Figure 34: c-Fos/ChAT positive neurons in the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDT)
in CRH-COE Cam mice77
Figure 35: c-Fos positive neurons within the central nucleus (CeA) and the
basolateral (BLA) amygdala in CRH-COE Cam mice78
Figure 36: Photomicrographs of SD-induced or spontaneous c-Fos expression in
homozygous and control CRH-COE-Cam mice within the central nucleus
(CeA) and the basolateral (BLA) amygdala
Figure 37: EEG measures and neuronal activity in the first cycle of normal and
depressed subjects82
Table 1: Spontaneous locomotor activity during the light and dark period and after
SD in homozygous and control littermate CRH-COE-Cam mice67

10 Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, during the years 2009-2013.

I would like to thank Professor Florian Holsboer for giving me the opportunity carry out my PhD thesis in this excellent institute.

I would like to thank Professor Rainer Landgraf for taking over my supervision at the LMU and Professor Christian Leibold for his kind willingness to be the second reviewer of my thesis.

I am thankful to Dr. Jan Deussing for giving me the chance to work with the CRH-COE Cam mouse model.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Mayumi Kimura, my direct supervisor at the department of Neurogenetics of sleep at the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, for guiding me through this project, her support, and for allowing me ample room of freedom. I also thank her for her nice and always friendly attitude, which created a pleasant working environment.

I am really thankful to Cornelia Flachskamm for helping me throughout my PhD by sharing her knowledge and by providing excellent technical assistance. This work could not have existed without you!

I am very greatful to all the members of the research group. Christoph for his critical advices and his suggestions, but also for the great time in all conference trips. Mary for always being ready to lend a helping hand, for being there in difficult periods and also for her friendship and fun outside the lab. Deependra and Stephanie for always being so nice and for their support.

I would also like to thank some special persons I met inside and outside the institute. My love goes to: Anna, Aurelio, Davide, Este, Guillaume, Mazen, Max, Yannick, Charis and my fabulous friend Sara. Thank you all for the emotional help, the smiles and hugs, and all the nice moments we shared. I am lucky to have met Vladia. I thank her with all my heart for all her help, support and friendship. You are the best!

A very special thanks goes to my fantastic friends who indirectly contributed to the accomplishment of my work with their love and psychological help: Giulia, Marcello, Marco, Angela, Serena, Virginia, Laura C., Stefania, Laura B. and Mathias.

I thank my sunshine, Simon, for reminding me that life is beautiful.

Above all, I thank my parents, for their endless love, patience and support.

11 Curriculum Vitae

Personal details

Last name:	Curzi
First names:	Maria Letizia
Date of Birth:	07.02.1984
Place of Birth:	Delft (NL)
Nationality:	Italian

Education

2009-2013		PhD student in the research group: Neurogenetics of Sleep Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany
		Thesis: "The role of corticotropin-releasing hormone in REM sleep regulation: A possible mechanism through the cholinergic system"
2002-2008		ALMA MATER STUDIORUM University of Bologna Department of Biology Bologna, Italy
	2008	Master in Biological and Health Sciences
		Thesis in Physiology: "The Influence of osmoregulation on wake-sleep cycle".
	2006	Bachelor in Biological Sciences
		Thesis in Pharmacology: "Misuse of antimicrobial agents in five Italian hospitals"
2002		European School of Munich
		Munich, Germany
		Baccalaureate

Awards and Grants

2012	"Travel Grant for Young Researchers 2012" for a training visit at the institute of Biomedicine, University of Helsinki (FI) (sponsored by ESRS)
2011	World sleep 2011 Kyoto travel award (sponsored by the World Sleep Federation)
2010	Certification in "Sleep Research and Sleep Medicine Education Program European Sleep research Society" (awarded by the European Union Marie Curie Training Program)
Posters	
2013	Kimura M, Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Holsboer F, Deussing JM. Forebrain CRH overexpression facilitates activation of mesopontine cholinergic neurons in response to sleep deprivation. Neuroscience 2013, San Diego.
2012	Kimura M, Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Holsboer F, Deussing JM. Cholinergic mediation of enhanced REM sleep in forebrain-specific CRH overexpressing mice. Neuroscience 2012, New Orleans.
2012	Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Deussing JM, Kimura M. REM sleep and cholinergic hyperactivity in forebrain specific CRH-overexpressing mice. 21 st Congress of the ESRS, Paris.
2011	Curzi M.L, Flachskamm C, Deussing J.M, Kimura M. Is enhanced REM sleep in conditional CRH-overexpressing mice due to cholinergic activation? World Sleep 2011, Kyoto.
2010	Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Deussing JM, Kimura M. Cholinergic mediation of enhanced REM sleep in conditional CRH-overexpressing mice. 20 th Congress of the ESRS, Lisbon.

Publications

- 2013 Jakubcakova V, Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Hambsch B, Landgraf R, Kimura M. The glycolytic metabolite methylglyoxal induces changes in vigilance by generating low-amplitude non-REM sleep. *Journal of Psychopharmacology* 2013 Nov;27(11):1070-5
- Albu S, Romanowski CPN, Curzi ML, Jakubcakova V, Flachskamm C, Hartmann J, Schmidt MV, Schmidt U, Rein T, Holsboer F, Hausch F, Paez-Pereda M, Kimura M. Deficiency of FK506-binding protein (FKBP51) alters sleep architecture and recovery sleep responses to stress in mice. *Journal of Sleep Research* 2013 Dec 5
- 2013 Jakubcakova V, Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Landgraf, R, Kimura M. Trait anxiety affect sleep via modifying orexin and clock gene expression. (in preparation)
- 2013 Curzi ML, Flachskamm C, Deussing JM, Kimura M. Corticotropin releasing hormone differentially regulates acetylcholine release in the central nucleus of the amygdala: an implication of enhanced REM sleep in conditional CRH-COE mice. (in preparation)

12 References

- Amaral DG, Price JL, Pitkänen A, Carmichael ST (1992) Anatomical organization of the primate amygdaloid complex. In: The Amygdala: Neurobiological Aspects of Emotion, Memory and Mental Dysfunction (JP, A., ed), pp 1-66 New York: Wiley-Liss.
- Ambrosio E, Sharpe LG, Pilotte NS (1997) Regional binding to corticotropin releasing factor receptors in brain of rats exposed to chronic cocaine and cocaine withdrawal. Synapse (New York, NY) 25:272-276.
- Amenta F, Tayebati SK (2008) Pathways of acetylcholine synthesis, transport and release as targets for treatment of adult-onset cognitive dysfunction. Current medicinal chemistry 15:488-498.
- Antoni FA (1986) Hypothalamic Control of Adrenocorticotropin Secretion: Advances since the Discovery of 41-Residue Corticotropin-Releasing Factor. Endocrine reviews 7:351-378.
- Antonijevic IA, Murck H, Bohlhalter S, Frieboes RM, Holsboer F, Steiger A (2000) Neuropeptide Y promotes sleep and inhibits ACTH and cortisol release in young men. Neuropharmacology 39:1474-1481.
- Arai M, Assil IQ, Abou-Samra AB (2001) Characterization of three corticotropinreleasing factor receptors in catfish: a novel third receptor is predominantly expressed in pituitary and urophysis. Endocrinology 142:446-454.
- Arborelius L, Owens MJ, Plotsky PM, Nemeroff CB (1999) The role of corticotropinreleasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. The Journal of endocrinology 160:1-12.
- Arnauld E, Bibene V, Meynard J, Rodriguez F, Vincent JD (1989) Effects of chronic icv infusion of vasopressin on sleep-waking cycle of rats. The American journal of physiology 256:R674-684.
- Arvidsson U, Riedl M, Elde R, Meister B (1997) Vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT) protein: a novel and unique marker for cholinergic neurons in the central and peripheral nervous systems. The Journal of comparative neurology 378:454-467.
- Aserinsky E, Kleitman N (1953) Regularly Occurring Periods of Eye Motility, and Concomitant Phenomena, During Sleep. Science 118:273-274.
- Aston-Jones G, Bloom F (1981) Activity of norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats anticipates fluctuations in the sleep-waking cycle. The Journal of Neuroscience 1:876-886.
- Austin MC, Rice PM, Mann JJ, Arango V (1995) Localization of corticotropinreleasing hormone in the human locus coeruleus and pedunculopontine
tegmental nucleus: an immunocytochemical and in situ hybridization study. Neuroscience 64:713-727.

- Baghdoyan HA (1997) Location and quantification of muscarinic receptor subtypes in rat pons: implications for REM sleep generation. The American journal of physiology 273:R896-904.
- Baghdoyan HA, Lydic R (1999) M2 muscarinic receptor subtype in the feline medial pontine reticular formation modulates the amount of rapid eye movement sleep. Sleep 22:835-847.
- Baghdoyan HA, Monaco AP, Rodrigo-Angulo ML, Assens F, McCarley RW, Hobson JA (1984) Microinjection of neostigmine into the pontine reticular formation of cats enhances desynchronized sleep signs. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 231:173-180.
- Bale TL, Contarino A, Smith GW, Chan R, Gold LH, Sawchenko PE, Koob GF, Vale WW, Lee KF (2000) Mice deficient for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2 display anxiety-like behaviour and are hypersensitive to stress. Nature genetics 24:410-414.
- Bale TL, Vale WW (2004) CRF and CRF receptors: role in stress responsivity and other behaviors. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology 44:525-557.
- Basheer R, Sherin JE, Saper CB, Morgan JI, McCarley RW, Shiromani PJ (1997) Effects of sleep on wake-induced c-fos expression. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 17:9746-9750.
- Benca RM, Obermeyer WH, Thisted RA, Gillin JC (1992) Sleep and psychiatric disorders. A meta-analysis. Archives of general psychiatry 49:651-668; discussion 669-670.
- Berger H (1929) Über das Elektrenkephalogramm des Menschen. Archiv f Psychiatrie 87:527-570.
- Berger RJ, Phillips NH (1995) Energy conservation and sleep. Behavioural brain research 69:65-73.
- Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD (2003) The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain research Brain research reviews 42:33-84.
- Bohlhalter S, Murck H, Holsboer F, Steiger A (1997) Cortisol enhances non-REM sleep and growth hormone secretion in elderly subjects. Neurobiology of aging 18:423-429.
- Boissard R, Gervasoni D, Schmidt MH, Barbagli B, Fort P, Luppi PH (2002) The rat ponto-medullary network responsible for paradoxical sleep onset and maintenance: a combined microinjection and functional neuroanatomical study. The European journal of neuroscience 16:1959-1973.

- Borbély AA (1982) A two process model of sleep regulation. Human neurobiology 1:195-204.
- Borbely AA, Achermann P (2000) Sleep homeostasis and Models of sleep regulation. In: Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine (M. H. Kryger, T. R. a. W. C. D., ed), pp 377-390: W.B. Saunders Co.
- Borbély AA, Achermann P (1999) Sleep homeostasis and models of sleep regulation. Journal of biological rhythms 14:557-568.
- Borbély AA, Tobler I, Hanagasioglu M (1984) Effect of sleep deprivation on sleep and EEG power spectra in the rat. Behavioural brain research 14:171-182.
- Born J, DeKloet ER, Wenz H, Kern W, Fehm HL (1991) Gluco- and antimineralocorticoid effects on human sleep: a role of central corticosteroid receptors. The American journal of physiology 260:E183-188.
- Bourgin P, Lebrand C, Escourrou P, Gaultier C, Franc B, Hamon M, Adrien J (1997) Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide microinjections into the oral pontine tegmentum enhance rapid eye movement sleep in the rat. Neuroscience 77:351-360.
- Bradberry CW (2000) Applications of microdialysis methodology in nonhuman primates: practice and rationale. Critical reviews in neurobiology 14:143-163.
- Bremer F (1935) Cerveau isole et physiologie du sommeil. CR Soc Biol 118:1235-1241.
- Brown RE, McKenna JT, Winston S, Basheer R, Yanagawa Y, Thakkar MM, McCarley RW (2008) Characterization of GABAergic neurons in rapid-eyemovement sleep controlling regions of the brainstem reticular formation in GAD67-green fluorescent protein knock-in mice. The European journal of neuroscience 27:352-363.
- Brown REaM, R.W. (2008) Neuroanatomical and neurochemical basis of wakefulness and REM sleep systems. In: Neurochemistry of sleep and Wakefulness (al., J. M. M. e., ed): Cambridge University Press.
- Buckley NJ, Bonner TI, Brann MR (1988) Localization of a family of muscarinic receptor mRNAs in rat brain. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 8:4646-4652.
- Buckley TM, Schatzberg AF (2005) On the interactions of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis and sleep: normal HPA axis activity and circadian rhythm, exemplary sleep disorders. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 90:3106-3114.
- Butcher LL (1995) Cholinergic neurons and networks In:PaxinosG(ed) The rat nervous system. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Buzsaki G, Bickford RG, Ponomareff G, Thal LJ, Mandel R, Gage FH (1988) Nucleus basalis and thalamic control of neocortical activity in the freely moving rat. The

Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 8:4007-4026.

- Cain ST, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB (1991) Subcellular distribution of corticotropinreleasing-factor-like immunoreactivity in rat central nervous system. Neuroendocrinology 54:36-41.
- Calvo JM, Simon-Arceo K, Fernandez-Mas R (1996) Prolonged enhancement of REM sleep produced by carbachol microinjection into the amygdala. Neuroreport 7:577-580.
- Cannon WB (1929) Bodily changes in pain, hunger, fear and rage. (Appleton, N. Y., ed).
- Canteras NS, Simerly RB, Swanson LW (1995) Organization of projections from the medial nucleus of the amygdala: a PHAL study in the rat. J Comp Neurol 360:213-245.
- Carskadon MD, WC (2011) Normal human sleep: an overview In: Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine (Kryger MH, Roth T, Dement WC, eds). (Co., P. W. B. S., ed), pp 1359-1377.
- Cespuglio R, Marinesco S, Baubet V, Bonnet C, el Kafi B (1995) Evidence for a sleep-promoting influence of stress. Adv Neuroimmunol 5:145-154.
- Chalmers DT, Lovenberg TW, De Souza EB (1995) Localization of novel corticotropin-releasing factor receptor (CRF2) mRNA expression to specific subcortical nuclei in rat brain: comparison with CRF1 receptor mRNA expression. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 15:6340-6350.
- Chang CP, Pearse RV, 2nd, O'Connell S, Rosenfeld MG (1993) Identification of a seven transmembrane helix receptor for corticotropin-releasing factor and sauvagine in mammalian brain. Neuron 11:1187-1195.
- Chang F-C, Opp MR (2001) Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) as a regulator of waking. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 25:445-453.
- Chang FC, Opp MR (1998) Blockade of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors reduces spontaneous waking in the rat. The American journal of physiology 275:R793-802.
- Charmandari E, Tsigos C, Chrousos G (2005) Endocrinology of the stress response. Annual review of physiology 67:259-284.
- Chefer VI, Thompson AC, Zapata A, Shippenberg TS (2009) Overview of brain microdialysis. Current protocols in neuroscience / editorial board, Jacqueline N Crawley [et al] Chapter 7:Unit7 1.
- Chen R, Lewis KA, Perrin MH, Vale WW (1993) Expression cloning of a human corticotropin-releasing-factor receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90:8967-8971.

- Chen Y, Brunson KL, Muller MB, Cariaga W, Baram TZ (2000) Immunocytochemical distribution of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type-1 (CRF(1))-like immunoreactivity in the mouse brain: light microscopy analysis using an antibody directed against the C-terminus. The Journal of comparative neurology 420:305-323.
- Choi DC (2007) Bed nucleus of the stria terminalis subregions differentially regulate hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity: implications for the integration of limbic inputs. J Neurosci 27:2025-2034.
- Chrousos GP (2009) Stress and disorders of the stress system. Nat Rev Endocrinol 5:374-381.
- Chrousos GP, Gold PW (1992) The concepts of stress and stress system disorders. Overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 267:1244-1252.
- Cirelli C, Pompeiano M, Tononi G (1995) Sleep deprivation and c-fos expression in the rat brain. Journal of sleep research 4:92-106.
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2000) On the functional significance of c-fos induction during the sleep-waking cycle. Sleep 23:453-469.
- Cirelli CS, P.J; Tononi, G. (1999) Fos expression after prolonged REM sleep episodes following long-term sleep deprivation. In: WFSRS Congress Dresden, Germany.
- Clement O, Sapin E, Berod A, Fort P, Luppi PH (2011) Evidence that neurons of the sublaterodorsal tegmental nucleus triggering paradoxical (REM) sleep are glutamatergic. Sleep 34:419-423.
- Coenen AM, van Luijtelaar EL (1985) Stress induced by three procedures of deprivation of paradoxical sleep. Physiology & behavior 35:501-504.
- Cole RL, Sawchenko PE (2002) Neurotransmitter regulation of cellular activation and neuropeptide gene expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. J Neurosci 22:959-969.
- Coplan JD, Andrews MW, Rosenblum LA, Owens MJ, Friedman S, Gorman JM, Nemeroff CB (1996) Persistent elevations of cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of corticotropin-releasing factor in adult nonhuman primates exposed to earlylife stressors: implications for the pathophysiology of mood and anxiety disorders. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93:1619-1623.
- Cortes R, Palacios JM (1986) Muscarinic cholinergic receptor subtypes in the rat brain. I. Quantitative autoradiographic studies. Brain research 362:227-238.
- Crawley JN, Olschowka JA, Diz DI, Jacobowitz DM (1985) Behavioral investigation of the coexistence of substance P, corticotropin releasing factor, and acetylcholinesterase in lateral dorsal tegmental neurons projecting to the medial frontal cortex of the rat. Peptides 6:891-901.

- Cullinan WE, Helmreich DL, Watson SJ (1996) Fos expression in forebrain afferents to the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus following swim stress. J Comp Neurol 368:88-99.
- Cullinan WE, Herman JP, Watson SJ (1993) Ventral subicular interaction with the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus: evidence for a relay in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. J Comp Neurol 332:1-20.
- Cullinan WE, Ziegler DR, Herman JP (2008) Functional role of local GABAergic influences on the HPA axis. Brain structure & function 213:63-72.
- Cunningham ET, Sawchenko PE (1988) Anatomical specificity of noradrenergic inputs to the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the rat hypothalamus. J Comp Neurol 274:60-76.
- Dahlstrom A, Fuxe K (1964) Localization of monoamines in the lower brain stem. Experientia 20:398-399.
- Dale HH (1914) The action of certain esters and ethers of choline, and their relation to muscarine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 6:147-190.
- Datta S, Maclean RR (2007) Neurobiological mechanisms for the regulation of mammalian sleep-wake behavior: reinterpretation of historical evidence and inclusion of contemporary cellular and molecular evidence. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 31:775-824.
- Datta S, Quattrochi JJ, Hobson JA (1993) Effect of specific muscarinic M2 receptor antagonist on carbachol induced long-term REM sleep. Sleep 16:8-14.
- Dautzenberg FM, Hauger RL (2002) The CRF peptide family and their receptors: yet more partners discovered. Trends in pharmacological sciences 23:71-77.
- Dautzenberg FM, Kilpatrick GJ, Hauger RL, Moreau J (2001) Molecular biology of the CRH receptors-- in the mood. Peptides 22:753-760.
- Day J, Damsma G, Fibiger HC (1991) Cholinergic activity in the rat hippocampus, cortex and striatum correlates with locomotor activity: An in vivo microdialysis study. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 38:723-729.
- Day JC, Koehl M, Deroche V, Le Moal M, Maccari S (1998a) Prenatal stress enhances stress- and corticotropin-releasing factor-induced stimulation of hippocampal acetylcholine release in adult rats. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 18:1886-1892.
- Day JC, Koehl M, Le Moal M, Maccari S (1998b) Corticotropin-releasing factor administered centrally, but not peripherally, stimulates hippocampal acetylcholine release. Journal of neurochemistry 71:622-629.
- Dayas CV, Buller KM, Crane JW, Xu Y, Day TA (2001) Stressor categorization: acute physical and psychological stressors elicit distinctive recruitment patterns in the amygdala and in medullary noradrenergic cell groups. The European journal of neuroscience 14:1143-1152.

- de Kloet ER (1991) Brain corticosteroid receptor balance and homeostatic control. San Diego, CA, ETATS-UNIS: Elsevier.
- de Kloet ER, Joels M, Holsboer F (2005) Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. Nature reviews Neuroscience 6:463-475.
- de Kloet ER, Karst H, Joëls M (2008) Corticosteroid hormones in the central stress response: Quick-and-slow. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology 29:268-272.
- de Kloet ER, Vreugdenhil E, Oitzl MS, Joels M (1998) Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. Endocr Rev 19:269-301.
- de Lecea L, Kilduff TS, Peyron C, Gao X, Foye PE, Danielson PE, Fukuhara C, Battenberg EL, Gautvik VT, Bartlett FS, 2nd, Frankel WN, van den Pol AN, Bloom FE, Gautvik KM, Sutcliffe JG (1998) The hypocretins: hypothalamusspecific peptides with neuroexcitatory activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95:322-327.
- De Souza EB (1987) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors in the rat central nervous system: characterization and regional distribution. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 7:88-100.
- De Souza EB (1995) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors: physiology, pharmacology, biochemistry and role in central nervous system and immune disorders. Psychoneuroendocrinology 20:789-819.
- De Souza EB, Insel TR, Perrin MH, Rivier J, Vale WW, Kuhar MJ (1985) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors are widely distributed within the rat central nervous system: an autoradiographic study. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 5:3189-3203.
- De Souza EBG, D. E. (2002) Corticotropin-releasing factor: physiology, pharmacology, and role in central nervous system disorder. In: Neuropsychopharmacology - 5th Generation of Progress vol. Section1, chapter 7 (Davis, K. L. et al., eds) Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: American College of Neuropsychopharmacology.
- Decavel C, Van Den Pol AN (1990) GABA: a dominant neurotransmitter in the hypothalamus. J Comp Neurol 302:1019-1037.
- Dement W (1958) The occurrence of low voltage, fast, electroencephalogram patterns during behavioral sleep in the cat. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 10:291-296.
- Desvignes C, Rouquier L, Souilhac J, Mons G, Rodier D, Soubrie P, Steinberg R (2003) Control by tachykinin NK(2) receptors of CRF(1) receptor-mediated activation of hippocampal acetylcholine release in the rat and guinea-pig. Neuropeptides 37:89-97.
- Diekelmann S, Born J (2010) The memory function of sleep. Nature reviews Neuroscience 11:114-126.

- Dijk DJ (2009) Regulation and functional correlates of slow wave sleep. Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine 5:S6-15.
- Diorio D, Viau V, Meaney MJ (1993) The role of the medial prefrontal cortex (cingulate gyrus) in the regulation of hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress. J Neurosci 13:3839-3847.
- Donaldson CJ, Sutton SW, Perrin MH, Corrigan AZ, Lewis KA, Rivier JE, Vaughan JM, Vale WW (1996) Cloning and characterization of human urocortin. Endocrinology 137:2167-2170.
- Ducis I, Whittaker VP (1985) High-affinity, sodium-gradient-dependent transport of choline into vesiculated presynaptic plasma membrane fragments from the electric organ of Torpedo marmorata and reconstitution of the solubilized transporter into liposomes. Biochimica et biophysica acta 815:109-127.
- Dugovic C, Maccari S, Weibel L, Turek FW, Van Reeth O (1999) High corticosterone levels in prenatally stressed rats predict persistent paradoxical sleep alterations. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 19:8656-8664.
- Dugovic C, Solberg LC, Redei E, Van Reeth O, Turek FW (2000) Sleep in the Wistar-Kyoto rat, a putative genetic animal model for depression. Neuroreport 11:627-631.
- Dunn AJ, Berridge CW (1990) Physiological and behavioral responses to corticotropin-releasing factor administration: is CRF a mediator of anxiety or stress responses? Brain research Brain research reviews 15:71-100.
- Edgar DM, Dement WC, Fuller CA (1993) Effect of SCN lesions on sleep in squirrel monkeys: evidence for opponent processes in sleep-wake regulation. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 13:1065-1079.
- Ehlers CL, Reed TK, Henriksen SJ (1986) Effects of corticotropin-releasing factor and growth hormone-releasing factor on sleep and activity in rats. Neuroendocrinology 42:467-474.
- el Mansari M, Sakai K, Jouvet M (1989) Unitary characteristics of presumptive cholinergic tegmental neurons during the sleep-waking cycle in freely moving cats. Experimental brain research Experimentelle Hirnforschung Experimentation cerebrale 76:519-529.
- El Yacoubi M, Bouali S, Popa D, Naudon L, Leroux-Nicollet I, Hamon M, Costentin J, Adrien J, Vaugeois JM (2003) Behavioral, neurochemical, and electrophysiological characterization of a genetic mouse model of depression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100:6227-6232.
- Engelmann M, Landgraf R, Wotjak CT (2004) The hypothalamic-neurohypophysial system regulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis under stress: an old concept revisited. Front Neuroendocrinol 25:132-149.

- Engler D, Pham T, Fullerton MJ, Ooi G, Funder JW, Clarke IJ (1989) Studies of the secretion of corticotropin-releasing factor and arginine vasopressin into the hypophysial-portal circulation of the conscious sheep. I. Effect of an audiovisual stimulus and insulin-induced hypoglycemia. Neuroendocrinology 49:367-381.
- Everson CA, Bergmann BM, Rechtschaffen A (1989) Sleep deprivation in the rat: III. Total sleep deprivation. Sleep 12:13-21.
- Fang J, Wang Y, Krueger JM (1997) Mice lacking the TNF 55 kDa receptor fail to sleep more after TNFalpha treatment. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 17:5949-5955.
- Felder CC (1995) Muscarinic acetylcholine receptors: signal transduction through multiple effectors. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 9:619-625.
- Ferreira VF, da Rocha DR, Lima Araujo KG, Santos WC (2008) Advances in drug discovery to assess cholinergic neurotransmission: a systematic review. Current drug discovery technologies 5:236-249.
- Figueiredo HF, Bruestle A, Bodie B, Dolgas CM, Herman JP (2003) The medial prefrontal cortex differentially regulates stress-induced c-fos expression in the forebrain depending on type of stressor. Eur J Neurosci 18:2357-2364.
- Ford B, Holmes CJ, Mainville L, Jones BE (1995) GABAergic neurons in the rat pontomesencephalic tegmentum: codistribution with cholinergic and other tegmental neurons projecting to the posterior lateral hypothalamus. The Journal of comparative neurology 363:177-196.
- Fornal C, Auerbach S, Jacobs BL (1985) Activity of serotonin-containing neurons in nucleus raphe magnus in freely moving cats. Experimental neurology 88:590-608.
- Franklin K, Paxinos G (1997) The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. San Diego, USA: Academic Press.
- Friess E, Tagaya H, Grethe C, Trachsel L, Holsboer F (2004) Acute cortisol administration promotes sleep intensity in man. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology 29:598-604.
- Friess E, U VB, Wiedemann K, Lauer CJ, Holsboer F (1994) Effects of pulsatile cortisol infusion on sleep-EEG and nocturnal growth hormone release in healthy men. Journal of sleep research 3:73-79.
- Frysinger RC, Zhang JX, Harper RM (1988) Cardiovascular and respiratory relationships with neuronal discharge in the central nucleus of the amygdala during sleep-waking states. Sleep 11:317-332.
- Fuller PM, Saper CB, Lu J (2007) The pontine REM switch: past and present. The Journal of physiology 584:735-741.

- Gerrits M (2003) Increased stress vulnerability after a prefrontal cortex lesion in female rats. Brain Res Bull 61:627-635.
- Gomez F, Lahmame A, de Kloet ER, Armario A (1996) Hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal response to chronic stress in five inbred rat strains: differential responses are mainly located at the adrenocortical level. Neuroendocrinology 63:327-337.
- Gong H, McGinty D, Guzman-Marin R, Chew KT, Stewart D, Szymusiak R (2004) Activation of c-fos in GABAergic neurones in the preoptic area during sleep and in response to sleep deprivation. The Journal of physiology 556:935-946.
- Gonzalez MM, Valatx JL (1997) Effect of intracerebroventricular administration of alpha-helical CRH (9-41) on the sleep/waking cycle in rats under normal conditions or after subjection to an acute stressful stimulus. Journal of sleep research 6:164-170.
- Gottesmann C, Gottesman I (2007) The neurobiological characteristics of rapid eye movement (REM) sleep are candidate endophenotypes of depression, schizophrenia, mental retardation and dementia. Progress in neurobiology 81:237-250.
- Goutagny R, Comte JC, Salvert D, Gomeza J, Yamada M, Wess J, Luppi PH, Fort P (2005) Paradoxical sleep in mice lacking M3 and M2/M4 muscarinic receptors. Neuropsychobiology 52:140-146.
- Grammatopoulos DK, Chrousos GP (2002) Functional characteristics of CRH receptors and potential clinical applications of CRH-receptor antagonists. Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM 13:436-444.
- Grammatopoulos DK, Dai Y, Randeva HS, Levine MA, Karteris E, Easton AJ, Hillhouse EW (1999) A novel spliced variant of the type 1 corticotropinreleasing hormone receptor with a deletion in the seventh transmembrane domain present in the human pregnant term myometrium and fetal membranes. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md) 13:2189-2202.
- Gray TS, Bingaman EW (1996) The amygdala: corticotropin-releasing factor, steroids, and stress. Critical reviews in neurobiology 10:155-168.
- Gray TS, Piechowski RA, Yracheta JM, Rittenhouse PA, Bethea CL, Van de Kar LD (1993) Ibotenic acid lesions in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis attenuate conditioned stress-induced increases in prolactin, ACTH and corticosterone. Neuroendocrinology 57:517-524.
- Greene RW, Gerber U, McCarley RW (1989) Cholinergic activation of medial pontine reticular formation neurons in vitro. Brain research 476:154-159.
- Gritti I, Mainville L, Mancia M, Jones BE (1997) GABAergic and other noncholinergic basal forebrain neurons, together with cholinergic neurons, project to the mesocortex and isocortex in the rat. The Journal of comparative neurology 383:163-177.

- Groenink L, Dirks A, Verdouw PM, Schipholt M, Veening JG, van der Gugten J, Olivier B (2002) HPA axis dysregulation in mice overexpressing corticotropin releasing hormone. Biological psychiatry 51:875-881.
- Guillemin R (2005) Hypothalamic hormones a.k.a. hypothalamic releasing factors. The Journal of endocrinology 184:11-28.
- Guillemin RR, R. (1955) Humoral hypothalamic control of anterior pituitary: a study with combined tissue cultures Endocrinology 57:599-607.
- Gully D, Geslin M, Serva L, Fontaine E, Roger P, Lair C, Darre V, Marcy C, Rouby PE, Simiand J, Guitard J, Gout G, Steinberg R, Rodier D, Griebel G, Soubrie P, Pascal M, Pruss R, Scatton B, Maffrand JP, Le Fur G (2002) 4-(2-Chloro-4-methoxy-5-methylphenyl)-N-[(1S)-2-cyclopropyl-1-(3-fluoro-4-methylp henyl)ethyl]5-methyl-N-(2-propynyl)-1,3-thiazol-2-amine hydrochloride (SSR125543A): a potent and selective corticotrophin-releasing factor(1) receptor antagonist. I. Biochemical and pharmacological characterization. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 301:322-332.
- Gulyas J, Rivier C, Perrin M, Koerber SC, Sutton S, Corrigan A, Lahrichi SL, Craig AG, Vale W, Rivier J (1995) Potent, structurally constrained agonists and competitive antagonists of corticotropin-releasing factor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:10575-10579.
- Halbach OD, R (2002) Neurotransmitters and Neuromodulators. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH.
- Hallanger AE, Levey AI, Lee HJ, Rye DB, Wainer BH (1987) The origins of cholinergic and other subcortical afferents to the thalamus in the rat. The Journal of comparative neurology 262:105-124.
- Hayaishi O (1988) Sleep-wake regulation by prostaglandins D2 and E2. Journal of Biological Chemistry 263:14593-14596.
- Hecker S, Mesulam MM (1994) Two types of cholinergic projections to the rat amygdala. Neuroscience 60:383-397.
- Herman JP, Cullinan WE, Ziegler DR, Tasker JG (2002) Role of the paraventricular nucleus microenvironment in stress integration. The European journal of neuroscience 16:381-385.
- Herman JP, Figueiredo H, Mueller NK, Ulrich-Lai Y, Ostrander MM, Choi DC, Cullinan WE (2003) Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo–pituitary–adrenocortical responsiveness. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology 24:151-180.
- Hersch SM, Gutekunst CA, Rees HD, Heilman CJ, Levey AI (1994) Distribution of m1-m4 muscarinic receptor proteins in the rat striatum: light and electron microscopic immunocytochemistry using subtype-specific antibodies. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 14:3351-3363.

- Hobson JA, Goldberg M, Vivaldi E, Riew D (1983) Enhancement of desynchronized sleep signs after pontine microinjection of the muscarinic agonist bethanechol. Brain research 275:127-136.
- Hocht C, Opezzo JA, Taira CA (2007) Applicability of reverse microdialysis in pharmacological and toxicological studies. Journal of pharmacological and toxicological methods 55:3-15.
- Holmes A, Heilig M, Rupniak NM, Steckler T, Griebel G (2003) Neuropeptide systems as novel therapeutic targets for depression and anxiety disorders. Trends in pharmacological sciences 24:580-588.
- Holsboer F (1999) The rationale for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor (CRH-R) antagonists to treat depression and anxiety. Journal of psychiatric research 33:181-214.
- Holsboer F, von Bardeleben U, Steiger A (1988) Effects of intravenous corticotropinreleasing hormone upon sleep-related growth hormone surge and sleep EEG in man. Neuroendocrinology 48:32-38.
- Horrocks PM, Jones AF, Ratcliffe WA, Holder G, White A, Holder R, Ratcliffe JG, London DR (1990) Patterns of ACTH and cortisol pulsatility over twenty-four hours in normal males and females. Clinical endocrinology 32:127-134.
- Inoué S (1989) Biology of Sleep Substances. Boca Raton (Florida): CRC Press.
- Ishimori K (1909) True cause of sleep a hypnogenic substance as evidenced in the brain of sleep-deprived animals. Tokyo Igakkai Zasshi 23:429-457.
- Jacobson L, Sapolsky RM (1991) The role of the hippocampus in feedback regulation of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Endocr Rev 12:118-134.
- Jakubcakova V, Flachskamm C, Deussing JM, Kimura M (2011) Deficiency of corticotropin-releasing hormone type-2 receptor alters sleep responses to bacterial lipopolysaccharide in mice. Brain, behavior, and immunity 25:1626-1636.
- Janowsky DS, Risch C, Parker D, Huey L, Judd L (1980) Increased vulnerability to cholinergic stimulation in affective-disorder patients [proceedings]. Psychopharmacology bulletin 16:29-31.
- Jasper HH, Tessier J (1971) Acetylcholine liberation from cerebral cortex during paradoxical (REM) sleep. Science 172:601-602.
- Jones BE (1995) Reticular formation. Cytoarchitecture, transmitters and projections. In: The rat nervous system (Paxinos, G., ed), pp 155-171 Australia: Academic Press Australia.
- Jones BE (2003) Arousal systems. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 8:s438-451.
- Jones BE (2004) Activity, modulation and role of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons innervating the cerebral cortex. Progress in brain research 145:157-169.

- Jones BE (2005) From waking to sleeping: neuronal and chemical substrates. Trends in pharmacological sciences 26:578-586.
- Jones BE, Yang TZ (1985) The efferent projections from the reticular formation and the locus coeruleus studied by anterograde and retrograde axonal transport in the rat. The Journal of comparative neurology 242:56-92.
- Jouvet D, Vimont P, Delorme F, Jouvet M (1964) Study of selective deprivation of the paradoxal sleep phase in the cat. Comptes rendus des seances de la Societe de biologie et de ses filiales 158:756-759.
- Jouvet M (1962) Research on the neural structures and responsible mechanisms in different phases of physiological sleep. Archives italiennes de biologie 100:125-206.
- Jouvet M, Michel F (1959) Electromyographic correlations of sleep in the chronic decorticate & mesencephalic cat. Comptes rendus des seances de la Societe de biologie et de ses filiales 153:422-425.
- Kamel NS, Gammack JK (2006) Insomnia in the Elderly: Cause, Approach, and Treatment. The American Journal of Medicine 119:463-469.
- Karczmar AG, Longo VG, De Carolis AS (1970) A pharmacological model of paradoxical sleep: the role of cholinergic and monoamine systems. Physiology & behavior 5:175-182.
- Karlin A (2002) Emerging structure of the Nicotinic Acetylcholine receptors. Nature reviews Neuroscience 3:102-114.
- Kerlavage AR, Fraser CM, Venter JC (1987) Muscarinic cholinergic receptor structure: molecular biological support for subtypes. Trends in pharmacological sciences 8:426-431.
- Kimura M, Muller-Preuss P, Lu A, Wiesner E, Flachskamm C, Wurst W, Holsboer F, Deussing JM (2010) Conditional corticotropin-releasing hormone overexpression in the mouse forebrain enhances rapid eye movement sleep. Molecular psychiatry 15:154-165.
- Kishimoto T, Pearse RV, 2nd, Lin CR, Rosenfeld MG (1995) A sauvagine/corticotropin-releasing factor receptor expressed in heart and skeletal muscle. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:1108-1112.
- Kishimoto T, Radulovic J, Radulovic M, Lin CR, Schrick C, Hooshmand F, Hermanson O, Rosenfeld MG, Spiess J (2000) Deletion of crhr2 reveals an anxiolytic role for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2. Nature genetics 24:415-419.
- Kocsis B, Varga V, Dahan L, Sik A (2006) Serotonergic neuron diversity: Identification of raphe neurons with discharges time-locked to the hippocampal theta rhythm. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:1059-1064.

- Kodama T, Takahashi Y, Honda Y (1990) Enhancement of acetylcholine release during paradoxical sleep in the dorsal tegmental field of the cat brain stem. Neuroscience letters 114:277-282.
- Kolber BJ, Boyle MP, Wieczorek L, Kelley CL, Onwuzurike CC, Nettles SA, Vogt SK, Muglia LJ (2010) Transient early-life forebrain corticotropin-releasing hormone elevation causes long-lasting anxiogenic and despair-like changes in mice. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30:2571-2581.
- Koob GF, Heinrichs SC, Pich EM, Menzaghi F, Baldwin H, Miczek K, Britton KT (1993) The role of corticotropin-releasing factor in behavioural responses to stress. Ciba Foundation symposium 172:277-289; discussion 290-275.
- Kostich WA, Chen A, Sperle K, Largent BL (1998) Molecular identification and analysis of a novel human corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) receptor: the CRF2gamma receptor. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md) 12:1077-1085.
- Kovacs KJ (1998) c-Fos as a transcription factor: a stressful (re)view from a functional map. Neurochemistry international 33:287-297.
- Kovalzon VM, Tsibulsky VL (1984) REM-sleep deprivation, stress and emotional behavior in rats. Behavioural brain research 14:235-245.
- Krauchi K, Deboer T (2010) The interrelationship between sleep regulation and thermoregulation. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 15:604-625.
- Krettek JE, Price JL (1978) Amygdaloid projections to subcortical structures within the basal forebrain and brainstem in the rat and cat. The Journal of comparative neurology 178:225-253.
- Krueger JM, Fang J, Hansen MK, Zhang J, Obál F (1998) Humoral Regulation of Sleep. Physiology 13:189-194.
- Krueger JM, Obal F, Jr. (2003) Sleep function. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 8:d511-519.
- Krueger JM, Walter J, Dinarello CA, Wolff SM, Chedid L (1984) Sleep-promoting effects of endogenous pyrogen (interleukin-1). American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 246:R994-R999.
- Lacroix S, Rivest S (1996) Role of cyclo-oxygenase pathways in the stimulatory influence of immune challenge on the transcription of a specific CRF receptor subtype in the rat brain. Journal of chemical neuroanatomy 10:53-71.
- Ladd CO, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB (1996) Persistent changes in corticotropinreleasing factor neuronal systems induced by maternal deprivation. Endocrinology 137:1212-1218.
- Lai H, Carino MA (1990) Effects of noise on high-affinity choline uptake in the frontal cortex and hippocampus of the rat are blocked by intracerebroventricular

injection of corticotropin-releasing factor antagonist. Brain research 527:354-358.

- Lai YY, Siegel JM (1992) Corticotropin-releasing factor mediated muscle atonia in pons and medulla. Brain research 575:63-68.
- Lancel M, Muller-Preuss P, Wigger A, Landgraf R, Holsboer F (2002) The CRH1 receptor antagonist R121919 attenuates stress-elicited sleep disturbances in rats, particularly in those with high innate anxiety. Journal of psychiatric research 36:197-208.
- Landgraf R (2006) The involvement of the vasopressin system in stress-related disorders. CNS & neurological disorders drug targets 5:167-179.
- Lederis K, Letter A, McMaster D, Moore G, Schlesinger D (1982) Complete amino acid sequence of urotensin I, a hypotensive and corticotropin-releasing neuropeptide from Catostomus. Science 218:162-165.
- Ledoux L, Sastre JP, Buda C, Luppi PH, Jouvet M (1996) Alterations in c-fos expression after different experimental procedures of sleep deprivation in the cat. Brain research 735:108-118.
- Lee MG, Hassani OK, Jones BE (2005) Discharge of Identified Orexin/Hypocretin Neurons across the Sleep-Waking Cycle. The Journal of Neuroscience 25:6716-6720.
- Leonard TO, Lydic R (1997) Pontine nitric oxide modulates acetylcholine release, rapid eye movement sleep generation, and respiratory rate. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 17:774-785.
- Levey AI, Kitt CA, Simonds WF, Price DL, Brann MR (1991) Identification and localization of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor proteins in brain with subtypespecific antibodies. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 11:3218-3226.
- Lewis PR, Shute CC (1967) The cholinergic limbic system: projections to hippocampal formation, medial cortex, nuclei of the ascending cholinergic reticular system, and the subfornical organ and supra-optic crest. Brain : a journal of neurology 90:521-540.
- Lewis PR, Shute CC, Silver A (1967) Confirmation from choline acetylase analyses of a massive cholinergic innervation to the rat hippocampus. The Journal of physiology 191:215-224.
- Liaw CW, Lovenberg TW, Barry G, Oltersdorf T, Grigoriadis DE, de Souza EB (1996) Cloning and characterization of the human corticotropin-releasing factor-2 receptor complementary deoxyribonucleic acid. Endocrinology 137:72-77.
- Loewi O (1921) Über humorale Übertragbarkeit der Herznervenwirkung. Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology 189:239-242.
- Loewi O, Navratil E (1926) Über humorale Übertragbarkeit der Herznervenwirkung. Pfügers Arch 214:689-696.

- Louis RP, Lee J, Stephenson R (2004) Design and validation of a computer-based sleep-scoring algorithm. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 133:71-80.
- Lovenberg TW, Chalmers DT, Liu C, De Souza EB (1995a) CRF2 alpha and CRF2 beta receptor mRNAs are differentially distributed between the rat central nervous system and peripheral tissues. Endocrinology 136:4139-4142.
- Lovenberg TW, Liaw CW, Grigoriadis DE, Clevenger W, Chalmers DT, De Souza EB, Oltersdorf T (1995b) Cloning and characterization of a functionally distinct corticotropin-releasing factor receptor subtype from rat brain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 92:836-840.
- Lu A, Steiner MA, Whittle N, Vogl AM, Walser SM, Ableitner M, Refojo D, Ekker M, Rubenstein JL, Stalla GK, Singewald N, Holsboer F, Wotjak CT, Wurst W, Deussing JM (2008) Conditional mouse mutants highlight mechanisms of corticotropin-releasing hormone effects on stress-coping behavior. Molecular psychiatry 13:1028-1042.
- Lu J, Jhou TC, Saper CB (2006a) Identification of wake-active dopaminergic neurons in the ventral periaqueductal gray matter. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 26:193-202.
- Lu J, Sherman D, Devor M, Saper CB (2006b) A putative flip–flop switch for control of REM sleep. Nature 441:589-594.
- Luppi PH, Clement O, Sapin E, Gervasoni D, Peyron C, Leger L, Salvert D, Fort P (2011) The neuronal network responsible for paradoxical sleep and its dysfunctions causing narcolepsy and rapid eye movement (REM) behavior disorder. Sleep medicine reviews 15:153-163.
- Luppi PH, Clement O, Sapin E, Peyron C, Gervasoni D, Leger L, Fort P (2012) Brainstem mechanisms of paradoxical (REM) sleep generation. Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology 463:43-52.
- Lydic R, Baghdoyan HA (1993) Pedunculopontine stimulation alters respiration and increases ACh release in the pontine reticular formation. The American journal of physiology 264:R544-554.
- Lydic R, Baghdoyan,H.A. (2008) Acetylcholine modulates sleep and wakefulness: a synaptic perspective. In: Neurochemistry of Sleep and Wakefulness (Monti, J. M., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Sinton, C.M., ed), pp 109-143 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Majzoub JA (2006) Corticotropin-releasing hormone physiology. European Journal of Endocrinology 155:S71-S76.
- Maloney KJ, Mainville L, Jones BE (1999) Differential c-Fos expression in cholinergic, monoaminergic, and GABAergic cell groups of the pontomesencephalic tegmentum after paradoxical sleep deprivation and recovery. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 19:3057-3072.

- Maloney KJ, Mainville L, Jones BE (2000) c-Fos expression in GABAergic, serotonergic, and other neurons of the pontomedullary reticular formation and raphe after paradoxical sleep deprivation and recovery. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 20:4669-4679.
- Maquet P, Peters J, Aerts J, Delfiore G, Degueldre C, Luxen A, Franck G (1996) Functional neuroanatomy of human rapid-eye-movement sleep and dreaming. Nature 383:163-166.
- Marks GA, Birabil CG (2000) Infusion of adenylyl cyclase inhibitor SQ22,536 into the medial pontine reticular formation of rats enhances rapid eye movement sleep. Neuroscience 98:311-315.
- Marrosu F, Portas C, Mascia MS, Casu MA, Fa M, Giagheddu M, Imperato A, Gessa GL (1995) Microdialysis measurement of cortical and hippocampal acetylcholine release during sleep-wake cycle in freely moving cats. Brain research 671:329-332.
- Martin JH, Ghez C (1999) Pharmacological inactivation in the analysis of the central control of movement. J Neurosci Methods 86:145-159.
- Mas M, Gonzalez-Mora JL, Hernandez L (1996) In vivo monitoring of brain neurotransmitter release for the assessment of neuroendocrine interactions. Cellular and molecular neurobiology 16:383-396.
- Mash DC, Potter LT (1986) Autoradiographic localization of M1 and M2 muscarine receptors in the rat brain. Neuroscience 19:551-564.
- Materi LM, Rasmusson DD, Semba K (2000) Inhibition of synaptically evoked cortical acetylcholine release by adenosine: an in vivo microdialysis study in the rat. Neuroscience 97:219-226.
- McArthur R, Borsini F (2006) Animal models of depression in drug discovery: A historical perspective. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 84:436-452.
- McCarley R, Hobson J (1975) Neuronal excitability modulation over the sleep cycle: a structural and mathematical model. Science 189:58-60.
- McCarley RW (1982) REM sleep and depression: common neurobiological control mechanisms. The American journal of psychiatry 139:565-570.
- McCarley RW (2004) Mechanisms and models of REM sleep control. Archives italiennes de biologie 142:429-467.
- McCarley RW, Massaquoi SG (1986) A limit cycle mathematical model of the REM sleep oscillator system. The American journal of physiology 251:R1011-1029.
- McCormick DA (1992) Neurotransmitter actions in the thalamus and cerebral cortex and their role in neuromodulation of thalamocortical activity. Progress in neurobiology 39:337-388.

- Meerlo P, Easton A, Bergmann BM, Turek FW (2001) Restraint increases prolactin and REM sleep in C57BL/6J mice but not in BALB/cJ mice. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 281:R846-R854.
- Merchenthaler I (1984) Corticotropin releasing factor (CRF)-like immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. Extrahypothalamic distribution. Peptides 5 Suppl 1:53-69.
- Mesulam MM, Mufson EJ, Wainer BH, Levey AI (1983) Central cholinergic pathways in the rat: an overview based on an alternative nomenclature (Ch1-Ch6). Neuroscience 10:1185-1201.
- Minichiello L, Korte M, Wolfer D, Kuhn R, Unsicker K, Cestari V, Rossi-Arnaud C, Lipp HP, Bonhoeffer T, Klein R (1999) Essential role for TrkB receptors in hippocampus-mediated learning. Neuron 24:401-414.
- Mitani A, Ito K, Hallanger AE, Wainer BH, Kataoka K, McCarley RW (1988) Cholinergic projections from the laterodorsal and pedunculopontine tegmental nuclei to the pontine gigantocellular tegmental field in the cat. Brain research 451:397-402.
- Mitler MM, Dement WC (1974) Cataplectic-like behavior in cats after micro-injections of carbachol in pontine reticular formation. Brain research 68:335-343.
- Mizuno T, Endo Y, Arita J, Kimura F (1991) Acetylcholine release in the rat hippocampus as measured by the microdialysis method correlates with motor activity and exhibits a diurnal variation. Neuroscience 44:607-612.
- Moga MM, Gray TS (1985) Evidence for corticotropin-releasing factor, neurotensin, and somatostatin in the neural pathway from the central nucleus of the amygdala to the parabrachial nucleus. The Journal of comparative neurology 241:275-284.
- Montecucchi PC, Henschen A (1981) Amino acid composition and sequence analysis of sauvagine, a new active peptide from the skin of Phyllomedusa sauvagei. International journal of peptide and protein research 18:113-120.
- Moore RY, Eichler VB (1972) Loss of a circadian adrenal corticosterone rhythm following suprachiasmatic lesions in the rat. Brain research 42:201-206.
- Morrison AR, Sanford LD, Ross RJ (2000) The amygdala: a critical modulator of sensory influence on sleep. Biological signals and receptors 9:283-296.
- Moruzzi G, Magoun HW (1949) Brain stem reticular formation and activation of the EEG. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 1:455-473.
- Murck H, Held K, Ziegenbein M, Kunzel H, Holsboer F, Steiger A (2004) Intravenous administration of the neuropeptide galanin has fast antidepressant efficacy and affects the sleep EEG. Psychoneuroendocrinology 29:1205-1211.
- Nemeroff CB (1998) Psychopharmacology of affective disorders in the 21st century. Biological psychiatry 44:517-525.

- Nemeroff CB, Owens MJ, Bissette G, Andorn AC, Stanley M (1988) Reduced corticotropin releasing factor binding sites in the frontal cortex of suicide victims. Archives of general psychiatry 45:577-579.
- Nemeroff CB, Widerlov E, Bissette G, Walleus H, Karlsson I, Eklund K, Kilts CD, Loosen PT, Vale W (1984) Elevated concentrations of CSF corticotropinreleasing factor-like immunoreactivity in depressed patients. Science 226:1342-1344.
- Nirogi R, Mudigonda K, Kandikere V, Ponnamaneni R (2010) Quantification of acetylcholine, an essential neurotransmitter, in brain microdialysis samples by liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. Biomedical chromatography : BMC 24:39-48.
- Nitecka L, Frotscher M (1989) Organization and synaptic interconnections of GABAergic and cholinergic elements in the rat amygdaloid nuclei: single- and double-immunolabeling studies. The Journal of comparative neurology 279:470-488.
- Opp M, Obal F, Jr., Krueger JM (1989) Corticotropin-releasing factor attenuates interleukin 1-induced sleep and fever in rabbits. The American journal of physiology 257:R528-535.
- Ottersen OP (1981) Afferent connections to the amygdaloid complex of the rat with some observations in the cat. III. Afferents from the lower brain stem. The Journal of comparative neurology 202:335-356.
- Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB (1991) Physiology and pharmacology of corticotropinreleasing factor. Pharmacological reviews 43:425-473.
- Pace-Schott EF, Hobson JA (2002) The neurobiology of sleep: genetics, cellular physiology and subcortical networks. Nature reviews Neuroscience 3:591-605.
- Pace-Schott EF, Hobson, J.A. (2002) Basic mechanisms of sleep: new evidence on the neuroanatomy an neuromodulation of the NREM-REM cycle. In: Neuropsychopharmacology - 5th generation of Progress, vol. section13, chapter 128 (Davis, K. L. et al., eds) Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: American college of Neurophychopharmacology.
- Panula P, Pirvola U, Auvinen S, Airaksinen MS (1989) Histamine-immunoreactive nerve fibers in the rat brain. Neuroscience 28:585-610.
- Papadimitriou A, Priftis KN (2009) Regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Neuroimmunomodulation 16:265-271.
- Pappenheimer JR, Koski G, Fencl V, Karnovsky ML, Krueger J (1975) Extraction of sleep-promoting factor S from cerebrospinal fluid and from brains of sleep-deprived animals. Journal of neurophysiology 38:1299-1311.
- Parmeggiani PL (2003) Thermoregulation and sleep. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 8:s557-567.

- Pavcovich LA, Valentino RJ (1997) Regulation of a putative neurotransmitter effect of corticotropin-releasing factor: effects of adrenalectomy. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 17:401-408.
- Pepeu G, Giovannini MG (2004) Changes in acetylcholine extracellular levels during cognitive processes. Learning & memory 11:21-27.
- Peralta EG, Winslow JW, Ashkenazi A, Smith DH, Ramachandran J, Capon DJ (1988) Structural basis of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtype diversity. Trends in pharmacological sciences Suppl:6-11.
- Peyron C, Tighe DK, van den Pol AN, de Lecea L, Heller HC, Sutcliffe JG, Kilduff TS (1998) Neurons containing hypocretin (orexin) project to multiple neuronal systems. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 18:9996-10015.
- Picciotto Marina R, Higley Michael J, Mineur Yann S (2012) Acetylcholine as a Neuromodulator: Cholinergic Signaling Shapes Nervous System Function and Behavior. Neuron 76:116-129.
- Piéron H (1913) Le probléme physiologique du sommeil. Paris: Masson et cie.
- Pisarchik A, Slominski AT (2001) Alternative splicing of CRH-R1 receptors in human and mouse skin: identification of new variants and their differential expression. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 15:2754-2756.
- Plock N, Kloft C (2005) Microdialysis--theoretical background and recent implementation in applied life-sciences. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences 25:1-24.
- Plotsky PM, Meaney MJ (1993) Early, postnatal experience alters hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) mRNA, median eminence CRF content and stress-induced release in adult rats. Brain research Molecular brain research 18:195-200.
- Porkka-Heiskanen T (1997) Adenosine: A Mediator of the Sleep-Inducing Effects of Prolonged Wakefulness. Science 276:1265-1268.
- Price ML, Curtis AL, Kirby LG, Valentino RJ, Lucki I (1998) Effects of corticotropinreleasing factor on brain serotonergic activity. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology 18:492-502.
- Quattrochi J, Datta S, Hobson JA (1998) Cholinergic and non-cholinergic afferents of the caudolateral parabrachial nucleus: a role in the long-term enhancement of rapid eye movement sleep. Neuroscience 83:1123-1136.
- Raadsheer FC, Hoogendijk WJ, Stam FC, Tilders FJ, Swaab DF (1994) Increased numbers of corticotropin-releasing hormone expressing neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus of depressed patients. Neuroendocrinology 60:436-444.

- Rampin C, Cespuglio R, Chastrette N, Jouvet M (1991) Immobilisation stress induces a paradoxical sleep rebound in rat. Neuroscience letters 126:113-118.
- Rang HPD, M.M.; Ritter, J.M.; Moore, P.K. (2003) Pharmacology, 5th Edition: Elsevier Churchill Livingstone.
- Rechtschaffen A (1998) Current perspectives on the function of sleep. Perspectives in biology and medicine 41:359-390.
- Rechtschaffen A, Bergmann BM, Everson CA, Kushida CA, Gilliland MA (1989) Sleep deprivation in the rat: X. Integration and discussion of the findings. Sleep 12:68-87.
- Rechtschaffen A, Bergmann BM, Gilliland MA, Bauer K (1999) Effects of method, duration, and sleep stage on rebounds from sleep deprivation in the rat. Sleep 22:11-31.
- Rechtschaffen AK, A. (1968) A manual of standardized terminology, techniques and scoring system of sleep stages in human subjects. (Service/Brain, L. A. B. I., ed) Research Institute, University of California.
- Reul JM, de Kloet ER (1985) Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. Endocrinology 117:2505-2511.
- Reul JM, Holsboer F (2002) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors 1 and 2 in anxiety and depression. Current opinion in pharmacology 2:23-33.
- Risch SC, Cohen RM, Janowsky DS, Kalin NH, Murphy DL (1980) Mood and behavioral effects of physostigmine on humans are accompanied by elevations in plasma beta-endorphin and cortisol. Science 209:1545-1546.
- Risold PY, Swanson LW (1996) Structural evidence for functional domains in the rat hippocampus. Science 272:1484-1486.
- Roky R, Obal F, Jr., Valatx JL, Bredow S, Fang J, Pagano LP, Krueger JM (1995) Prolactin and rapid eye movement sleep regulation. Sleep 18:536-542.
- Romanowski CP, Fenzl T, Flachskamm C, Wurst W, Holsboer F, Deussing JM, Kimura M (2010) Central deficiency of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type 1 (CRH-R1) abolishes effects of CRH on NREM but not on REM sleep in mice. Sleep 33:427-436.
- Ross PC, Kostas CM, Ramabhadran TV (1994) A variant of the human corticotropinreleasing factor (CRF) receptor: cloning, expression and pharmacology. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 205:1836-1842.
- Rye DB, Saper CB, Lee HJ, Wainer BH (1987) Pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus of the rat: cytoarchitecture, cytochemistry, and some extrapyramidal connections of the mesopontine tegmentum. The Journal of comparative neurology 259:483-528.
- Sakai K (2011) Sleep-waking discharge profiles of median preoptic and surrounding neurons in mice. Neuroscience 182:144-161.

- Sakai K (2012) Discharge properties of presumed cholinergic and noncholinergic laterodorsal tegmental neurons related to cortical activation in non-anesthetized mice. Neuroscience 224:172-190.
- Sakai K, Crochet S, Onoe H (2001) Pontine structures and mechanisms involved in the generation of paradoxical (REM) sleep. Archives italiennes de biologie 139:93-107.
- Sakai K, Onoe H (1997) Critical role for M3 muscarinic receptors in paradoxical sleep generation in the cat. The European journal of neuroscience 9:415-423.
- Sakai K, Vanni-Mercier G, Jouvet M (1983) Evidence for the presence of PS-OFF neurons in the ventromedial medulla oblongata of freely moving cats. Experimental brain research Experimentelle Hirnforschung Experimentation cerebrale 49:311-314.
- Sakanaka M, Shibasaki T, Lederis K (1987) Corticotropin releasing factor-like immunoreactivity in the rat brain as revealed by a modified cobalt-glucose oxidase-diaminobenzidine method. The Journal of comparative neurology 260:256-298.
- Sanchez MM, Young LJ, Plotsky PM, Insel TR (1999) Autoradiographic and in situ hybridization localization of corticotropin-releasing factor 1 and 2 receptors in nonhuman primate brain. The Journal of comparative neurology 408:365-377.
- Sanford LD, Parris B, Tang X (2002) GABAergic regulation of the central nucleus of the amygdala: implications for sleep control. Brain research 956:276-284.
- Sanford LD, Yang L, Tang X, Dong E, Ross RJ, Morrison AR (2006) Cholinergic regulation of the central nucleus of the amygdala in rats: effects of local microinjections of cholinomimetics and cholinergic antagonists on arousal and sleep. Neuroscience 141:2167-2176.
- Sanford LD, Yang L, Wellman LL, Dong E, Tang X (2008) Mouse strain differences in the effects of corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) on sleep and wakefulness. Brain research 1190:94-104.
- Saper CB (1985) Organization of cerebral cortical afferent systems in the rat. II. Hypothalamocortical projections. The Journal of comparative neurology 237:21-46.
- Saper CB, Chou TC, Scammell TE (2001) The sleep switch: hypothalamic control of sleep and wakefulness. Trends in neurosciences 24:726-731.
- Satoh K, Fibiger HC (1986) Cholinergic neurons of the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus: efferent and afferent connections. The Journal of comparative neurology 253:277-302.
- Sauvage M, Steckler T (2001) Detection of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 immunoreactivity in cholinergic, dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons of the murine basal forebrain and brainstem nuclei--potential implication for arousal and attention. Neuroscience 104:643-652.

- Sawchenko PE, Arias C, Bittencourt JC (1990) Inhibin beta, somatostatin and enkephalin immunoreactivities coexist in caudal medullary neurons that project to the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. J Comp Neurol 291:269-280.
- Sawchenko PE, Swanson LW, Steinbusch HW, Verhofstad AA (1983) The distribution and cells of origin of serotonergic inputs to the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the rat. Brain Res 277:355-360.
- Sawchenko PES, L.W. (1990) Organization of CRF immunoreactive cells and fibers in the rat brain. In: Corticotropin-releasing factor: basic and clinical studies of a neuropeptide. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC press.
- Schloesser RJ, Martinowich K, Manji HK (2012) Mood-stabilizing drugs: mechanisms of action. Trends in neurosciences 35:36-46.
- Selye H (1936) Syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents. Nature 138:32.
- Semba K (1993) Aminergic and cholinergic afferents to REM sleep induction regions of the pontine reticular formation in the rat. The Journal of comparative neurology 330:543-556.
- Semba K, Fibiger HC (1992) Afferent connections of the laterodorsal and the pedunculopontine tegmental nuclei in the rat: a retro- and antero-grade transport and immunohistochemical study. The Journal of comparative neurology 323:387-410.
- Sherin JE, Shiromani PJ, McCarley RW, Saper CB (1996) Activation of ventrolateral preoptic neurons during sleep. Science 271:216-219.
- Shute CC, Lewis PR (1967) The ascending cholinergic reticular system: neocortical, olfactory and subcortical projections. Brain : a journal of neurology 90:497-520.
- Siegel JM (2008) Do all animals sleep? Trends in neurosciences 31:208-213.
- Siegel JM (2009) Sleep viewed as a state of adaptive inactivity. Nature reviews Neuroscience 10:747-753.
- Silberman EK, Vivaldi E, Garfield J, McCarley RW, Hobson JA (1980) Carbachol triggering of desynchronized sleep phenomena: enhancement via small volume infusions. Brain research 191:215-224.
- Sitaram N, Wyatt R, Dawson S, Gillin J (1976) REM sleep induction by physostigmine infusion during sleep. Science 191:1281-1283.
- Skutella T, Criswell H, Moy S, Probst JC, Breese GR, Jirikowski GF, Holsboer F (1994) Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) antisense oligodeoxynucleotide induces anxiolytic effects in rat. Neuroreport 5:2181-2185.
- Smith CT, Miskiman DE (1975) Increases in paradoxical sleep as a result of amygdaloid stimulation. Physiology & behavior 15:17-19.

- Smith GW, Aubry JM, Dellu F, Contarino A, Bilezikjian LM, Gold LH, Chen R, Marchuk Y, Hauser C, Bentley CA, Sawchenko PE, Koob GF, Vale W, Lee KF (1998) Corticotropin releasing factor receptor 1-deficient mice display decreased anxiety, impaired stress response, and aberrant neuroendocrine development. Neuron 20:1093-1102.
- Smith TD, Annis SJ, Ehlert FJ, Leslie FM (1991) N-[3H]methylscopolamine labeling of non-M1, non-M2 muscarinic receptor binding sites in rat brain. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 256:1173-1181.
- Solberg LC, Olson SL, Turek FW, Redei E (2001) Altered hormone levels and circadian rhythm of activity in the WKY rat, a putative animal model of depression. American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology 281:R786-794.
- Spencer DG, Jr., Horvath E, Traber J (1986) Direct autoradiographic determination of M1 and M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor distribution in the rat brain: relation to cholinergic nuclei and projections. Brain research 380:59-68.
- Starzl TE, Taylor CW, Magoun HW (1951) Ascending conduction in reticular activating system, with special reference to the diencephalon. Journal of neurophysiology 14:461-477.
- Steckler T, Holsboer F (1999) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor subtypes and emotion. Biological psychiatry 46:1480-1508.
- Steckler T, Inglis W, Winn P, Sahgal A (1994) The pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus: a role in cognitive processes? Brain research Brain research reviews 19:298-318.
- Steiger A, Guldner J, Hemmeter U, Rothe B, Wiedemann K, Holsboer F (1992) Effects of growth hormone-releasing hormone and somatostatin on sleep EEG and nocturnal hormone secretion in male controls. Neuroendocrinology 56:566-573.
- Steiger A, Holsboer F (1997) Neuropeptides and human sleep. Sleep 20:1038-1052.
- Steiger A, Kimura M (2010) Wake and sleep EEG provide biomarkers in depression. Journal of psychiatric research 44:242-252.
- Steininger TL, Alam MN, Gong H, Szymusiak R, McGinty D (1999) Sleep-waking discharge of neurons in the posterior lateral hypothalamus of the albino rat. Brain research 840:138-147.
- Stenzel-Poore MP, Cameron VA, Vaughan J, Sawchenko PE, Vale W (1992) Development of Cushing's syndrome in corticotropin-releasing factor transgenic mice. Endocrinology 130:3378-3386.
- Stenzel-Poore MP, Heinrichs SC, Rivest S, Koob GF, Vale WW (1994) Overproduction of corticotropin-releasing factor in transgenic mice: a genetic model of anxiogenic behavior. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 14:2579-2584.

- Steriade M (1993) Cholinergic blockage of network- and intrinsically generated slow oscillations promotes waking and REM sleep activity patterns in thalamic and cortical neurons. Progress in brain research 98:345-355.
- Steriade M (2006) Grouping of brain rhythms in corticothalamic systems. Neuroscience 137:1087-1106.
- Steriade M, Datta S, Pare D, Oakson G, Curro Dossi RC (1990) Neuronal activities in brain-stem cholinergic nuclei related to tonic activation processes in thalamocortical systems. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 10:2541-2559.
- Stickgold R (2005) Sleep-dependent memory consolidation. Nature 437:1272-1278.
- Suchecki D, Lobo LL, Hipolide DC, Tufik S (1998) Increased ACTH and corticosterone secretion induced by different methods of paradoxical sleep deprivation. Journal of sleep research 7:276-281.
- Suntsova N, Szymusiak R, Alam MN, Guzman-Marin R, McGinty D (2002) Sleepwaking discharge patterns of median preoptic nucleus neurons in rats. The Journal of physiology 543:665-677.
- Suszkiw JB, Pilar G (1976) Selective localization of a high affinity choline uptake system and its role in ACh formation in cholinergic nerve terminals. Journal of neurochemistry 26:1133-1138.
- Swanson LW, Kuypers HG (1980) The paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus: cytoarchitectonic subdivisions and organization of projections to the pituitary, dorsal vagal complex, and spinal cord as demonstrated by retrograde fluorescence double-labeling methods. J Comp Neurol 194:555-570.
- Swanson LW, Sawchenko PE, Rivier J, Vale WW (1983) Organization of ovine corticotropin-releasing factor immunoreactive cells and fibers in the rat brain: an immunohistochemical study. Neuroendocrinology 36:165-186.
- Takahashi JS, Hong HK, Ko CH, McDearmon EL (2008) The genetics of mammalian circadian order and disorder: implications for physiology and disease. Nature reviews Genetics 9:764-775.
- Thakkar M, Portas C, McCarley RW (1996) Chronic low-amplitude electrical stimulation of the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus of freely moving cats increases REM sleep. Brain research 723:223-227.
- Thase ME, Kupfer DJ, Fasiczka AJ, Buysse DJ, Simons AD, Frank E (1997) Identifying an abnormal electroencephalographic sleep profile to characterize major depressive disorder. Biological psychiatry 41:964-973.
- Timpl P, Spanagel R, Sillaber I, Kresse A, Reul JM, Stalla GK, Blanquet V, Steckler T, Holsboer F, Wurst W (1998) Impaired stress response and reduced anxiety in mice lacking a functional corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1. Nature genetics 19:162-166.

- Tobler I (1995) Is sleep fundamentally different between mammalian species? Behavioural brain research 69:35-41.
- Tononi G, Cirelli C (2006) Sleep function and synaptic homeostasis. Sleep medicine reviews 10:49-62.
- Tripathi KD (2004) Cholinergic system and drugs; Essentials of Medical Pharmacology (5th ed.). India: Jaypee Brothers, Medical Publishers.
- Tsigos C, Chrousos GP (2002) Hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. Journal of Psychosomatic Research 53:865-871.
- Tsuchiyama Y, Uchimura N, Sakamoto T, Maeda H, Kotorii T (1995) Effects of hCRH on sleep and body temperature rhythms. Psychiatry and clinical neurosciences 49:299-304.
- Tucek S (1966) The synthesis of acetyl-coenzyme A and acetylcholine from citrate and acetate in the nerve endings of mammalian brain. Biochimica et biophysica acta 117:278-280.
- Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP (2009) Neural regulation of endocrine and autonomic stress responses. Nature reviews Neuroscience 10:397-409.
- Ungerstedt U, Pycock C (1974) Functional correlates of dopamine neurotransmission. Bulletin der Schweizerischen Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften 30:44-55.
- Vale W, Spiess J, Rivier C, Rivier J (1981) Characterization of a 41-residue ovine hypothalamic peptide that stimulates secretion of corticotropin and beta-endorphin. Science 213:1394-1397.
- Valentino RJ, Page ME, Luppi PH, Zhu Y, Van Bockstaele E, Aston-Jones G (1994) Evidence for widespread afferents to barrington's nucleus, a brainstem region rich in corticotropin-releasing hormone neurons. Neuroscience 62:125-143.
- Valentino RJ, Rudoy C, Saunders A, Liu XB, Van Bockstaele EJ (2001) Corticotropin-releasing factor is preferentially colocalized with excitatory rather than inhibitory amino acids in axon terminals in the peri-locus coeruleus region. Neuroscience 106:375-384.
- Valentino RJ, Van Bockstaele E (2008) Convergent regulation of locus coeruleus activity as an adaptive response to stress. European journal of pharmacology 583:194-203.
- Van Bockstaele EJ, Colago EE, Valentino RJ (1998) Amygdaloid corticotropinreleasing factor targets locus coeruleus dendrites: substrate for the coordination of emotional and cognitive limbs of the stress response. J Neuroendocrinol 10:743-757.
- van Gaalen MM, Stenzel-Poore MP, Holsboer F, Steckler T (2002) Effects of transgenic overproduction of CRH on anxiety-like behaviour. The European journal of neuroscience 15:2007-2015.

- Van Pett K, Viau V, Bittencourt JC, Chan RK, Li HY, Arias C, Prins GS, Perrin M, Vale W, Sawchenko PE (2000) Distribution of mRNAs encoding CRF receptors in brain and pituitary of rat and mouse. The Journal of comparative neurology 428:191-212.
- Vanni-Mercier G, Sakai K, Lin JS, Jouvet M (1989) Mapping of cholinoceptive brainstem structures responsible for the generation of paradoxical sleep in the cat. Archives italiennes de biologie 127:133-164.
- Vaughan J, Donaldson C, Bittencourt J, Perrin MH, Lewis K, Sutton S, Chan R, Turnbull AV, Lovejoy D, Rivier C, et al. (1995) Urocortin, a mammalian neuropeptide related to fish urotensin I and to corticotropin-releasing factor. Nature 378:287-292.
- Vazquez J, Baghdoyan HA (2001) Basal forebrain acetylcholine release during REM sleep is significantly greater than during waking. American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 280:R598-R601.
- Verret L, Leger L, Fort P, Luppi PH (2005) Cholinergic and noncholinergic brainstem neurons expressing Fos after paradoxical (REM) sleep deprivation and recovery. The European journal of neuroscience 21:2488-2504.
- Vertes RP, Kocsis B (1994) Projections of the dorsal raphe nucleus to the brainstem: PHA-L analysis in the rat. The Journal of comparative neurology 340:11-26.
- Vita N, Laurent P, Lefort S, Chalon P, Lelias JM, Kaghad M, Le Fur G, Caput D, Ferrara P (1993) Primary structure and functional expression of mouse pituitary and human brain corticotrophin releasing factor receptors. FEBS letters 335:1-5.
- Von Economo C (1926) Die Pathologie des Schlafes. In: Handbuch des Normalen und Pathologischen Physiologie (A. Von Bethe, G. V. B., G. Embden, & A. Ellinger, ed), pp 591-610 Berlin: Springer.
- Vyazovskiy VV, Achermann P, Borbély AA, Tobler I (2004) The dynamics of spindles and EEG slow-wave activity in NREM sleep in mice. Archives italiennes de biologie 142:511-523.
- Walker JM, Berger RJ (1980) Sleep as an adaptation for energy conservation functionally related to hibernation and shallow torpor. Progress in brain research 53:255-278.
- Warnock G, Prickaerts J, Steckler T (2006) Interactions between CRF and acetylcholine in the modulation of cognitive behaviour. In: Neurotransmitter Interactions and Cognitive Function, vol. 98 (Levin, E., ed), pp 41-63: Birkhäuser Basel.
- Watson CJ, Baghdoyan HA, Lydic R (2010) Neuropharmacology of Sleep and Wakefulness. Sleep medicine clinics 5:513-528.
- Watts AG, Tanimura S, Sanchez-Watts G (2004) Corticotropin-releasing hormone and arginine vasopressin gene transcription in the hypothalamic

paraventricular nucleus of unstressed rats: daily rhythms and their interactions with corticosterone. Endocrinology 145:529-540.

- Webster R (2001) Neurotransmitters, Drugs and Brain Function. (&, J. W. and Inc., S., eds), pp 117–136 New York.
- Weihe E, Tao-Cheng JH, Schafer MK, Erickson JD, Eiden LE (1996) Visualization of the vesicular acetylcholine transporter in cholinergic nerve terminals and its targeting to a specific population of small synaptic vesicles. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93:3547-3552.
- Weikel JC, Wichniak A, Ising M, Brunner H, Friess E, Held K, Mathias S, Schmid DA, Uhr M, Steiger A (2003) Ghrelin promotes slow-wave sleep in humans. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism 284:E407-415.
- Wess J (1996) Molecular biology of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. Critical reviews in neurobiology 10:69-99.
- Westerink BH (1995) Brain microdialysis and its application for the study of animal behaviour. Behavioural brain research 70:103-124.
- Wiersma A, Konsman JP, Knollema S, Bohus B, Koolhaas JM (1998) Differential effects of CRH infusion into the central nucleus of the amygdala in the Roman high-avoidance and low-avoidance rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23:261-274.
- Williams JA, Comisarow J, Day J, Fibiger HC, Reiner PB (1994) State-dependent release of acetylcholine in rat thalamus measured by in vivo microdialysis. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 14:5236-5242.
- Willner P (1991) Animal models as simulations of depression. Trends in pharmacological sciences 12:131-136.
- Woolf NJ (1991) Cholinergic systems in mammalian brain and spinal cord. Progress in neurobiology 37:475-524.
- Woolf NJ, Butcher LL (1982) Cholinergic projections to the basolateral amygdala: a combined Evans Blue and acetylcholinesterase analysis. Brain research bulletin 8:751-763.
- Woolf NJ, Butcher LL (2011) Cholinergic systems mediate action from movement to higher consciousness. Behavioural brain research 221:488-498.
- Woolf NJ, Eckenstein F, Butcher LL (1984) Cholinergic systems in the rat brain: I. projections to the limbic telencephalon. Brain research bulletin 13:751-784.
- Yamamoto K, Mamelak AN, Quattrochi JJ, Hobson JA (1990) A cholinoceptive desynchronized sleep induction zone in the anterodorsal pontine tegmentum: spontaneous and drug-induced neuronal activity. Neuroscience 39:295-304.
- Yan XX, Toth Z, Schultz L, Ribak CE, Baram TZ (1998) Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH)-containing neurons in the immature rat hippocampal

formation: light and electron microscopic features and colocalization with glutamate decarboxylase and parvalbumin. Hippocampus 8:231-243.

- Young AM (1993) Intracerebral microdialysis in the study of physiology and behaviour. Reviews in the neurosciences 4:373-395.
- Zaborszky L, Carlsen J, Brashear HR, Heimer L (1986) Cholinergic and GABAergic afferents to the olfactory bulb in the rat with special emphasis on the projection neurons in the nucleus of the horizontal limb of the diagonal band. The Journal of comparative neurology 243:488-509.
- Zeppelin H, Siegel JM, Tobler I (2005) Mammalian sleep. In: Principles and practice of sleep medicine (M.H., K. et al., eds), pp 91-100 Philadelphia: Saunders.
- Ziegenbein M, Held K, Kuenzel HE, Murck H, Antonijevic IA, Steiger A (2004) The somatostatin analogue octreotide impairs sleep and decreases EEG sigma power in young male subjects. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology 29:146-151.
- Zoli M, Le Novere N, Hill JA, Jr., Changeux JP (1995) Developmental regulation of nicotinic ACh receptor subunit mRNAs in the rat central and peripheral nervous systems. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 15:1912-1939.

13 Assertion / Erklärung

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation selbstständig und nur mit den angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmitteln angefertigt habe. Alle Ausführungen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß übernommen wurden, sind als solche gekennzeichnet.

Des Weiteren erkläre ich, dass ich nicht anderweitig ohne Erfolg versucht habe, eine Dissertation einzureichen oder mich der Doktorprüfung zu unterziehen. Die vorliegende Dissertation liegt weder ganz, noch in wesentlichen Teilen einer anderen Prüfungskommission vor.

München, den 30.Juli 2013